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| IFRS NGAAP

{continued operations) (including
_ discontinued operatlons)

2007 2006 2005 2004 2004 2003
Operating revenues NOK million 3,490 3,965 2,413 2,142 2,512 2,463
EBITDA NOK million 606 828 310 336 339 415
Profit before other iterns NOK million 445 655 133 199 173 242
Ordinary profit before taxes NOK million 442 656 148 273 197 285
Net profit NOK million 292 440 22 195 161 163
Total assets NOK miliion 2,952 3,310 2,994 3,257 3.261 3,387
Equity NOK million 1,624 1,972 2,166 2,564 2,270 2,594
Return on equity, ex. other items % 16.2 21.3 0.9 6.4 4.7 6.7
Return on total assets, ex. other items % 152 21.0 49 71 6.3 9.6
Earnings per share NGK 1.76 2.48 0.05 0.92 0.82 0.81
Earnings per share fully diluted NOK 1.76 2.48 0.05 0.92 0.82 0.81
Net cash flow from operating activities NOK million 526 344 230 408 381 217
Number of employees as of 31 December 2,040 2,022 1,906 1,824 1,972 1976
Female employees % 20 18 19 17 17 20
Female managers (of all managers) % 19 17 17 186 16 18
Ethnic minority employees % 32 35 34 33 33 21
Number of reportable injuries 167 116 153 178 178 253
Carbon dioxide emissions Metric tons 28,500 26,000 21,000 22,000 30,500 27,300

Waste generation Metric tons 1,745 1,585 1,580 1,460 1,470 1,650




We have movec from a
company focused primarily
on reverse vending activities
to one that can provide &
variety of advanced solutions

for recovering and recyclingg i

.

materials, within both deposi -.

and non-deposit mar_,'t

infgastruciurgs.

Deposit-relatéd business Non-deposit business |

{
TOMRA'S Busfm-:ss EVOLUTION 2003-201 \ ‘ ’ M
The pie charts above iliustrate TOMRA's ongoing evolution from a . i
supplier of reverse vending solutions to a provider of recycling solu- '
tiens. In 2003 100% of TOMRA's revenues were derived from its deposi;t
activities. Now, 20% of the company's revenues come from nen-deposit
activities. At the same tirme, overall revenues have increased from 2003
to 2007 by mare than 50%. We expect overall revenues to increase
hy more than 50% again within 2011, and for the revenue distribution |
hetween our deposit and non-deposit activities at that time to be 65/31?.

o
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On track

TOMRA achieved good results in all business segments in 2007, generating 20% growth

overall both in revenues and profit (adjusted for extraordinary sales to Germany in 2006).

Most importantly, we confirmed that the business is going in the right direction in all

segments, and is on course to achieving our long-term financial targets.

Over the next four years we have set a goal of
increasing our overall revenues by 50%. This can
be achieved essentially by: maintaining our leading
position as a supplier of reverse vending technol-
ogy and related services; continuing to implement
further operational efficiencies within the Materials
Handling segment; maintaining the growth curve
within the Industrial Processing Technology seg-
ment; and, transitioning our Collection Technology
Non-Deposit Solutions segment from its status as
an incubator for new business, to that of a solid
profit-driving operational entity. With the successes
we achieved in each of our business segments in
2007, | have every reason to believe these goals

will be accomplished. .

.

Following its extraordinary results in 2006, the
Collection Technology Deposit Solutions segment
again turned in a good year. The Nordic region in
particular delivered a strong performance, execut-
ing very well on the sales opportunities arising
from the implementation of deposit on non-refill-
able plastic beverage containers in Finland.

Revenue growth was also achieved in North
America, with the Materials Handling business
noting its best year ever. The development and
introduction of new Orwak compaction solutions
for our rePlanet recycling centers in California was
another major initiative, which will help to reduce
operational costs and CO, emissions through more
efficient material transport.

Within the Industrial Processing Technology seg-
ment, TiTech once again achieved an all-time high
in revenues. TiTech, along with Commodas, Crwak
and Presona, now represent TOMRA's fastest
growing business segment, which has gone from

revenues of less than NOK 100 million in 2004 to
almost NOK 650 million in 2007. | have no doubt
that this growth rate will continue, and may be

further enhanced through potential acquisitions.

Significant progress was also made in 2007 within
the Collection Technology Non-Depesit Solutions
segment. A new pilot for automated recycling
centers was signed with Waste Management Inc.,
North America's leading provider of waste and
environmental services. Qur operations in Japan
are also progressing well, and the business
partnership with Sumitomo works well. We believe
this business segment is now in a good position
to break even by the end of 2009, and thereafter
deliver profits and continued growth.

Today TOMRA is a substantially different company
than it was just a few years ago. We have moved
from a company focused primarily on reverse
vending activities to one that can provide a variety
of advanced solutions for recovering and recycling
materials, within both deposit and nen-deposit
market infrastructures. In recognition of these
changes we developed and implemented a new
corporate logo and visual identity in 2007 which
we feel successfully expresses the breadth of
TOMRA's business now and into the future.

This is an exciting time for TOMRA. Positive
momentum is building, the call for new recycling
solutions is getting louder, and we have a very
solid foundation on which to reach our ambitions
for the future. We are on track, and look forward to
bringing the business further ahead in 2008.

Amund Skarholt
President & CEO
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Hakan Erngren

Vice President,

Tomra Nordic

Joined TOMRA in 2001 and member
of Group Management since 2005,
External board affiliaticns: nene,
Number of TOMRA shares/

options held: none.

Greq Knoll

President and Chief Executive
Officer, Tomra Morth America
Joined TOMRA iIn and member

of Group Management since 2002,
B.S. Marketing, Pennsylvania

State University.

External board affiliations:
Advisory Board, Rock Ethics Inst.,
Penn: State University, Board
Member, New Taste Dimensions, inc,
Number of TOMRA shares/
options heid: none.

Heiner Bevers

Managing Director,

Tomra Germany

Joined TOMRA in 2001 and
member of Group Management
since 2005. MBA, Westfalische
Wilhelms-Universitat, Minster,
External board affiliations; none,
Number of TOMRA shares/
options held: 2,000/none.

Amund Skarholt

President and Chief Executive
Cfficer, Tomra Systems ASA
Joined TOMRA in and member

of Group Management since 2005,
External board affiliations:

Vice Chairman of the Board,
TANDBERG asa.

Number of TOMRA shares/
options held: 30,000/ncne.

Rune Marthinussen

Managing Director,

TiTech Visionsart AS

Joined TOMRA in and member

of Group Management since 2001
MBA, Norwegian School of
Management, Oslo; M.Sc., Norwegian
University of Science and Technology,
Trondheim / Von Karman Institute for
Fluid Dynamics, Brussels.

External board affiliations: none.
Numper of TOMRA shares/

options held: 10,000/none.

Trond Johannessen
Senior Vice President, Tomra
Systems ASA

Joined TOMRA in 2002 and
member of Group Management
since 2005. M. 5¢. Nerwegian
School of Economics and Business
Administration, Norway; and
Northwestern University, USA.
External board affiliations: none,
Number of TOMRA shares/
opticng r:.eld: 15,000/none,

Espen Gundersen

Chief Financial Officer,

Temra Systems ASA

Joined TOMRA in 1999 and
member of Group Managemer
since 2001. MBA, Norwegian
5choal of Management, Oslo;
CPA, Norwegian School of
Economics and Business
Administration, Bergen.
External board affiliations: non
Number of TOMRA shares/
options held; 10,000/none.

Ton Klumper

Vice President, Tomra Westerr
and Eastern Europe

Joined TOMRA in 1985 and
has been a member of Group
Managements since July 2007
External board affiliations: nor
Number of TOMRA shares/
options held: none.




Harald Henriksen

Senior Vice President Technology,
Tamra Systems ASA

Joined TOMRA in and a member

of Group Management since 2004,

B.S¢. Electronics, University of
Salford, Manchester.

External hoard affiliations: none.
Number of TOMRA shares/
options held: none/30,000.

Fredrik Witte

Chief Financial Officer,

Tomra North America

Joined TOMRA in 2001 and
member of Group Management
since 2005. B.S. Economics,
Wharton Scheol of Finance &
Commerce.

External board affiliations: none,
Number of TOMRA shares/
optiens held: 1100/nane.

TOMRA SYSTEMS ASA

This is the parent company for all the subsidiaries within the Tomra Group. Personnel
includes the CEQ and administrative support staff, and approximately 100 technical
specialists and managers within the Technology Department. Tomra Systems ASA
and its subsidiary Tomra Production AS {TOMRA's primary preduction facility in Lier,
Norway for its reverse vending machines) together have about 230 employees.

COLLECTION TECHNOLOGY, DEPOSIT SOLUTIONS

North America: All of TOMRA's activities in the USA and Canada are organized under
Tomra North America Inc. based in Shelton, Connecticut. Principal markets in the US
include California, Connecticut, Delaware, Hawaii, lowa, Maine, Massachusetts, Michigan,
New York and Vermont; in Canada: British Columbia and Quebec. Total employees: app.
1,150,

Germany: Due to the size of our operations in this country, the German market I8 orga-
nized as a separate business unit within the Group administrated by Tomra Systems
GmbH. The company is based in Hilden, Germany and includes approximately 220
employees.

Nordic Region: This unit consists of the sales and service subsidiaries operating in
Norway (Tomra Butikksystemer AS), Sweden (Tomra Systems A/B),"Finiand (OY Tomra
AB), Denmark (Tomra System A/S) and the Baltics (Tomra Baltic OU). Total employees:
app. 100.

Western Europe: Includes subsidiaries in The Netherlands (Tomra Systems BM.),
Belgium {Tomra Systems NV.} and france (Tomra Systems S.A.). Also has administrative
responsibifity for distributors within certain developing markets in Europe. Total employ-
ees: app. 6.

Eastern Europe: Includes subsidiaries in Austria (Tomra Leergutsysteme GmbH) and

Poland (Tomra Orwak Polska $p.z.0.6.). Also has administrative responsibility for distribu-
tors within certain devetoping markets in Europe. Total employees: app. 20.

COLLECTION TECHNOLOGY, NON-DEPOSIT SOLUTIONS

Tomra Japan: TOMRA's subsidiary in Japan is based in Tokyo and has a partnership with
the Sumitomo Corporation, one of Japan's largest conglomerates. Total employees: 6.

Tomra UK: Established in 2006, Tomra UK is responsible fer the installation and opera-

tion of TOMRA's automated outdoor recycling centers placed at Tesco Supermarkets in
the UK. Total employees: 4.

MATERIALS HANDLING

TOMRA's Materials Handling activities are tocated in various easterns states, Quebec and
California, and report to the North American headquarters in Connecticut. The number
of employees working within this segment are included in the total above for North
America.

INDUSTRIAL PROCESSING TECHNOLOGY

TiTech/Commodas: Headguartered in Norway, these companies have sales activities in
over 20 countries and R&D functions in Norway and Germany. Total employees: app. 110.

Orwak/Presona: Headquarted in Sweden, these companies are represented in over
40 countries wortdwide. Total employees: app. 160,




The enormous challenges related to managing our waste

The enormous amounts of waste generated by the world's more economically

developed populations poses major challenges for society. More and more people

are consuming more and more products and services every year as the global

standard of living increases.

The situation in the EU is an example which shows
our inability to fuifill the goals that have been set
relative to waste management. The EU has set a
target that each inhabitant should not generate
more than 300 kilograms of waste on average

per year. The reality however is that the average

in the EU today is more than 500 kilograms per
inhabitant per year. And despite an increased focus
on efforts to reuse and recycle in recent years,

the majority of waste is unfortunately still being
dumped at landfills. A number of research studies
in Europe and the USA show in fact that more than
60 percent of normal household waste is being
taken to landfills.

Toward mare efficient

technology-based recycling systems

A key prerequisite for addressing the challenges
related to waste management is choosing the right

mechanisms for efficient collection and recycling.
Many different approaches have been tried during
the past 20 years with varying degrees of success.
Most recycling systems have either been too costly
to operate or have had insufficient participation
on the part of consumers to have any significant
effect.

Fortunately there are recycling systems in
operation today that can address these issues.
These systems have in common the fact that they
fulfill the three basic criteria of every efficient
recycling system:

> Participation: High recycling rates can only
be achieved if consumers and organizations
are given sufficient incentive to participate in
the system. A financial incentive, for example
deposit, has proven to be very effective. But
there are also other types of incentives that
can also be effective, such as product or service
discount coupons, totteries, point systems, etc.

> Sorting: Used materials have at the outset
an inherent value. To maximize this value,
they need to be reliably sorted according to
their specific material fraction, Pure sorted
aluminum for example has a much higher
value than a mixture of aluminum and steel. In
addition, even a small amount of an unwanted
material in a particular fraction can ruin
its ability to be recycled or used in energy
recovery applications.




> Volume reduction: Reducing the velume of
collected materials is also critical to lowering
the costs associated with storage and transport.
And here it is important to emphasize that
efficient volume reduction can only occur after
materials have been sorted into their separate
fractions. Compacting unsorted materials
makes it almost impossible to sort the materials
afterwards, thereby diminishing their value.

There are different ways to fulfill these three

basic criteria, and indeed, there are many differ-
ent kinds of systems in operation. Nevertheless,
the most efficient systems have in common the
fact that they utilize technology to solve the chal-
lenges retated to sorting and volume reduction.
Technology makes it possible to completely
automate processes that previously were in large
part achieved manually. With increasing labor costs
and stricter requirements relative to work environ-
ments and conditions, the implementation of auto-
mated solutions offers an effective way to address
these issues. Moreover, certain tasks can only be
effectively solved by using technology, for example
accurately sorting different plastic compositions
which to the human eye appear the same.

TOMRA as a leading supplier
of recycling technology

As of today there is no other company in the world
that is as well-positioned as TOMRA when it comes
to being able to provide technology for efficient
recycling. While TOMRA previously only focused on
providing solutions for collecting used deposit
beverage containers, the company can today

offer a wide spectrum of different technological
solutions for efficiently recycling a large variety

of materials within diverse system frameworks.
TOMRA is today a leading provider both in respect
to automated collection solutions and so-called
“back-end” sorting and compaction technology for
mixed material streams.

A key prerequisite

for addressing the challenges
related to waste management
s choosing the right
mechanisms for efficient

collection and recycling.




OVERALL STRATEGY

MISSION

Helping the
world recycle
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VISION

A leading global
provider of
advanced solutions
enabling recovery
and recycling

of materials

MARKETS

All markets with
developed or
emerging recycling
value chains

SOLUTIONS

TECHNOLOGY

» Recognition

¥ Sorting

» Volume reduction

SOLUTIONS

¥ Field support
*» Logistics

% Processing




TOMRA's strategy and financial goals

TOMRA's vision is to be a leading global provider of advanced technology

enabling recovery and recycling of materials. In order to realize this vision

the company has positioned itself as a supplier of material recognition,

sorting and compaction technology.

The strategy is relatively simple: TOMRA is going
to sell products based on these technologies and
associated services in all markets with a developed
or relatively developed value chain for recycling. In
connection with recycling infrastructures based on
its technolegy, TOMRA may also engage in
material handling and processing activities where
this is deemed to be strateqic in establishing the
use of its technology.

As a pioneer within the area of recycling tech-
nology, TOMRA has for many years been a large
player in a small industry. This is in the process
of changing-TOMRA is on the way to becoming a
market leader in a large industry. The company's
business model must therefore be adapted to new
challenges. TOMRA previously had few competi-
tors, delivered tailor-made solutions and was a
technology-driven company. In the future TOMRA
will most likely have many and guite different
competitors. The solutions that are offered must
be market-criented and in addition well-suited for
large-scale industrial production.

TOMRA has a good foundation for being able to
meet these new challenges. During recent years
new products have been added to the portfolio,

Revenue growth;

Grass margin:

Increase in operating costs:

Increase in operating profit:

Return on capital employed*

a new organizational structure has been imple-
mented, new people have been recruited for key
management positions, and production flexibility
and efficiency have increased. TOMRA also has all
the most important technological building blocks
that are needed to offer our customers good solu-
tions. Additionally the company has the necessary
financial resources for ensuring that lack of capital
will not be a reason for attaining further growth.

TOMRA's goal in a financial perspective is to
achieve "profitable growth.” The easiest way to
achieve this is to increase revenues, increase the
gross margin and reduce costs. TOMRA established
therefore in 2005 a goal of increasing its operat-
ing profit by 15 to 25% annually, given stable cur-
rency rates. This would be achieved by increasing
revenues by at least 10% annually, holding a stable
gross margin, and keeping operating costs under
control. Sales in Germany related to the implemen-
tation of its national deposit system for non-refill-
able containers in 2006 have been heid outside

of this eguation, applying the goals instead on the
underlying base business of the organization.

The targets for 2006 and 2007 have been attained,
and the goals forward to 2010 remain unchanged.

FINANCIAL GOALS (annual averages for the period exclusive machine sales in Germany)

2005 - 2007 2008-2010
15-20% > 10%
stable stable

0-8% 4-6%
20-50% 15-25%
22-33% > 20%

*Qperating profit/(Total assets - cash - non interest-bearing debt)

N




» Operation of collection centers for beverage > Pick-up and transportation of used beverage
containers in California containers in North America
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> Sale and service of automated collection solutions
for used beverage containers and/or packaging
waste

12




> Sorting and compaction of used beverage
containers in North America

Oy
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SORTING & PROCESSING » RECYCLING »

The process of ensuring that materials are The process of transforming
separated according to specific fractions materials into a form that can
and compacted for efficient transport be used to produce new product

Industrial Processing Technology {since 2004[18%)

> Sale of optical recognition & sorting solutions and
mechanical compaction equipment for processing
of household or industrial waste




TOMRA has installed more
than 60,000 systems for
nhandling the return of
deposit containers around

the world.




Collection Technology, Deposit Solutions

TOMRA's reverse vending technology provides an efficient and

convenient system for collecting and handling deposit beverage

containers in retail stores.

Over the years, deposit on beverage containers
in combination with a return to retail scheme has
been implemented either by law or through
independent industry initiatives as a way to
encourage high container return rates. Numerous
countries in Europe, as well as regions in the
United States, Canada, Australia and elsewhere,
currently have deposit systems in operation.

The incentive of the deposit, i.e. a fee that is paid
by the consumer at the time of purchase and
redeemed when the empty container is returned,
has proven to be very effective in achieving high
return rates. The consequent high number of
containers and deposit transactions create the
need for an efficient handling system, and it is
this need that forms the foundation for TOMRA's
reverse vending machine business.

Today, TOMRA has more than 60,000 reverse
vending systems installed in retail stores in over 40
countries worldwide. Approximately 45,000 of these
have been installed in European countries, 14,000 in
North America and 1,000 in South America.

Amounts in NO&S_rnimon

COLLECTION TECHNOLOGY,

DEPOSIT SOLUTIONS 2007 2006
Revenues 174 2429
Nerdic 611 422
Central Europe & UK 792 1616
US East/Canada 326 391
Rest of world 2 -
Gross contribution 754 981
Gross margin 44% 40%
QOperating profit 345 564
Operating margin 20% 23%

BUSINESS AREA SUMMARY FOR 2007

Overall

> Improved gross margin, up from 40% in 2006
to 44%

» Solid financial performance with 20%
EBIT margin

» Stable competitive environment

Nordic region

» Received app. 80% of machine orders for
new Finnish PET deposit system

» 50% revenue increase in Denmark

> New deposit lottery system in Norway - received
orders to implement system on 800 machines

Germany

> 70% of new installations in 2006 now signed
up for service contracts

» 2,400 new installations in 2007, bringing total
up to 17,000

North America

» New product T-63 HCp launched to replace
TX2 platform

> Continuing low dollar valuation, negative
currency effect of 9% for the year.




Materials Handling is all
about getting materials
from collection points,
processed, and sold to
recyclers as efficientiy

as possible,
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Materials Handling

TOMRA's collection and materials handling activities are

complementary to its reverse vending business in North America.

A well-functioning deposit system requires more
than just automating the collection of used
beverage containers in retail stores. When empty
containers have been returned to the retail stores
they have to be picked up and transported back to
the bottlers for reuse (refillable containers) or to
plants where they are processed and prepared for
recycling (non-refillable containers).

In the eastern US and in Quebec, the costs
associated with material handling are paid for

by those who own the packaging, i.e. beverage
producers or retailers. They pay a fee to the
materials handling operator, for example TOMRA,
that is linked to the number of containers picked-
up, processed and sold. TOMRA's revenues and
margins therefore experience seasonal swings in
line with varying consumption patterns during
the year.

In California, TOMRA also operates its own
transportation infrastructure and processing

Amounts in NOK million

MATERIALS HANDLING 2007 2006
Revenues - 1064 1021 ’
US tast/Canada 463 500
US West (California) BN 521
Gross contribution 220 221
Gross margin 21% 22%
Operating profit 105 1
Operating margin 10% 10%

plants. However, in accordance with the California
deposit law, the collection center operators such
as TOMRA become the owners of the returned
containers and therefore have a certain exposure
towards the markets for used aluminum and PET.

BUSINESS AREA SUMMARY FOR 2007

US East/Canada

> Revenues of 79 million USD, up 1%

» Higher proportion of lower value materials had
a slight negative impact on the gross margin

US West (California)

> Redemption rate increased by 10% due to
increase in deposit value

> Current aluminum prices trending app. 4%
below 2006, PET prices up 20%

» TOMRA volumes up 12%

» Installation of Orwak compactors for PET and
aluminum containers began, gains in operational
efficiency expected in 2008.




TOMRA Is now playing a

significant role in applying
sorting and compaction
technology toward

a larger specirum of

materials than used

beverage containers.




Industrial Processing Technology

This business segment provides automated solutions for efficiently

identifying, sorting and compacting materials within industrial and other

commercial settings (e.q. waste processing facilities, factories, etc.).

Based on the acquisitions of TiTech Visionsort in
2004, Orwak Group AB in 2005, and CommoDa$
GmbH in 2006, TOMRA is now playing a significant
role in non-deposit recycling infrastructures and
applying its technology and expertise toward a
larger spectrum of materials than used beverage
containers.

TiTech's optical sorting solutions enable farge
material recovery facilities to sort a greater
amount of volume of materials such as plastics
and paper at a lower cost and with higher precision
than with traditional labor-intensive solutions.
With the acquisition of Commodas, TiTech expand-
ed its array of material recognition technelogies
and ability to provide sorting solutions for metals,
glass, electronic waste, and other valuable materi-
als. Tegether the companies have installed 1,700
systems in 35 countries.

Going forward, the companies have made the
strategic decision that TiTech will focus its preducts
toward the recycling industry, whereas Commodas
will focus on providing sorting solutions to the
mining industry {minerals and gemstones).

Amounts in NOK millicn

INDUSTRIAL PROCESSING,

TECHNOLOGY 2007 2006
Revenues 647 504
Nordic 78 65
Central Europe & UK 300 262
Rest of Europe 107 B7
US/Canada 34 31
US West 24 -
Rest of world 104 59
Gross contribution 321 240
Gross margin 50% 48%
Operating profit 101 79

Operating margin 16% 16%

The Orwak Group, consisting of Orwak AB and
Presona AB, develops, manufactures and sells
compactor solutions to various industries,
Compaction allows for reduced storage needs

for empty packaging and significantly reduced
transportation costs. Orwak has a large product
portfolio that satisfies waste compaction needs
within many market segments, such as food and
non-food retail, hotels and restaurants, offices,
industry and healthcare. Presona’s solutions are
directed primarily to industrial customers, such as
large baling systems for waste processing facilities.
The group has over 50,000 units installed
worldwide.

BUSINESS AREA SUMMARY FOR 2007

Recognition & sorting (TiTech, Commodas}

> Represents 60% of IPT revenue

» TiTech achieved over 40% growth in revenues

» Commodas surpassed NOK 100 million in annual
revenue

Compaction & baling (Orwak, Presona)

» Orwak achieved 9% organic growth

> Presona still underperforming, ended the year
with EBIT loss

> Both companies have improved their order books
compared to year-end 2006




introduction of automated

TOMRA is pioneering the _
sorting solutions for yd
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collecting non-deposit -
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Collection Technology, Non-Deposit Solutions

This business segment is focused on applying TOMRA's collection technology

expertise to recycling infrastructures that are not based on deposit systems.

The majority of the world's collection and recycling
infrastructures are directed toward materials that do
not have deposit values attached to them. Typically,
manual solutions such as bottle banks/igloos and
curbside pick-up systems are utilized to collect these
materials. The inefficiencies created by these sys-
tems include the mixing of different materials
(requiring extensive sorting prior to recycling), and
high costs created by pick-up and transportation

of non-compacted material. TOMRA has therefore
invested significant R&D resources in recent years
toward creating new platforms for collecting non-
deposit materials from consumers that incorporate
material recognition and compaction technology.

The first of these platforms is the Automated
Recycling Center (ARC), a system offering very
high collection capacity for a wide range of house-
hold and consumer product packaging made of
plastic, glass or metal. The first contract for this
product was signed with Tesco in June 2006 for
the delivery of 100 ARCs in the UK. Approximately
a third of these have so far been installed, and
installation wilt continue throughout 2008. In
2007 a new contract was signed with Waste
Management inc. in the United States, calling for
the delivery of 15 ARCs in 2008. These will be used
as part of a pilot program by the company that is
planned to run until the middle of 2009.

;_A_mountt:. in_rllo_r_(-million
COLLECTION TECHNQLOGY,

NON-DEPOSIT SOLUTIONS 2007 2006
Revenues 48 11

Central Europe & UK 3s 7
Rest of world 10 4
Gross contribution (13) {9}
Gross margin - -

Operating profit {90) {73}

Operating margin -

Operations currently established within this
segment are in the UK, Japan, Greece and Mexico.
Pilot programs in the US, Bulgaria, and italy will
get underway in 2008, and TOMRA has a strong
pipeline of projects that can potentially lead to
further pilots in other countries.

BUSINESS AREA SUMMARY FOR 2007

Overall

> Substantial revenue increase achieved,
break-even point projected in 2009

» Goal set of achieving NOK 1 billion in annual
revenues within 5 years

UK

> Tesco has committed to a total of 106 ARC
installations

> Other potential solutions also under discussion
for all Tesco stores

» Increasing interest in ARC concept among other
potential customers

Japan

> Achieved average return volume of 1,000 bottles
per day per reverse vending machine

> Partnership agreement with Sumitomo extended
until 1 April 2008, joint venture discussions
ongoing

Other markets

» 50 installations ordered/delivered to date
to Greece

» Entry into North America with Waste
Management Inc. contract

> Order for 40 Automated Recycling Kiosks
from Bulgaria

» Order for 10 Automated Recycling Kiosks
from Italy




Helping the world recycle

Our solutions are used to sort out valuable and resource-intensive materials

from waste streams. In doing so, we play a significant role in helping the world

recycle valuable resources, promoting a cleaner and more sustainable world.

RECYCLING - A REAL CONTRIBUTION TO
REDUCTION OF CLIMATE CHANGE EMISSIONS
While the popular focus for reduction of climate
change emissions has been the use of fossil fuels
in the transportation and energy sectors, it is clear
that closing the loop on resource-intensive
products such as plastics, aluminum and other
packaging material helps to avoid the emission of
millions of tons of carbon dioxide every year.

In fact, recycling one metric ton of aluminum
cans saves more than nine metric tons of carbon
dioxide emissions, eguivalent to driving 45,000
kilometers in an ordinary car with emissions of
200 grams carbon dioxide per kilometer.

The equivalent saving frem recycling one metric
ton of PET plastic bottles is 1.7 metric tons of
carbon dioxide, equivalent to driving almost
9,000 kilometers in the same car.

Collection and recycling of used packaging is
not necessarily profitable when undertaken in
traditional ways and many traditional collection
and recycling systems, aimed at achieving
politically determined recycling targets, are
therefore organized in a suboptimal way and
operated at a financial loss.

Enabling efficient and cost-effective collection
and recycling methodologies for used packaging
is therefore an important element in the race
against climate change, and TOMRA has taken
the lead, investing about NOK 200 million
annually in research and development.

CLIMATE AND RESOURCE CONSERVATION
The volume of used material diverted from
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unproductive to productive use through solutions
provided and/or operated by TOMRA continues to
increase,

Collection Technology Deposit Solutions
Reverse vending machines provided by TOMRA,
and owned by customers, collected around 30
billion beverage containers in 2007, The volume
potential within this segment is closely linked to
introduction and amendment of deposit-refund
legislation.

Carbon dioxide avoidance in this segment is related
to a reduced need for extracting and processing
natural resources and the reduced need for waste
treatment and storage facilities. The material
replacement effect alone helps to avoid around
two million metric tons of carbon dioxide emissions
annually.

Collection Technology Non-Deposit Solutions
Automated Recycling Centers provided by TOMRA
for the markets in Japan, UK and Greece collected
around 100 million beverage containers and other
household product packaging during 2007. The
volume collected in the non-deposit markets is
increasing rapidly as new and optimized eguipment
and recycling business models are introduced in
more markets. Carbon dioxide emission reductions
in this segment are estimated at 7,500 metric tons
in 2007.

Materials Handling

TOMRA's materials handling facilities in the United
States and Canada received and processed around
370,000 metric tons of used packaging material
for recycling in 2007, up from 295,000 metric tons




For more than a decade TOMRA has been at the foreiront in
- impiementing comprehensive managerial systems and programs for
outlining and achieving environmental and social responsibility objectives.
- To p!acé\_an even greater emphasis on this important work, TOMRA has
“pow established a separate Corporate Responsibility Commitlee on its
Roard of Directors, whose task will be to further develop the company's
corporate responsibility objectives and reporting procecures.

in 2006. Most of the volume comes from TOMRA's use, is estimated at more than five million metric
Collection Technalogy Deposit Solutions operations tons for 2007.
in the United States and Canada.

> Volume reduction segment

Carbon dioxide emission avoidance in this segment Volume reduction of sorted recyclable and general |
relates to volume reduction of the collected waste prior to transportation reduces the need for
material prior to transportation from materials transport movements and, therefore, the use of
handling facilities to material recyclers, and the fossil fuels. It is estimated that equipment
effects of replacing virgin material with secondary manufactured by the Orwak Group in use today
material. The latter effect is estimated at one can compact around 85 million metric tons of
million metric tons of carbon dioxide annually, material daily, saving more than 45,000 transport
some of which will already have been included in movements and 700,000 liters of fuel each day.
the Collection Technology segments. The carbon dicxide emission saving from this
avoided fuel use is potentially worth 600,000
Industrial Technology metric tons of carbon dioxide annually.
> Optical sorting segment
Optical sorting technology is applied in material The total avoided emission of carbon dioxide
recovery facilities and enables the identification resulting directly and indirectly from TOMRA's !
and removal of recyclable material from the more operations and solutions amounted to almost
general waste stream, thereby ensuring that used nine million metric tons during 2007. This is
material can be recycled, reducing the need for a significant number and equals, for example,
waste processing and storage facilities. around 10% of the total annual emission of

TOMRA's homeland, Norway.
The material throughput capacity of TiTech and

Commodas equipment was around 15 million So, what does this mean? TOMRA is certainly not
metric tons at the end of 2007. During 2007, 3.9 claiming the full credit for this emission avoidance,
million metric tons of recyclables was sorted out it is merely used to illustrate the power of recy-
for material recycling, and almost 900,000 metric cling activities when it comes to fighting global
tons of material was sorted into refuse-derived warming. While it is reasonable to say that TOMRA
fuel {RDF), which is used as a replacement for has contributed directly and indirectly towards
traditional fossil fuels in industrial processes. these fantastic numbers, it is actually TOMRA's
technology customers and partners and, not least,
The carbon dioxide emission avoidance, relating to the general public that participate in attractive

the volume of material brought back into productive recycling activities who should be credited.




OUR ENVIRONMENTAL FOOTPRINT

While the positive environmental impact resulting
from TOMRA's operations and the use of its
solutions is significant, TOMRA is also focused on
minimizing the environmental costs generated
from its internal processes. This year the reporting
scope has been expanded and adjusted compared
{o previous years,

Energy usage

TOMRA's energy usage is related to the operation
of the vehicle fleet, use of other forms of trans-
portation, eperation of buildings and machinery
and, from this year, we also include the estimated
energy consumption of TOMRA's products during
their use phase, though limited in this report to the
reverse vending machines used in the Collection
Technology segments. in future years, the energy
usage of other product groups may alsc be
included in order to more accurately illustrate the
net environmental contribution of the TOMRA
Group by taking into account the environmental
costs as well as the savings.

Energy consumption is from 2007 presented as
Barrels of cil equivalents in order to make the energy
consumption measurement easier to understand.

> Vehicle fleet

The reporting format for vehicle fuel usage

has been modified and now includes usage of
employee-owned vehicles for business purposes.
Reporting of fuel usage for company vehicles has
also been altered and is now based solely on actual
fuel consumption instead of mileage driven.

> Air transport

Air transportation for TOMRA's group functions in
Norway and the operations in the US are included
in the report.

> Fuel generated enerqgy
Energy generated from fossil fuel based sources at

TOMRA facilities are included.

> Grid electricity
Energy purchased from energy utilities is included.
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A small number of TOMRA locations have utility
costs included in the total property rental cost,
and these have not been included in the report.
Emission factors for grid electricity have been
simplified into groups -- Norway, EU25, North
America, Other, Certified renewable (0-emission)
-- based on the GHG Indicator framework.

> Energy consumption related to

the use of TOMRA products
It has been estimated that 50 percent of the
installed base of around 60,000 RVMs include
compactors. The estimated annual energy
consumption of RVMs with compactors is
2,000 kWhs, based on an average of 720,000
packaging units coliected per unit. The estimated
consumption for non-compacting RVMs is
1,000 kWhs per annum.

Waste generation

Waste is generated in TOMRA's offices, factories,
materials handling facilities and in the sales and
service operations worldwide, most of which is
sorted locally for recycling. The increase in the
waste generation from 2006 to 2007 is estimated
to be in line with increased activity levels across
the organization.

Water usage

Water usage has been included by TOMRA since
the initial environmental report in 1998. However,
with the divestment of the aluminum reclamation
plant in Brazil in 2004, water usage is now seen as
insignificant from an industrial point of view and
the reporting of water usage has therefore been
discontinued.

Material input and product recycling

TOMRA has traditionally not reported the material
input into manufacturing processes for reverse
vending machines or other products groups, or the
resource usage generated inside the operations of
supplier organizations.

TOMRA will evaluate the feasibility and relevance
of initiating such reporting, which would be hased
on estimated rather than actual data.




The rate of TOMRA product take-back and
recycling as defined by the EU WEEE directive
{on a per unit rather than weight basis) in 2007
was 70% overall. Broken down by region, the
product take-back rate was about 100% in the
Nordic region, 75% in remaining parts of the EU.
In the US most products are refurbished or
otherwise re-used after their initial lease period.

ECO-INTENSITY AND IMPROVEMENT TARGETS
Traditionally, TOMRA has reported its performance
across its environmental footprint in the form of
eco-intensity measured against an improvement
target. In the annual report for 2006, the five year
improvement program running from 2001-2006
was concluded, and summed up as a moderate
success, although we recognize that the targets
established in the year 2000 could have been
more ambitious.

A new improvement program will be presented
in the 2008 annual report. TOMRA's Board of
Directors has formally established a Corporate
Responsibility Committee that will guide the
development of the new improvement program,

DEVELCPING MORE EFFICIENT
TECHNOLOGY, SOLUTIONS AND
RECYCLING METHODOLOGIES

TOMRA's business revolves around making
recycling more efficient and attractive and in
2007 an innovative project in California clearly
took the lead in illustrating the efficiencies that
can be gained by innovative use of technology.

Cooperation between two TOMRA group
organizations, TOMRA Pacific and Orwak USA,
resulted in the introduction of new compaction
technology at TOMRA’s rePlanet collection

centers in California, cutting the number of
transport movements from more than 6,000 to less
than 2,000 per annum and reducing carbon dioxide
emissions by almost 1,000 metric tons per year.

Considering that the total transportation-derived
carbon dioxide emission of the TOMRA group is
around 23,000 metric tons per year, this is clearly

TOMRA INVESTOR RELATIONS CONTACT :

Espen Gundersen @

Chief Financial Officer

Telephone: +47 6679 92 41

Fax: +47 66 79 92 50

E-mail; espen.gundersen@tomra.no

a significant step in the right direction.

Further information about this innovative project
can be found in TOMRA's news magazine RETURN,
issue 02/2007.

ECONOMIC VALUE CREATION

TOMRA is not only a provider of recycling
solutions, but also of employment opportunities
and salaries for employees, tax contributions to
governments and dividends to shareholders. Like
most business organizations, TOMRA has a wide-
spread economic effect on society.

TOMRA reports its economic contribution in terms
of value distribution. In this term we include the
value added generated in the reporting year as
well as any extraordinary distribution of value
previously generated such as extraordinary
dividends and share buyback programs.

Value added within TOMRA's operations in 2007
amounted to NOK 1,372 million, down from NOK
1,524 million in 2006, while the value distributed
(including share buyback) amounted to NOK 1,563
million, down from NOK 1,572 million in 2006.

VALUE DISTRIBUTED 2007
(Value added, dividend and share buy back)

Financial expenses 1.4% Minority interest 0.8%

{] Share buy back 25.7% Salaries 58% [J

[ Dividend 4.5%

{J Taxes 9.7%

In 2007, sataries accounted for 58% {(NOK 907 million) of value
distributed, while TOMRA's share buyback program and dividend
to shareholders combined to account for 30% (NOK 471 million).
Taxes to governments represented 9.7% (NOK 151 million).

TOMRA is interested in your feedback or comments to its
corporate responsibility reporting program, please do not
hesitate to contact us at:

Tomra Systems ASA

Corporate Responsibility

P.0. Box 278, 1372 Asker, Norway
impact@tomra.com




CLIMATE CHANGE STATEMENT

CARBON DIOXIDE EMISSIONS FROM OPERATIONS

METRIC TONS CARBON DIOXIDE 2007 2006
Emission from stationary sources 100 200
Heating oil 100 200
Natural gas 0 0
Emission from purchased grid electricity 5,500 6,100
Norway 0 0
Eurgpe EU25 1,000 1,000
North America 4,500 5100
Other world average 0 0
Certified low-carbon or renewable o} 0
Emission from transportation 23,300 19,700
Petrol vehicles 4,800 4,300
Diesel vehicles 18,100 15,400
Airfare 400 n/a
Total direct emissions 28,900 26,000
Emission from preducts during use-phase 45,900 45,900
RWMs owned and operated
by TOMRA and customers 45900 45900
Total direct and indirect emissions 75,000 72,000
AVOIDED CARBON DIOXIDE EMISSIONS
THROUGH PRODUCT USE AND OPERATIONS
METRIC TONS CARBCN DIOXIDE 2007 2006

Beverage contalner collection

through RVMs and ARCs ¥ 2,086,000 2,070,000

Plastic bottles 347,000 344,000
Glass bottles 677,000 672,000
Aluminium cans 1047000 1039000

Steel cans 15,000 15,000
Packaging material transport

and handling @ 951,000 860,000
Glass bottles 55,000 38,000
Aluminium cans 782,000 717,000
Plastic bottles, PET 111,000 10,000
Plastic bottles, HDPE 1,000 2,000
Cardboard and fiber 2,000 2,000
Steel cans o] o]
Other materials 0 0

Packaging material sorted for recycling
from mixed sources, Titech 5,344,000 1,492,000

Glass 36,000 n/a
Aluminium 1,298,000 nfa
PET 1,849,000 991,000
HDPE 516,000 276,000
Fiber 567000 13,000
Refuse-derived fuel 800,000 0
Other 278,000 12,000

Reduction of transport due to

material compaction, Orwak ¢ 598,000 549,000
25 billion tonnes compacted annually 598,000 549,000

Total emission
avoidance 8,980,000 4,970,000
Net carbon dioxide

emission/{avoidance} {8,900,000) (4,900,000)

NOTES

Emission factors are based on Greenhouse Gas Protocol (www.ghgpro-
tocol.org). and “Waste Management Options and Climate Change”
(www.ec.europa.eufenvironment/waste/studies/pdi/climate_change.pdf).

1. Beverage container collection through RVMs and ARCs.

The carbon dioxide saving is calculated based on the total unit of
beverage containers collected through TOMRA's over 60,000 RVM and
ARC installations, which is estimated to be about 2B billion units annu-
ally. All beverage containers are assumed to be non-refillable, hence
the weight used for calculations is significantly lower than in practice,
The split between packaging types is estimated based on beverage
consumgption data and TOMRA estimates. The fult benefit of collection
and recycling the beverage container material intc new material, as
opposed to being deposited in landfill, is included in the catculation.

2. Packaging material transport and handling.

The carbon dioxide saving is calculated pased on the lonnage of bey-
erage container material transported and handled by TCMRA in USA,
The full benefit of collection and recyciing of the beverage container
material in{o new material, as opposed to being deposited in landfill,
is included in the calculation and this feads to an element of double
reporting when seen in relation {0 the saving reported under
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ENERGY CONSUMPTION

ENERGY CONSUMPTION IN MANUFACTURING,
SALES, SERVICE AND OPERATIONAL PROCESSES

BARRELS OIL EQUIVALENT 2007 2006

Energy consumption, statlonary sources 270 350
Heating cil 250 330
Natural gas 20 20
Propane 0 0

Energy censumption, purchased

grid electricity 9,200 9,720
Norway 2,670 2,540
Eurgpe EU25 1,670 1,620
North America 4760 5,460
Other world average 20 10
Certified low-carben or renewable 80 90

Energy consumption, transportation 586,420 41,820
Petrol vehicles 12,940 1,660
Diesel vehicles 42,600 36,160
Airfare 880 nfa
Total direct energy consumption 65,890 57,890

Energy consumption, products

duting use-phase 54,980 54,980

RVMs owned by TOMRA and customers 54,980 54,980
Total direct and indirect
energy consumption 120,870 12,870
WASTE GENERATION
WASTE GENERATION FROM MANUFACTURING,
SALES, SERVICE AND CPERATIONS
METRIC TONS WASTE 2007 2006
Waste generation 1,745 1,585
Paper 70 50
Cardboard 80 25
Plastics BTO B65S
Wood 155 15
Electric and electronic waste 40 45
Metal scrap 415 395
Batterles 20 0
Hazardous waste 4] 5
Unsorted 95 85
IMPACT ON PEOPLE
WITHIN THE TOMRA GROUP
2007 2006
HKey data
Number of employees (#) 2,040 2,022
Female employees (%) 20 18
Fermale managers (%) 192 7
Ethnic minority employees (%) a2 35
Reportable injuries {#) 167 e

“Beverage container collection through RVMs and ARCs."
3. Packaging material sorted for recycling from mixed sources, TiTech.

Estimated material throughput in TiTech installations is used in the
calculation of avoided carben dioxide emissions. The full benefit of
sorting and recycling of the material into new material is ingluded
in the calcutation, as well as the the replacement of fossil fuels by
refuse-derived fuel.

4. Reduction of transport due to material compactian, Orwak Group.

It is estimated that the installed base of Orwak Group products can
compact around 85 millicn metric tons of materia) daily, reducing
both transport kilometers and fuel usage each year. This is estimated
to save over 45,000 transport movements and 700,000 liters of fuel
each day. This calculation does not take into account the carbon diox-
ide benefit of material recycling.

The provision of information on carbon dicxide emission
avoidance is illustrative only. and intended solely a3 an aid to
illustrate the benefit to sociely generated by the Tomra Group.
The above information does not constitute a full life cycle analysis.
The methodolegy and assumptions wsed in calcilating carbon
dioxide avoidance are available upon request.




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE POLICY

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPCRTING '
The report is included in the annual report. TOMRA
has established a code of conduct for managers
within the Group.

BUSINESS DESCRIPTION

TOMRA's scope of husiness and strategy is estab-
lished in the bylaws, and is described in further
detail within the annual report and the web site.

EQUITY AND DIVIDENDS
All matertal recommendations are futfilled.

EQUAL TREATMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS AND
TRANSACTIONS WITH CLOSE ASSOQCIATES

All material recommendations are fulfilled. No
material transactions between the company and
related parties that requires a Lhird party
evaiuation have taken place during 2007,

FREELY TRADED SHARES
No form of restrictions an trading of the
company'’s shares exist.

GENERAL MEETINGS
All material recommendations are fulfifled.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
A#l material recommendations are futfilled.

CORPORATE ASSEMBLY AND |
B0OARD OF DIRECTORS |
All material recommendations are fullfilled.
independent board mermbers are appointed by !
the shareholders.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS' ACTIVITIES

Currently, no deputy chairman has been appointed
and the Board continually evatuates the need for
such a position, The Board has established the i
following committees; audit, compensation,
nomination and corporate responsibility.

. RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

All material recornmendations are fulfilled.

REMUNERATION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
All material recommendations are fulfilled.

. REMUNERATION OF THE

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT
All material recommendations are fulfilled.

. INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION

All material recommendations are fulfilled.

. TAKEQVERS

All material recommendations are fulfilled.

. AUDITOR

All material recommendations are fulfilled.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In TOMRA, corporate governance is defined to
include those processes and control features which
have been established to protect the interests of
TOMRA's shareholders and other stakeholders such
as employees, suppliers and customers. TOMRA’s
Corporate Governance Policy has been approved
by the Board of Directors and is available on
TOMRA's corporate website (www.tomra.com).

Values, code of conduct and quality systems
integrity, Innovation, Personal Initiative, Fighting
Spirit, and Enthusiasm. These five elements stand
at the center of TOMRA's value structure, repre-
senting the core values of the corporation. We
consider these principles to be of vital importance
for the success of our organization and the basis
for the way we conduct ourselves as we strive to
achieve our business goals. TOMRA has also de-
veloped and implemented an internal code of con-
duct which sets out key principles for employees in
terms of behavior as TOMRA representatives.

TOMRA's quality and environmental management
systems are based on the international ISO 90
and 1SO 14001 management systems standards.
All units within the Technalogy division of Tomra
Systems have been certified according to these
standards. This ensures that our internal systems
and procedures are aligned with international
"best-practice” and that responsibility and
authority is allocated for all important tasks.

Corporate governance policy

TOMRA has implemented a corporate governance
program in accordance with the Norwegian recom-
mendation for corporate governance ("Norsk
anbefaling til eierstyring og selskapsledelse™).

On the left is a short summary with references

to the chapters in the recommendation dated 28
November 2006, focusing on discrepancies between
TOMRA's practices and those recommended.

Principles for remuneration

of Group Management

The guiding principle is that remuneration and
other employment terms for Group Management
shall be competitive to ensure that TOMRA can




attract and retain skilled personnel.

Salary should include both a fixed and a variable
part. The fixed salary should reflect the individual's
area of responsibility and performance over time.
The variable salary may amount to a maximum of
55% of the fixed annual salary and be based on
the TOMRA Group's and/or the executive's unit’s
fulfillment of certain performance goals.

The performance goals for the CEO are defined
by the Board of TOMRA. The goals for the other
Group Management Members are defined by the
CEO and reviewed by the TOMRA Compensation
Committee. The goals may be related to financial
targets, such as operating profit, or other
performance related objectives.

The CEQ's remuneration package, and
adjustments of this, is agreed between the CEQ
and the Chairman of the Board and approved by
the Board of TOMRA. The remuneration packages
for the other Group Management members,
including adjustments of these, are agreed
between each member and the CEOQ, reviewed by
the Compensation Committee and finally reviewed
by the Board of TOMRA.

No new option programs will be established in
2008, neither for managers nor empioyees in
TOMRA. However, given approval from the annual
general assembly, a share saving program might
be introduced, where managers and employees
within the Group can invest in TOMRA shares at a
discounted price, under the assumption that the
shares are kept and the employment continued for
a given period of time.

In 2006 a Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) was
implemented for Group Management members

and other senior managers within TOMRA. For
Group Management members, the LTIP is tied to
the achievement of profit growth by the Group.
Potential earnings under the LTIP are capped. The
LTIP has been established and approved by the
Board of TOMRA and the Compensation Committee
maonitors the plan to ensure it is implemented in
line with the mandate and objective.

In addition {o fixed and variable salary, other
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benefits such as company car, health insurance,
interest- and instaliment free loans, free
newspaper and telephone might be provided.
The total value of these benefits should be
moderate and only account for a limited part
of the total remuneration package.

There should be no special pension plans for
Group Management members as they participate
at the same terms as other employees in the
company in which they are employed, except
where pension plans had been established

before TOMRA acquired an entity and the Group
Management member was party to the plan at the
date of acquisition.

The notification pericd for Group Management
members should be three to six months, excluding
US based Members where fixed length
assignments might be established.

The CEQ should be entitled to 12 months severance
pay. No other automatic severance pay or post
employment arrangements for Group Management
members should exceed 24 months.

A detailed account of the remuneration of each
member of Group Management, including the LTIP,
is found in disclosure note 13.

The 2008 principles and guidelines for manage-
ment remuneration do not deviate materially from
those approved by the annual general assembly in
2007. for the calendar year 2007. The policies and
principles followed through 2007 have been in line
with the established guidelines.

internal Control Environment

and Risk Management Systems

The Board is ultimately responsible for TOMRA's
systems of internal control and for reviewing their
effectiveness. Responsibility for individua! areas of
control has been allocated through the CEO down
to senior management. The systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives and can
provide only reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss,
A process for identifying, evaluating and managing
the significant risks faced by the Group has been




established. The process used by the Board and the
audit committee to review the effectiveness of the
systems of internal control includes the following:

> reviewing the external and internal audit
work plans;

> considering reports from management and
internal and external auditors on the systems
of internal control and any identified control
weaknesses;

> discussing with management the actions
taken on problem areas.

The Board is represented on the Audit Committee
and the Board chairman receives minutes from
each Audit Committee meeting.

The main features of the risk and control
framework are outlined below:

Risk Management

The Board is responsible for approving the
Group's strateqy, its principal markets and the
level of acceptable risk. It has established a risk
management process which identifies the key risks
facing the business and ensures those risks are
managed effectively.

Control Environment

An organizational structure with defined levels

of responsibility and delegation of authority to
appropriately qualified management has been
established. A chart of authority documents each
level of authority throughout the organization.
Matters reserved for the Board are clearly defined
and appropriate authorization limits and reporting
procedures have been implemented.

Information and Communication

The Group has a system for planning and financial
reporting. Budgets are approved annually by the
Board. Actual results compared with budget and
prior perieds, including management's written
comments, are reviewed monthly by the Board.
Strategic business initiatives and investment
spending plans are also individually approved by
the Board.

Control Activities
Internal control procedures have been tailored to

the requirements of individual business activities.
Controls in areas with significant risks include clear
parameters for delegation of authority, segregation
of duties, regular reporting and reviews.

The Audit Committee assists the Board

in overseeing the process for identifying,
evaluating and managing risks, considering
internal and external audit reports, and reviewing
the Group's financial statements.

Monitoring Systems

The operation of the system of internal control is
the responsibility of line management. It is subject
to independent review by internal audit and, where
appropriate, by the Group's external auditor and
external requlators. The reports of all of these
bodies on internal control are reviewed by the
Audit committee on behalf of the Board. The Audit
Committee ensures that, where necessary,
appropriate corrective action is taken.

The internal audits are performed by the Group
Controller and the Group Accounting manager and,
in their role as internal auditors, they report direct-
ly to the audit committee. The internal audit team
carries out independent assessments of risk and
the adequacy of related controls within the Group.
Findings and recommendations for strengthening
the control framework are agreed with manage-
ment and the implementation of agreed changes

is monitored by the internal audit team. The Audit
Committee reviews internal audit coverage and
perfarmance and considers significant findings

and recommendations. The internal audit team has
unrestricted access to all records, personnel and
property of the Group to collect such information
as is necessary for the performance of its work.

The Audit Committee, on behalf of the Board, has
reviewed the effectiveness of the Group's systems
of internal control for the year and up to the date
of approval of the annual report and accounts.
As might be expected in a group of this size and
complexity, a small number of internal control
irregularities occurred during the period under
review. These were identified on a timely basis
and appropriate actions taken. None of these
irreqularities in internal control resulted in any
material losses which require disclosure.




Jan Chr. Opsahl

Chairman

Board member since 1988.
Number of TOMRA shares/options
held: 90,000/0.

Other board affiliations: Chairman
of the Board of TANDBERG and
Dallas Asset Management.

SUMMARY AND HIGHLIGHTS

Jorgen Randers

Board member since 199,
Number of TOMRA shares/
options helg: 32,100/0.

Other board affiliations: YA Bank
ASA, Miljgforskningssenteret AS
and WWF International. Member
of the "sustainability councils™ of
the Bow Chemical Company and
British Telecem.

> OQperating revenues equaled NOK 3,490 miliion, >
a reduction of 12 percent compared to 2006.
Operating profit was NOK 445 million in 2007,
down from NOK 655 million in 2006.

> Cash flow from operations was NOK 526 million,
up from NOK 344 million in 2006.
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Jo Lunder

Board member since 2007,
Number of TOMRA shares/
options held: 0/0,

Other board affiliations:
VimpelCom Russia (NYSE),
Pronova BioPharma ASA (0OSE),
Aibel Group Ltd and Swix Sport
AS (Chairman).

Hanne de Mora

Board member since 2002,
Number of TOMRA shares/
options heid: 6,000/0.

Other board affiliations: Sandvik,
a-connect (group) ag.

2,400 reverse vending machines were delivered
to Germany, down from 8,800 in 2006 when the
country implemented its national deposit system
for non-refillabte beverage containers. Revenues
increased by 20 percent in 2007, excluding
reverse vending machine sales in Germany,

Sales in the Nordic market grew by 45 percent
compared to 2006, impacted largely by the
implementation of deposit on non-refillable
containers in Finland from 1 January 2008,




lege Marie Norheim Marit Christensen David Wiliamson
oard member since 2007, Employee representative Employee representative
umber of TOMRA shares/ Board member since 2007, Board member since 2008,
ptions held: 1,000/0. Number of TOMRA shares/ Number of TOMRA shares/
pther board affiliations: Nordea opticns held: 0/3,600C. options held: 0/1,200.
orway, World Petroleum
ouncil, Det Norske Teater.
> TiTech delivered for the fourth year in a row > At year-end a total of 30 Automated Recycling
increased revenues and profit. The company Centers (ARCs) were installed at Tesco
also fully integrated Commaodas, acquired in supermarkets in the UK. The centers have
2006, into its operations. been well received by Tesco and consumers,
but TOMRA incurred extraordinary depioyment
> TOMRA's activities in California recorded the costs.
best year ever with operating revenues of NOK
601 million, an increase of 26 percent measured > TOMRA entered into an agreement with Waste
in local currency. Management Inc. in the US for delivery of 15

ARCs, to be installed in 2008.

> TOMRA repurchased 9.2 million shares of its
stock, financed partly through loans and partly
from operational cash flow.




FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 2007

Operating revenues amounted to NOK 3,490 million
in 2007, This represents a reduction of 12 percent in
relation to 2006. If adjusted for the extraordinary
machine sales to Germany in 2006, operating
revenues showed an increase of 20 percent.

Operating profit was NOK 445 million in 2007,
down from NOK 655 million in 2006. If adjusted
for machine sales to Germany, the operating profit
also showed an increase of 20 percent in relation
to 2006.

Net financial items were reduced from NOX 1 million
in 2006 to minus NOK 3 million in 2007 as a result
of increased debt obligations within the Group.

The profit for 2007 was positively influenced hy a
foreign exchange profit of NOK 13 million.

Net profit after taxes equaled NOK 292 million
compared to NOK 440 million the previous year.
Earnings per share in 2007 equaled NCK 1.76,
versus NOK 2.48 in 2006.

TOMRA's balance sheet as of 31 December 2007
was NOK 2,952 million. This represented a
reduction of 11 percent relative to the balance

at the beginning of the year. This was due in part
to a lower amount of working capital and a lower
level of investment, combined with a lower
balance sheet value measured in NOK on assets
denominated in USD. Cash flow from operations
was strong and finished at NOK 526 million
compared to NCK 344 millien in 2006. The equity
ratio was 55 percent at yvear-end.

Tomra Systems ASA had a reduction in operating
revenues from NOK 1,532 millien in 2006 to NOK
836 million in 2007. Operating profit was at the
same time reduced from NOK 206 million til NOK
47 million. The reduction was due primarily to
lower sales of technology to the German market.
After subsidiary dividends of NOK 203 million,
the net profit for 2007 equaled NOK 269.2 million
after taxes. The Board of Directors recommends
the following profit allocation for 2007, including
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a proposed dividend distribution of NOK 0.45 per
share, which is an increase of NOK 0.05 compared
to 2006:

Dividend:
Retained earnings:
Total amount applied:

NOK 699 million
NOK 199.3 million
NOK 269.2 million

The Beard of Directors confirms that the accounts
have been prepared on a going concern basis and
in accordance with IFRS faor the Tomra Group
companies and NGAAP for Tomra Systems ASA.
The Beard is of the opinion that the financial
accounts give a correct representation of the
campany’s activities in 2007.

THE FRAMEWORK GOVERNING

TOMRA'S OPERATIONS

TOMRA's reverse vending technology provides an
efficient collection and handling system for deposit
beverage containers in retail locations, Correct
recognition as well as automated sorting and
storage of empty containers reduces retailers’
handling costs to a minimum. This idea formed
the basis for the establishment of TOMRA in 1972.
The company's growth since its inception has
mainly been driven by the implementation of
beverage container deposit systems in new
markets, either through voluntary or legislatively
enforced arrangements.

Early in the 1990s TOMRA expanded its activities
with the addition of comprehensive solutions to
cover a greater part of the beverage container
recycling value chain, Automated compaction of
used non-refillable containers contributes to the
reduction of transport costs and subsequent
handling. Electronic collection and processing of
transaction data from the reverse vending machines
also provides a secure and cost-effective way to
administrate the deposit refunds and materials. This
expansion of the business model was, and still is, key
to TOMRA's growth in the North American market.

Despite all the documented advantages of a
deposit system, few markets besides Germany




have implemented deposit in recent years.
Recognizing that it could take time before new
markets accepted deposit as an effective means of
recycling used packaging, TOMRA decided to start
developing collection and sorting technology that
could also be utilized in markets without deposit
on beverage packaging. The results of the com-
pany's efforts in this regard have been positive,
and in 2007 TOMRA's revenues from non-deposit
activities represented 20 percent of the company's
total revenues, up from i3 percent in 2006. This per-
centage is expected to increase in the years ahead.

The implementation of deposit on non-refillable
beverage containers in Germany in 2006 resulted
in an extensive automation of collection systems in
German food retail outlets, Such deposit initiatives
will always open an opportunity for strang tempo-
rary growth in TOMRA's reverse vending machine
sales, which will then subside after the automation
process has been completed. There are a number
of examples where this has occurred throughout
TOMRA's history. Following this pattern, TOMRA
has experienced a drop in its operating revenues
and profit in 2007 after the extraordinary sales
figures achieved in Germany in 2006.

Today the company’s operations are more robust
and less dependent on temporary oppoertunities in

individual markets. Even though short-term
swings in demand for TOMRA's solutions may
occur, the company will in the iong run be able
to capitalize on strong macro trends that are
working in favor of the recycling industry. This
includes such fators as increasing per capita
waste levels, stricter waste recycling regulations,
greater corporate responsibility and environmental
awareness, and the growing view that used
materials are in fact valuable resources rather
than waste. In some markets these factors will
result in the implementation of deposit systems,
in others different solutions will be developed.

Regardless of which solutions are selected, TOMRA
is of the opinion that more ambitious recycling rates
require increased use of technology. In this sense,
TOMRA is in a unique position as being one of the
world's leading providers of high-tech solutions in
an industry that will undoubtedly grow in the

years ahead.




KEY ACTIVITIES

TOMRA's mission statement is “Helping the world
recycle.” In pursuit of this, TOMRA has become an
international corporation with a presence in more
than 45 countries around the world. The company’s
headquarters are located in Asker, Norway, and its
principal markets lie in North America and Europe.

The company's activities are organized within
four business segments: Collection Technology,
Deposit Solutions; Materials Handling; Collection
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Technelogy, Non-Deposit Solutions; and Industrial
Processing Technology. The first two segments
are related to TOMRA's activities in markets with
deposit on beverage containers. The latter two
segments represent the company's activities in
markets without beverage container deposit
systems and other material streams beyond
beverage packaging.

Collection Technology, Deposit Solutions
TOMRA's activities within this business segment
include the sale, lease and servicing of reverse
vending machines, primarily in Europe and North
America. In addition TOMRA provides data
administration systems which monitor the volume
of collected materials and associated deposit
transactions.

In 2007 the revenues within this segment amounted
to NOK 1,731 million, down from NOK 2,429 the




previous year. The gross contribution increased
from 40 percent to 44 percent and the operating
profit was reduced from NOK 564 million to NOK
345 million.

TOMRA maintained its position as the feading
supplier of reverse vending machines in Europe

in 2007. Revenues from the European operations
amounted to NOK 1,4G3 million, down from NOK
2,038 miillion in 2006. This decrease represents

a return to the normal sales levels in the German
market following the extraordinary sales peak
experienced last year due to the implementation
of deposit on non-refillable beverage containers in
this country on 1 May 2006.

TOMRA installed a total of 8,800 machines in
Germany in 2006. The automation of collection
systems for non-refillable containers at retail
markets continued in 2007, but at a lower tempo.
tn all TOMRA installed 2,400 machines in Germany
in 2007, 200 of which were of the UNO model. This
resulted in TOMRA alsc maintaining its market
share in the German market in 2007, At year-end
several of the larger grocery chains in Germany
had yet to automate their collection systems, and
these still represent an opportunity for TOMRA.

it is expected therefore that TOMRA's installed
machine base in Germany will continue to grow in
the coming years.

The decrease in sales in Germany was partly offset
by increased sales in the Nordic region. Deposit

on non-refillable plastic beverage containers

was implemented in Finland on 1 January 2008,
resulting in an opportunity for TOMRA to sell new
machines and upgrade existing installations with
expanded backroom solutions. As a result revenues
in the Nordic market increased from NOK 422 mil-
lion in 2006 to NOK 611 million in 2007. Sales in
the Finnish market will normalize again in 2008

as the majority of shops have now upgraded their
systems, There are however other opportunities

in the Nordic market, in¢luding for example the
implementation of a deposit lottery system where
consumers can use the deposit value from

beverage containers to play in a loftery instead

of having the deposit refunded to them. Such a
system was approved by the Norwegian Ministry

of Culture in 2007 and installations of the lottery
equipment on reverse vending machines in Norway
will begin in 2008.

The reverse vending activities in North America
generated total revenues of NOK 326 million in
2007, a decrease of 9 percent measured in USD.
TOMRA operates with two different business models
in the North American market. One is a sales model,
in which machines are sold to grocery stores in the
same way as is done in Europe, and the other is a
leasing maodel, where TOMRA maintains ownership
of the installed machines and receives payment
based on the number of cans and bottles that

are handled by the machines. The installed base
within these two models remains stable with about
6,400 sold machines and 7,200 leased machines.
Revenues from the leasing portfolio were stable

in 2007, but machine sales declined which
contributed to the overall revenue reduction in the
US in 2007. This reduction was expected since
several of the larger chains in Michigan and New
York upgraded their installations in 2006,
something which contributed to the unusually
high sales activity that year.

As described in the Directors’ Report for 2006,
the EU Commission has accused TOMRA of
having hindered competition in the reverse
vending market within Austria, Germany, Holland,
Norway and Sweden by having implemented an
exclusive strategy during the period 1998 to 2002.
In March of 2006 the Commission decided to
impose a fine of EUR 24 million on TOMRA. Since
the TOMRA Board of Directors considered the EU
Commissions’ decision to be without foundation,
the decision was appealed to the EU Court of First
Instance. The appeal is expected to be considered
by the Court of First Instance during 2008.

No allocations have so far been made in the
accounts relative to this case (see also note 5 in
the financial statements).




Materials Handling

TOMRA picks up, transports, processes and
markets used beverage packaging on behalf of
beverage producers on the East Coast of USA and
in Canada. In California, TOMRA also owns and
operates a network of collection centers situated
outside retail locations.

In 2007 this business segment contributed total
revenues of NOK 1,064 million, an increase of 4
percent over 2006. The increase measured in

USD was 14 percent. Operating profit increased to
NOK 105 million (NOK 101 million in 2006). The net
profit margin was stable at 10 percent.

Revenue growth from the materials handling
operations on the East Coast of USA and Canada
was essentially flat with a 1% increase in USD. The
trend toward increased consumption of bottled
water, which is not subject to deposit in many
states, as opposed to deposit beverages like beer
and soft drinks, is resulting in fower return volumes
and could lead to reduced potential for growth in
this segment.

The collection operations in California on the
other hand experienced significant growth in
2007. Revenues increased by 15 percent compared
to 20086, going up to NOK 601 million. Measured
in USD the increase was 26 percent. This large
increase was driven by higher return velumes and
attractive commodity prices. A regulatory change
that was adopted in California in 2006 resulted in
the deposit amount on containers being raised in
2007, which in turn has made the return of used
containers more attractive for consumers.

Industrial Processing Technology (IPT)

TOMRA established this business segment through
the acquisition of TiTech Visionsort in 2004, Orwak
Group AB in 2005, and Commodas GmbH in 20086,
TiTech's solutions allow large materiat processing
facilities to sort greater amounts of materials

such as plastic and paper, at a lower cost and

with greater precision than with traditional labor-
intensive methods. With the acquisition of
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Commodas TOMRA has added a leading provider
of advanced technology for recognizing and
sorting high value materials such as metals, plastic,
glass, minerals and gem stones. Together TiTech
and Commodas represent the largest supplier in
the world of sensor-based systems for material
recognition and sorting. This group has delivered
1,700 systems in 35 countries on all continents. In
2007 the two companies integrated their product
portfolios, and going forward TiTech will market an
expanded portfolio toward the recycling industry
whereas Commodas will focus exclusively on
seiling systems to the mining industry. Additionally
a new subsidiary, QVision, was established with the
goal of developing the same sensor technology for
a variety of quality control applications within the
food industry.

The Orwak Group develops, manufactures and

sells compaction solutions for recyclable

materials such as cardboard, paper and plastic

for use in a number of different industries. The
company has activities in more than 30 countries.
Although TiTech/Commodas and Orwak have an
international customer base, their primary markets
are in Europe and North America.

Revenues and operating profit for IPT in 2007
were NOK 647 million (NOK 504 million in 2006}
and NOK 101 million (NOK 79 million in 2006)
respectively. The increase in income and operating
profit was driven by strong organic growth as well
as the acquisition of Commaodas in 2006.

The TiTech Group had a record year in 2007,
the fourth in a row with regard to revenues and
operating profit. Revenues increased by over 40
percent compared to the previous record year in
2006. Strong development of its traditional
activities combined with increased sales to new
segments and markets was a decisive factor in
achieving the good results. The prospect for
continued strong growth is good.

Orwak Group AB consists of two units: Orwak
AB, which is focused on the production and sale




of smaller vertical compactors; and Presona AB,
which produces and sells large horizontal balers.
Orwak AB developed positively in 2007, achieving
almost 10 percent growth in both revenue and
operating profit. Systematic development of its
marketing, product development and production
processes has made an impact and is expected to
contribute to further improvements in the years
ahead. Presona AB did not achieve satisfactory
development in 2007, Revenues fell by 11 percent
and the company reported an operating loss. The
company's management was replaced in 2007 and
a number of measures have been {aken to improve
the company's profitability. The financial statements
for 2007 have in addition been charged with NOK

7 millien in capitalized development costs and
goodwill related to the acquisition of the company
in 2005.

Collection Technology, Non-Deposit Solutions
This segment includes activities connected to
TOMRA's new technology solutions for collection
of packaging in markets without deposit. Revenues
came in at NOK 48 million in 2007 compared to
NOK 11 million in 2006. The maiority of revenues
came from activities in the UK and Japan. Due

to the significant costs associated with the
development of technology and markets, the
segment had an operating loss of NOK 90 million

in 2007, compared to an operating loss of NOK
73 million in 2006.

In 2006 Tomra Systems ASA signed a contract
with Tesco in the UK for the installation of
TOMRA's Automated Recycling Center (ARC).

ARC is a product for collecting rigid beverage and
household preduct containers in markets without
deposit. The product has a large storage capacity
and is installed outdoors. The contract with Tesco
was for 100 such centers, and at the end of 2007
a total of 30 had been installed. The centers have
been a success relative to the expectations Tesco
and TOMRA had prior to the rollout regarding the
degree of consumer acceptance. Some of the cen-
ters by the end of 2007 were receiving 500,000
items per month, exceeding original estimates.
But the installation process has been costly for
TOMRA following the replacement of the principal
subcontractor and delays in getting building
permits. Tesco has also expressed a need to
resolve operational issues, and is working with
TOMRA to improve collection logistics and
increase the return level of higher value materials.
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The order from Tesco was the first commercial
contract for this type of technology. In November
2007 TOMRA signed an agreement with Waste
Management Inc. in the USA for the delivery and
maintenance of 15 ARCs. Waste Management is
North America’s leading supplier of waste handling
services to municipalities, commercial and
industrial enterprises, and private househglds.
Waste Management will utilize the TOMRA ARCs

in a pilot program for markets without deposit in
North America with the purpose of studying how
consumers respond to recycling solutions that
provide an incentive to participate. This represents
the first introduction of the ARC technology in the
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North American market. According to the agree-
ment, the 15 centers will be installed in three test
markets during 2008. The pilot is expected to run
until the middle of 2009.

In Japan, one of the primary goals for TOMRA

in providing its outdoor recyeling centers was to
deliver solutions that would reduce the collection
costs for municipalities and at the same time lead
to an increase in the amount of materials collected.
In 2006 TOMRA and Sumitomo Corporation
entered into a strategic partnership which set a
short term goal of installing 100 machines in Tokyo
by the summer of 2007. This target was achieved
during the first quarter 2008. The business model
in Japan is based cn leasing the machines to the
municipalities, and the leasing fee is adjusted
according to the return volume going through the
machines. TOMRA and Sumitomo are experiencing
a steadily increasing return volume and believe
that the model is working well as the municipali-
ties are reducing their container coilection costs,




while the costs for TOMRA and Sumitomo are
being sufficiently covered through the leasing
income. The goal going forward is to further build
on the momentum that has been created in the
market and increase the installed machine base.
To this end, TOMRA has deveioped a new machine
platfarm, CITY, especially for the Japanese market,
that is very compact and has a high compaction
ratio capability.

TOMRA has in addition received orders from other
markets without deposit frameworks, including
Greece, Bulgaria, Italy, Mexico and Seuth Korea.
Although these orders do not represent large
amounts, they do show the potential that exists for
further growth in this segment.

Research and development activities

Research and development activities plus other
future-oriented projects were expensed at NOK 157
million. The comparative figure for 2006 was NOK
132 million. These activities are directed foremost
toward the development of reverse vending tech-
nology {Collection Technology, Deposit Solutions);
new collection technology for non-deposit markets
such as USA and the UK (Collection Technology,
Non-Deposit Solutions); and the recognition

and sorting technology provided by TiTech and
Commodas (Industrial Processing Technology).

FINANCIAL RISK

TOMRA faces normal business risks related to
contractual agreements with customers and
suppliers. There are however several conditions
that could affect the industry in which TOMRA
operates. A reduction in recycling targets and
ambitions, lower labar costs, and falling

material commodity prices would negatively
influence TOMRA's business as the need for
advanced recycling technology would become

less obvious. Falling prices on aluminum and plastic
will also have a direct effect on the profitability of
our activities in California, where TOMRA owns the
materials that are collected through our collection
centers. Fluctuations in the price of aluminum have
the largest effect, where a change of $100 per ton

for example would affect the Group’s operating
profit by almost one million dollars per year.

TOMRA's operations are also to a large extent
influenced by political decisions, specifically with
regard to deposit legislation. If a country or state
decides to remove its existing deposit system there
will be limited incentives for TOMRA's customers
to maintain current or invest in new TOMRA
equipment. In some markets, like for example in
the United States, an elimination of the deposit
legislation would immediately dissclve the
foundation for TOMRA's daily operations. On the
other hand, the implementation or expansion of
deposit systems in a country or state will create
new growth opportunities for TOMRA.

Responsibitity for financing, cash management
and financial risk management is handled by the
finance department within Tomra Systems ASA.
Historically speaking, TOMRA has seldom expe-
rienced losses on accounts receivable, and the
Group's routines concerning ¢redit approval are
considered satisfactory. TOMRA's surplus cash is
placed primarily in Norwegian crowns (NOK) with
duration of less than six months. Interest-bearing
debt is mainly taken up in NOK, normally at interest
rates fixed for a period of tess than six months.

TOMRA is exposed to fluctuations in currency
exchange rates. With 97 percent of its income in
foreign currencies, a strengthening of the Norwe-
gian crown will lead to reduced earnings for the
Group when measured in this currency. The majority
of risk is connected to swings in the euro and U.S.
dollar, TOMRA takes advantage of forward exchange
contracts to hedge future cash flows in foreign cur-
rencies. As of the end of 2007, no hedge accounting
was applied to any of TOMRA's contracts.

In addition TOMRA has implemented the financial
risk managerment systems one would expect given
the size and complexity of the company’s operations.
A more extensive description of TOMRA's internal
control procedures and systems for evaluating
financial risk are provided on page 61 in this report.




CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

Through its operations TOMRA is helping the world
to recycle and reuse, rather than waste, valuable
resources. This is the company's most important
coentribution to a cleaner and more sustainable
society. This contribution is important because it

is an integral part of TOMRA's operational devel-
opment and because it is a motivating factor for
the company's employees. It also sends a signal to
investors and the world at large that TOMRA is play-
ing a role in solving the challenges of the future.

Tomra Systems ASA is certified according to the
ISO 14001 standard for environmental leadership
and has publicly communicated its environmental
targets since 1998, TOMRA's positive impact on
the environment is achieved primarily through the
energy and material savings resulting from the
use of the company's recycling solutions. TOMRA's
negative impact on the environment is principally
connected to consumption of energy in buildings,
industrial processes and motor vehicles, waste
generation and greenhouse gases from use of
fossil fuels. Overall TOMRA's environmental
balance sheet shows a very positive net impact
on the environment.

Further details about TOMRA's impact on the
environment are presented on page 22 in this
report. TOMRA's social and envircnmental report is
also reproduced in its entirety on www.tomra.com
under “Our Organization/Corporate Responsibility.”

Organization, health, environment and safety
The number of employees in the Tomra Group was
2,040 at the end of 2007. In 2006 the number of
employees was 2,022 at year-end. In Norway the
number of employees went from 242 at the end of
2006 to 258 at the end of 2007.

TOMRA facilitates equal opportunity for profes-
sional and personal development for all employees.
Employment at TOMRA is based on gualifications,
merits, abilities and potential. TOMRA does not
discriminate the promotion of opportunities or
development of its employees on the basis of race,
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color, religion, gender, natural origin, age, disability,
sexual orientation or any other physical attribute.

Female employees made up 20 percent of TOMRA's
work force and held 19 percent of its management
positions at the end of 2007, an increase from 18
percent and 17 percent respectively in 2006. Three
of TOMRA's seven board directors are women.

The number of employees that are considered
ethnic mincrities in the countries in which they are
employed went down from 35 percent in 2006 to
32 percent in 2007.

The absence rate due to sickness within Tomra
Systems ASA went down from 3.0 percent in 2006
to 2.0 percent in 2007. The number of job-related
injuries in TOMRA requiring medical attention
beyond basic first aid increased from 116 in 2006
to 167 in 2007. Most of these instances occurred
within TOMRA's material handling activities in the
USA, which involve handling crushed glass and
heavy lifting. TOMRA has placed greater focus on
implementing measures that will prevent injuries
in this area, and expects improvement going for-
ward as a result. In 2007 TOMRA carried out a job
satisfaction survey among its employees, and the
results were positive and showed improvement
from the previous year.

Tomra Systems ASA is certified according to I1SO
9001, This standard is used as guidance for the
company's quality assurance procedures. TOMRA
also applies an internal management system that
incorporates goal- and result-orientation through-
out the entire organization, including performance
and leadership evaluation.

Corporate Governance

TOMRA defines corporate governance as those
processes and control structures which are
established to protect the interests of the
company's shareholders and other stakeholder
groups. TOMRA's guidelines for corporate
governance, core vatues and leadership principles
are aligned to ensure sustainable development of
the company. These guidelines include the role of




the Board and its various committees,
requirements concerning the impartiality of its
board members, and board compensation. TOMRA's
corporate governance policy is included in this
report on page 27 and can also be found on
TOMRA's website www.tomra.com under “Investor
Relations/Corporate Governance.”

SHAREHOLDERS AND CAPITAL

The number of TOMRA shareholders fell from 12,218
at the end of 2006 to 9990 at the end of 2007, The
amount of shares held by non-Norwegian residents
at the end of 2007 was 45 percent, up from 35
percent at year-end 2006. The TOMRA share price
dropped 11 percent from NOK 43.00 at the end of
2006 to NOK 38.50 at the end of 2007. A total of
411 million shares were traded in 2007, down from
601 million the year before. In September TOMRA
was awarded the Stockman Prize within the class of
small to medium-sized companies on the Cslo Stock
Exchange. This prize is awarded to companies listed
on the Oslo Stock Exchange that have produced the
best annual report and interim reports from a
financial analysis perspective, and which have
demonstrated exemplary informational activities
toward investors and the financial community.

The face value of each share is one Norwegian
crown (1 NOK). The total number of outstanding
shares at year-end 2007 was 155.4 miilion, adjusted
for the 9.3 million treasury shares held by TOMRA.
The Board of Directors received approval at the
extraordinary general shareholders meeting in

Asker, 20 February 2008

Jan Chr. Opsah! Jergen Randers Hanne de Mora  Jo Lunder
Chairman

Hege Marie Norhelm  Marit Christensen  David Willlamsen Amund Sharholt
Board member  Board member  Board member Board member

December 2006 to buy back up to 10 million
shares of TOMRA stock. By year-end 2007 this
authority was essentially fully exercised. The Board
of Directors will at the annual general meeting in
April this year recommend that these shares be
cancelled.

The share buyback program is financed partially by
operating cash flow, and partially through a five-
year bank loan of up to NOK SO0 million, taken out
in 2006. Even after this loan, TOMRA has a very
solid balance and the necessary financial flexibility
for ensuring that growth initiatives can be realized.
In order to ensure further flexibility in adjusting the
capital structure, the Board of Directors will request
a new authority to buy back a further 15 million
shares at the annual general meeting in April 2008.

The Board of Directors also wishes to motivate
TOMRA employees to invest in their own work-
places by becoming sharehclders in the company.
With the general assembly's approval, the beard
recommends that a share purchase program be
established in which each emptoyee will have the
opportunity to buy discounted shares from the
company’'s running balance of treasury shares
acquired through the buy-back program.

Employee President & CEQ

representative

Employee
represeniative




Profit and loss statement

Tomra Systems ASA Group
NGAAP IFRS
2007 2006 2005 Amounts in NOK million Note 2007 2006 2005
836.2 1,531.6 399.4 Operating revenues 1 3,489.5 3,965.0 2,413
5309 1,135.0 3323 Cost of goods sold 2 1,635.4 1,966.3 1,019.8
132.7 127.3 140.7 Employee benefits expenses 3,16 906.8 862.2 794 6
13.1 98 7.8 Qrdinary depreciation 8,9 154.0 162.2 139.7
- - 1253 Loss on disposal of subsidiaries 14 - - -
- - - Write-down of non-current assets 9 6.9 1.2 37.2
112.4 53.7 50.6 Cther operating expenses 7 341.3 308.1 288.8
789.1 1,325.8 656.7 Total operating expenses 3,0444  3,3100 2,280.1
47.1 205.8 (257.3) Operating profit 4451 655.0 133.0
- - - Profit from associates 15 1.9 1.6 2.0
202.5 08 120.4 Dividend from subsidiaries - - -
671 52.0 49.3 Financial income 17.5 5.6 17.7
205 10.5 6.1 Financial expenses 22.2 6.0 5.2
2491 72.3 163.6 Net financial items 4 (2.8) 1.2 14.5
296.2 278.1 (93.7) Ordinary profit before taxes 442.3 656.2 147.5
27.0 60.6 {15.3) Taxes 10 150.6 216.3 55.2
269.2 217.5 {(78.4) Net profit continuing operations 291.7 439.9 92.3
Loss on discontinued operations 23 - - (70.4)
Net profit for the period 291.7 439.9 21.9
Attributable to:
Sharehelders of the parent 279.6 4272 8.3
Minority interest 121 12.7 13.6
Net profit for the period 291.7 439.9 219
Allocated as follows: 20
69.9 65.8 60.9 Dividend
199.3 1517 (132.3) COther equity
269.2 217.5 (78.4) Total allocated
Earnings per share 20 1.76 2.48 0.05
Earnings per share, fully diluted 20 76 2.48 0.05
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Batance sheet as of 31 December

Tomra Systems ASA Group
NGAAP IFRS

2007 2006 Amounts in NOK million Note 2007 2006
ASSETS 225 16.4 Detferred tax assets 10 52.8 63.0
- - Goodwill 9,22 565.9 619.4

- Development costs 9 50.9 60.9

- - Other intangible assels 9 322 325

22.5 16.4  Total intangible non-current assets 701.8 775.8
19.4 23.7  Property, plant and equipment 8 392.3 4113

- - Leasing equipment 8 80.1 117.9

19.4 23.7 Total tangible non-current assets 472.4 529.2
1,592.1 1,592.1 Investment in subsidiaries 14,22 - -
4193 531.3 Loan to subsidiaries 14 - -

- - Investments in associates 15 35.6 40.6

- - Other investments 0.7 0.8

2.9 - Pensions 16 29 -

- - Long term receivables 134.3 180.2
2,013 2,123.4  Total financial non-current assets 173.5 2216
2,056.2 2,163.5 Total non-current assets 1,347.7 1,526.6
61.1 17.5 Inventory 2 529.1 524.5
13.1 - Trade receivables 732.8 8139
625.0 605.4 Intra-group receivables - -
247 25.3  Other short-ferm receivables 1518 158.7
662.8 630.7  Total receivables 7 884.6 972.6
116.4 209.2 Cash and cash equivalents 17 190.8 286.4
840.3 857.4 Total current assets 1,604.5 1,783.5
2,896.5 3,020.9 Total assets 2,952.2 3,3101
LIABILITIES 164.7 173.6 Share capital 164.7 173.6
AND EQUITY (9.3) {9.2) Treasury shares (9.3) {9.2)
1,418.3 1,418.3 Share premium reserve 1,418.3 1,418.3
1,573.7 1,582.7 Pald-in capital 1,573.7 1,582.7
299.9 491.7 Retained earnings 50.1 3889

- - Minority interest 56.3 65.8
1,873.6 2,074.4 Total equity 20 1,680.1 2,037.4
- - Deferred tax liabilities 10 30.3 19.8

- 7.7 Pension liabilities 16 - 7.7

389.9 325.0 Interest-bearing lkabilities 6 410.1 372.3

- - Other long-term liabilities 3.0 12.8

389.9 332.7 Total non-current liabilities 443.4 412.6
5.8 - Interest-bearing liabilities 6 71 7.8
245 26.9 Trade payables 241.5 257.0
355.5 404.4 Intra-Group debt - -
s 26.9 Income tax payable 10 103.3 107.5
25.3 13.9 Provisions 12 91.8 118.6
190.1 141.7 Other current liabilities 1 385.0 369.2
633.0 613.8 Total current liabilities 828.7 860.1
1,022.9 946.5 Total liabilities 1,272.1 1,272.7
2,896.5 3,020.9 Total liabilities and equity 29522 3,3101
360.8 355.7 Warranty liabilities 363.4 355.7

Asker, 20 February 2008

David Willlamson Amund Skarholt
Employee Prasident & CEQ
representative

Jan Chr. Opsahl Jergen Randers Hanne de Mora Jo Lunder Hege Marie Norhelm  Marit Christensen
Chairman Beard member Board member  Board member Board member Employee
representative




Statement of recognized income and expense

Group

IFRS
Amounts in NOK million 2007 2006
Foreign exchange translation differences (170.3) (87.7}
Net income recognized directly in equity {170.3) (87.7)
Profit for the period 291.7 439.9
Total recognized income and expense for the period 1214 352.2
Attributable to:
Shareholders of the parent company 11841 3449
Minority interest 3.3 7.3
Total recognized income and expense for the period 121.4 352.2
Reported minority 121 12.7
Exchange variaticns minorities (8.8) {5.4)
Total 3.3 7.3
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Cash flow analysis

Tomra Systems ASA Group
NGAAP IFRS
2007 2006 2005 Amounts in NOK million 2007 2006 2005
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS
296.2 278.1 {93.7) Ordinary profit before taxes 4423 656.2 147.5
(28.2) (9.2} - Income taxes paid (144.4) (91.5) (23.9)
- - - {Gains)Nosses irom sales of fixed assets - (8.2) (0.2)
13.1 9.8 7.8 Ordinary depreciations 154.0 162.2 139.7
- - 125.3 Write-down non-current assets 6.9 11.2 37.2
{43.6) (14.3) 1.8 Net change in inventory (36.8) (198.4) 2.1)
{12.5) (16.5) 18.8 Net change in receivables 28.4 (316.0) (59.4)
(2.4)  12.1 39 Nel change in payables a3 450 310
Difference between booked costs on pension
(10.6) {6.4) (6.3) funds and actual cash payments to these funds (10.6} {6.4) (6.3)
- - - Exchange rate effects 18.7 (6.0 (8.2)
- - Profit before tax from affiliated companies (1.9} (1.7) (2.0)
- - - Dividend from affitiated companies 1.4 1.3 1.9
126.1 (25.2) 335 Changes in other balance sheet items 49.9 98.4 (12.7)
(35.7) (43.0) (41.7) Interest income/expense 14.9 (1.8) (12.1)
302.4 185.4 49.4 Net cash flow from operating activities 526.1 3443 2304
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
- - 08 Proceeds from sales of non-current assets 14.4 89.5 271
- - 163.5 Disposal of subsidiary - 3.2 1122
- 20 (1254) Acquisition of subsidiary - (112.8} (111.3)
(8.8) (14.4) (8.9} Net investments in non-current assets (157.3) (234.9) (204.6)
. - - Proceeds from sales of shares - 26 0.1
(8.8) (12.4) 30.0 Net cash flow from investing activities (142.9) (252.4) (176.5)
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
(6.2) (78.8) (51.6) Loan payments (to)/from subsidiaries - - -
- - - Payment of long term loans - - (26.2)
- {2.5) (5.0} Repayment of long-term loans (18.0) (13.0) -
50.0 325.0 - Proceeds from issuance of long term debt 50.0 325.0 -
- - - Dividend minorities (12.7) {16.7) (12.1)
- - - Net change bank overdraft - (25.7) 4.6
(408.3) (421.7) (211.1) Purchase of treasury shares (408.3) (421.7) (211.1)
7.1 6.4 - Sale of treasury shares 71 6.4 -
543 512 45.6 Interest received 4.7 48 1441
(18.6) (8.2} (3.9 Interest paid (19.6} (3.0) (2.0}
- {33.5) - Option payments - (93.8) -
(64.7)  {60.8) (321.3) Dividend paid (64.7)  (60.8) (321.3)
(386.4) (222.7) (547.3) Net cash flow from financing activities {461.5) (298.5) (554.0)
- - - Currency effect on cash {17.3) 1.6 8.5
(92.8) (49.7) (467.9) Net change in cash and cash equivalents (95.6) (205.0) (491.6)
208.2 2589 726.8 Cash and cash equivalents per 1 January 286.4 4914  983.0
116.4 209.2 2589 Cash and cash equivalents per 31 December 190.8 2864 4914

From 1 January 2007 TOMRA has changed its principle for classification of interest in the cash flow statement.
According to IFRS 7.31 and NRS(F) Cash Flow 2.6 we have chosen to show interest as cash flow from financing activities.
The amounts from 2005 and 2006 have been reclassified with the following effects:

2006 2005 2006 2005 I
Cash flow from operating activities:
(43.0) (41.7) Interest income/expense (1.8)

Cash flow from financing activities:
51.2 456  Interest received 48
(8.2) (3.9) Interest paid (3.0)




Consolidation and accounting principles

Group - IFRS

GENERAL

Business concept and customers

Tomra Systems ASA (the “Company”) is a company
domiciled in Norway. TOMRA designs and operates
cost-effective systems for recovering packaging and
other used material for reuse and recycling. Added
value is created for each customer through
excellence in service and innovation.

TOMRA'’s customers are mainly located in Europe
and North America.

Significant accounting policies

The consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2007
comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”) and the
Group’s interest in associates. The financial
statements consist of the income statement,
statement of recognized income and expense,
balance sheet, cash flow statement and notes to
the accounts.

The financial statements were authorized for issue
by the Directors on February 20th 2008, and will be
presented for final approval in the general meeting
on April 23rd 2008. Until the final approval by the
general meeting, the board can change the
financial report.

(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and appropriate
interpretations as adopted by EU, The Norwegian
Accounting Act and stock exchange regulations.

(b) Basis of preparation

The financial statements are presented in NOK,
rounded to the nearest one hundred thousand.
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They are prepared based on the fundamental
principles governing historical cost accounting,
comparability, continuing operations and
congruence. Transactions are recorded at their
value at the time of transaction. Income is recog-
nized at the time of delivery of goods or services
sold. Costs are expensed in the same period as the
income to which they relate is recognized.

The financial statements are prepared based on
historical cost, except for financial instruments
recognized at fair value through profit or loss.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance
with IFRS requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application
of policies and reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, income and expense. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis of determining carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

The accounting policies set out below have been
applied consistently to all periods presented in
these consolidated financial statements,

The accounting policies have been applied
consistently by each Group entitiy.




REPORTING STRUCTURE

The Group's consolidated amounts

comprise the following units:

Tomra Systems ASA

Europe

Tomra Europe AS (N}

Tornra Butikksystemar AS (N)
Tomra Systems AB (5)

QY Tomra AB (FIN)

Tomra System AS (DK)
Tomra Systems B (NL)
Tomra Systems GmbH (D)
Temra Leergutsysteme GrmbH (A)
Tomra Systems SA (F)
Tomra AG (SWI) (50.5 %)
Tomra Systems NV (BEL)
B-burken AB (S)

Tomra s.r.o (CHE) (40%)
Haiton System GmbH (D}
Tomra Baltic O (Est) (40%)
Tornra Production AS (N}
Retail Services GmbH (D)
Titech Visionsort AS (N)
Titech Visionsort GmbH (D)
Titech Visionsort Espana (E)
Titech Visionsort Limited (UK)
QVision AS (N)

Commodas Mining GmbH (D)
Qrwak Group AB (3)

Presona A8 (5)

Morinders Verkstéder AB (5)
Compactus AB (S)

Presona GmbH (D}

Orwak Danmark AS (DK)
Orwak Palen ZPZ0O0 (P)
Tomra Systems Ltd. (UK)

North America

Toemra North America Inc. (CT)
Temra Systems Inc. {CAN)
Tomsa Metro LLC {CT, NY)
Mabite Redemp. Inc. (CT, MA)
BICS LLC (72%) (NY)

TNYR LLC (70%) (NY)
Upstate Tomra LLC {55%)
Tomra Mass. (55%)} (MA)
Halton Systern Inc. (ME)

Les Systems Inc. (CAN)
Camce Recycling Inc. (CAN)
Tornra Canada Inc (CAN)
Toemra Pacific Inc. (CA)
UBCR (51%) (Ml}

UltrePET LLC (49%)

Orwak LLC (CT)

Asia

Tomra Japan Asia Pacific KK (JAP)

Titech Visionsort Ca., Ltd. (KOR)

Tomra AG {SWI) was discentinued in 2006,

see also note 14. B-burken AB (S)
was liquidated In 2007

CONSOLIDATION
PRINCIPLES

{a) Consolidated companies

The consolidated accounts include the parent
company Tomra Systems ASA and companies
in which the parent company has a controlling
influence. Subsidiaries acquired or sold during
the course of the year are included in the profit
and loss statement as of the dale of purchase,
of up to and including the date of sale.

{b) Elimination of shares in subsidiaries
Shares in subsidiaries are eliminated an

the basis of the past equity method. The
difference between the book value of shares
in subsidiaries and book value of the
subsidiaries’ equity at the time such shares
werae acquired is analyzed and posted to

the balance sheet items to which the excess
amounts relate. Goodwill represents the
excess of the purchase price paid for
acquisitions above net assels acquired and
is tested for impairment at least annually.

{c) Currency translation for foreign
subsidiaries

The profit and loss statements for foreign
subsidiaries prepared in foreign currencies are
translated on the basis of average exchange
rates for the year. The balance sheet is
converted on the basis of the exchange rates
on December 31. Translation differences are
shown as a separate itern and charged diractily
ta ihe Group's equity.

When foreign subsidiaries are sold, completely
or partially, the associated translation
difference is recognized in the profit and loss.

(d) Minority Interests

The minerity interests’ share of the net profit
and equity are classified as separate items
in the protit and loss statement and balance
sheet.

{e) Changed ownership in subsidiaries

With suocessive acquisitions in subsidiaries, fair
values of assets and liabilities are established
the tirs1 time consolidation takes place. Fair
values of assets and liabilities are not adjusted
on subsequent acquisitions, with the exception
of goodwill, which is analyzed at the time of
each purchase. Additional goodwilt is charged
to equity.

(f} Internal transactionsfintercompany items
All purchases and sales between Group
companies, intra Group expenses, as well as
receivables and liabilities have been eliminated
in the consolidated statements.

(g) Associates

Associates, in which TOMRA has an
ownership interest of 20-50% and significant
influence over operational and financial
decisions, are included in the consolidated
accounts based on the equity method. The
Group's share cof the profit from associates is
reported under financial items in the income
statement.

VALUATION AND CLASSIFICATICN
PRINCIPLES

Estimatlons

The preparation of the annual accounts of
TOMRA involves the use of estimates. The
estimates are based on a number of
assumptions and forecasts that, by their
nature, invalve uncertainly. Various

tactors could cause TOMRA's actual results
to dilfer materially from those projected in

the estimates, This includes, but is not limited
to: 1} cash flow jorecast from business units
supporting the carrying amount of goodwill and
deferred tax assets, 2) provisions for warranty,
3) assumptions for catculation of pension
obligation.

{a} Revenue recognition

Revanue on product sales and sales-type
leaseas ol the company's products is generally
recognized at the time of installation, Revenue
on servica contracts and operating leases of
the ¢ompany's products is recognized over

the terms of the related agreements. Other
service revenue is recoghized when services
ara provided.

(b} Cost recognition

Costs are expensed in the same period as
the income to which they relate is racognized.
Costs that can not be directly related 1o
income are expensed as incurred.

{c) Expenses

Operating lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are
recognized in the income statement on &
straight-line basis over the term of tha lease.
Lease incentives received are recognized in
the inceme statement as an irtegral part of the
total lease expense.

Finance lease payments

Minimum tease payments are apportioned
between the finance charge and the reduction
of the cutstanding liability. The finance charge is
allocated to each peniod during the lease term
50 a5 lo procuce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

Net financing costs

Net tinancing costs comprise interest

payable on borrowings calculated using the
effective interes! rate method, interest
receivable on funds invested, dividend income,
foreign exchange gains and losses, and gains
and losses on hedging instruments that are
recognized in the income statement.

Interest income is recognized in the income
statament as it accrues, using the

effective interest method. Dividend income

is recognized in the income statement on the
date the entity's right to receive payments is
astablished, The interest expense component
of finance lease payments is recognized in the
income statement using the effectiva interest
rate method.




{d) Derivative tinancial instruments

When gualifying tor hedge accounting in accord-
ance with IAS 39, the effective portion of the gain
or loss on the hedging instrument is racognized
directly in equity, while any ineffective portion is
recognized immediately in the income statement.
Amcunts taken to equity are transferred to the
income staterment when the hedging transaction
affects the income statement, such as when the
hedged sale occurs. Cash flow hedging in
accordance with 1AS39 has only bean applied
once in 2006, see disclosure note 18.

All other derivative financial instruments are recog-
nized initialty at cost and are subsequently stated

at fair value. The gain or loss on remeasurement 1o
fair value is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

(=) Property, plant and equipment

Owned assets

ltems of property, plant and equipment are entered
in the accounts at original cost, with deductions for
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

I tha fair value of an item of property, plant and
equipment is lower than book value, and the decling
in value is not temporary, the asset will be writtan
down to fair value. Based on the acquisition cos!,
straight-line depreciation is applied over the eco-
namic life of the non-current assels, When relevant,
the acquisition cost includes future dismantling cost.

Whera parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have difierent useful lives, they are
accounied for as separate items of property, plant
and aquipment.

Leased assets

Leases in terms of which the Group assumes
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
are classified as finance leases. The owner-
occupied property acquired by way of finance lease
Is stated at an amount equal {o the lower of its fair
value and the present valus of the minimum lsase
payments at inception of the leasa, less
accumutated deprecialion and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs

The Group recognizes in the carrying amount of

an item of property, plant and equipment the cost

of replacing part of such an item when that cost is
incurrad if it is probable that the future economic
benelits embodied with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the itern can be measured
reliably. All other costs are recognized in the income
staterment as an expense as incurred.

(1) Intangible assets

Intangibies consist of goodwill, development cost,
entitlement to trademarks and non-competition
agreements.

Goodwill

All business combinations are accounted for by
applying the purchase method. Goodwill represents
amounts arising on acquisition of subsidiaries,
associzles and joint ventures. With respect to
business acquisitions that have occurred since

1 January 2004, goodwill represents the difference
between the cost of the acquisition and the fair
value of the net identifiable assels acquired. With
respect to acquisitions prior to this date, goodwill

is included on the basis of its deemad cost, which
represents the amount recorded under previous
GAAP. The classification and accounting treatment
of business cambinations that occurred prior to

1 January 2004 has not been reconsidered in
preparing the Group's opening IFRS balance sheet
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at 1 January 2004.

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses, Goodwill is allocated to cash-
generating units and is no longer amortized but

is tested annually for impairment. With respect

0 associales, the carrying amount of goodwill is
included in the carrying amount of the investment in
the associate.

Negative goodwill arising on an acquisition is recog-
nized immediately in prefit or loss.

Research and development

Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with
the prospect of gaining new scientific or fechnical
knowledge and understanding, is recognized in the
income statement as an expense as incurred.

Expenditura on development activilies, whereby
rasearch findings are applied to a plan or design

for the production of new or substantially improved
products and processes, is capitalized if the product
of process is technically and commercially feasible
and the Group has sufficient resources to complete
development. The expenditure capitalized includes
the cost of materials, direct labor and overhead
cosls directly attributable to preparing the assat for
use. Other development expenditure is recognized
in the income statement as an expense as incurred.
Capitalized development expenditure is stated at
cost less accumulated amortization and impairment
losses.,

We have not recetved any material govemment grants.

Other intangibles

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the
Group are stated at cost less accumulated
amortization and impairment losses. Other
intangibles are amortized over the term of the
contract. Impairment-testing was performed at year
end whare there were indications of impairment,
see note 9.

Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and
brands is recognized in the income statement as an
expanse as incurrad.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure on capitalized intangible
assels is capitalized onty when it increases the
future economic benefits embodied in the specific
assel to which it relates. All other expenditure is
expensed as incurred,

{g) Shares

Shares intended for long-term ownership are
recorded in the balance sheet under long-term
invesiments. These are valued at acquisition cost,
unless circumstances, which cannot be regarded
as of a temporary nature, exist which necessitats a
lower valuation.

(h) Inventory

Inventories of raw materials are valued at the
lower of the cost of acquisition and the fair value.
Work in progress and finished products are valued
at the lower of the cost to manufacture or net
realizable value. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less the estimated costs of complation
and setling expenses, Spare parts and parts held
by service agents are valued at cost. A deduction
i made for obsolescence where necessary.

The cost of inventories is based on the weighted
average cost principle and includes expenditura

incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing
tham to their existing location and condition. In
the case of manufactured inventories and work in
progress, cost includes an appropriate share of
overheads based on normal operating capacity.

(i} Receivables and liabilities

in foreign currencies

Receivables and liabilities are booked at the
exchange rate at the date of the balance sheet.

() Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand,
bank deposits, money market funds, and other
short-term investments with ariginal maturity of
three months or less, The parent company presents
total bank deposits in the international cash pool,
while the subsidiaries present their share of the
international cash pool as intra-group balances.

(k) Pension obligations

Pension obligations related to insured pension, as
well as the pension premium reserve, are included
in the balanca sheet using 1he net principle, Soa
Nate 16 for further details concerning pension
obligations,

Defined benefit plans

The Group's net obligation with respect to defined
benefit pension plans is calculated separately

for each plan by estimating the amount of future
benefit that employeas have earned in return for
their service in the current and prior periods. This
benelit is discounted to detarmine its present value,
and any unrecognized past service costs and their
fair value of any plan assets are deducted. The
discount rate is equal to the recommendation from
tha Norwegian Accounting Standards Board, since
there are no factors indicating a deviation from the
recommendation. The calculation is performed by
a gqualified actuary using the projected unit credit
methed. When the calculation results in a benefit to
the Group, the recognized assat is limited to the net
total of any unrecagnized past service costs and the
present value of any future refunds from the plan or
reductions in futura contnibutions to the plan.

When the benefits of a plan are improved, the por-
tion of the increased benefit refating to past service
by employees is recognized in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the average period until the
bensfits become vested. To the extent that the
benofits vest immediately, the expense is
racognized immediately in profit or loss.

Actuaria! gains ang losses are required 10 be
recognized when the cumulative unrecognizaed
amount thereof at the beginning of the period
axceeds a “corridor” The corrider is 10 percent of
the greater of the present value of the obligation
and the fair value of the assets. The corridor is
calculated separately for each plan.

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a plan where TOMRA
pays a lixed contribution to a pension fund and
where TOMRA has no obligation to pay anything
more than the contribution. The contribution is
recognized as employee benefits expenses in profit
and loss.

(1) Warranty atlocations

A general provision has been mada far future war-
ranty casts based on the previous year's turnover in
all Group companies.

(m) Taxes




The tax charge in the income statement includes
both taxes payable for the period and the change
in deferred taxes. The change in deterred taxes
reflects future taxes payable resulting from the
year's activities. Deferred taxas are determined
based on the accumulated result, which falls due
for payment in future periods, Deferred taxes
are calculated on net positive timing differences
between accounting and tax balance sheel values,
after ofisetting negative timing differences and
losses carried forward under the liability method.
See Note 10 "Taxes."

A deferred 1ax asset is recognized only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the asset can be
utilised. Deterred tax assets are reduced 1o the
extent that it is no longer probable that the related
tax benefit will be realized.

(n) Earnings per share

Earnings par share have been computed based
upen the weighted avarage number of common
shares and share equivalents outstanding during
each period. Common share equivatent recognizes
the potential dilutive effects of future exercises of
commen share warrants and employea incentive
programs payable in company shares.

(o) Cash flow statement

The cash flow statement is compiled using the
indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents include
cash, bank deposits and other short-term invest-
ments with terms not exceeding three months that
can immediately, and with no material exchange
rate exposure, be exchanged for cash.

{p) Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets,

cther than inventory and deferred tax assels (see
separate accounting policies), are reviewed at sach
balance sheet date to determine whether thera is
any indication of impairment. i any such indication
exists, the asset's recoverable amount is estimated.

For goodwill, assets that have an indefinite useful
life and intangible assets that are not yet available
for use, the recoverable amount is estimated on an
annual basis, ref. note 9.

An impairment loss is recognized whenever the
carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, Impairment
losses are recognized in the income statement.

Impairment lpsses recognized in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
cash-generating units (group of units) and then, to
reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in
the wnit {group of units), on a pro rata basis.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of assets is the greater
of their net selling price and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current markat
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the assel. For an asset that doas
nct generats targely independent cash intlows, the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Reversals of impairment
An impairment loss retative to goodwill is nat
reversed.

With respect to other asseis, an impairment loss is

reversed if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is revarsed only 1o the extent
that the assetf's carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amortization,

it no impairment loss had been recognized.

(qg) Dividends
Dividends are recognized as a liability in the period
in which they are declared.

(r} Interest-bearing borrowings

Interast-bearing borrowings are recognized initialty
at fair value less aftributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing
borrowings are stated at amortized cost with any
difference between cost and redemption value
being racognized in the income statement over the
period of the borrowings on an effective interest
basis.

{s) Share-based payment transactions

The share option program allows Group employeas
to acquire shares of the Company. The fair value

of opticns granted is recognized as an employee
expense with a corresponding increase in equity.
The fair value is measured at grant date and
spread over the pariod during which the employees
become unconditicnally entitled to the optiens.

The fair vatue of the options granted is measured
using an option pricing modet based on the Black &
Scholes-formula, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the oplions were granted.
The amount recagnized as an expense is adjusted
to reflect 1he actual number of share options that
vest except whera forfaiture is only due to share
prices not achieving the threshold for vesting.

(1) Provisions

A provision is recognized in the balance sheet
when the Group has a present legal or construc-
tive obligation as a result of a past event, and it is
probabls that an cutflow of economic benelits will
be required to settle the obligation. If the effect is
material, provisions are determined by discounting
the expecied future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assassments of the time
value of money and, where appropriate, the risks
specific to the liability.

{u) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are stated at cost.

(v) Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the
Group that is engaged sither in providing products
ar servicas {business segment}, or in providing
products or services within a particular economic
environment {geographical segment), which is
subject to risks and rewards that are different from
those of other segments.

Segment information is presented for both business
segments and geographical segments, with
business segmemnts as the primary segment.

(w} Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the
Group's business that represents a separate major
line of business or geographical area of operations
or is a subsidiary acquired axclusively with a view
to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation otsurs

upan disposal or when the cperation meats the
criteria to be classified as held for sale, if earlier.

A disposal group that is to be abandoned may also
quality.

On initial classification as discontinued operations,
ngn-current assets are classified as held far sale
and recognized at the lower of carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held
for sale are included in profit or loss, even when
there is a revatuation. The same applies to gains
and Iosses gn subsequent remeasurement.

{x) Business combinations involving entities
under common control

A business combination involving entities or
businesses under commen control is a business
combination in which all of the combining entities
or businesses are ultimately controlled by the same
party or parties both before and after the business
combination, and that control is nat transitory.

In the absence of more specific guidance, the
Group consistently applied the book value
measurement method to all common control
transactions.

{y) Share Capital

Ordinary shares

Incremental costs diractly attributable to issug of
ordinary shares and share options are recognized
as a deduction from equity.

Preference share capital

Preterence share capital is classified as equity if
it is non-redeemable, or redeemable only at the
Company's eption, and any dividends are
discretionary. Dividends thereon are recognized
as distributions within aquity.

Preference share capital is classified as a liability if
it is redeemable on a specific date or at the option
of tha shareholgers, or if dividend payments are not
discretionary. Dividends thereon are recognized as
interast expense in profit or loss.

Repurchase of share capital

When share capital recognized as equity is
repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid,
inchuding directly attributable costs, is recognized
as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares
are classified as treasury shares and are presented
as a deduction from total equity.

{z) New standards and Interpretations

not yet adopted

A number of new standards, amendmenis to stand-
ards and interpretations are not effective for the
year ended 31 December 2007, and have not been
applied in preparing these consolidated financial
statements:

IFRS 8 Operating Segments

Revised 1AS 23 Borrowing cosis

Revised IAS 1 Presantation of Financial State-
ments

IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 Share-based Paymen!

IFRIC 12 Service Concession Atrangements
IFRIC 13 Customer loyalty Programmes

IFRIC 14 1AS 19 The limit on a Defined Benefit
Assat, Minimum Funding Requirements and their
Interaction.




Accounting principles
Tomra Systems ASA - NGAAP

GENERAL

BASIC PRINCIPLES

Tha financial statements, which have been
presented in compliance with the Norwegian
Companies Act, the Norwegian Accounting
Act and Norwegian generally accepted
accounting principles, consist of the profit
and loss statement, balance sheet, cash
flow statement and notes to the accounts.

The financial statements have been
prepared based on the fundamental
principles governing historical cost
accounting, comparability, continued
operations and congruence. Transaclions
are recorded at their value at the time of
the transaction. Income is recognized at
the time of delivery of goods or services
sold. Costs are expensed in the same
period as the income 1o which they
relate is recognized,

Estimates and assumptions that may
affect the reported ameunts of assets and
liabilities and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the period,
are prepared by management based upon
their best knowledge at reporting date.
Actual results may differ from those
estimales.

VALUATION AND CLASSIFICATION
PRINCIPLES

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Machines and parts are sold Ex-works,
and revenues are recognized when risk is
transferred to the customer. Other service
revenue is recognized when services are
provided.

COST RECOGNITION

Costs are expensed in the same period as
the income lo which they relate is
recognized. Costs that can not be directly
related to income are expensed as incurred.

START-UP AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS
Start-up and research and development
costs are expensed as they are incurred.

notes
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TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Fixed assets are entered in the accounts

at original cost, with deductions for
accumulated depreciation and write-down.

If the fair value of a fixed asset is lower than
bock value, and the decline in value is not
temporary, the fixed asset will be written
down o fair value. Based on the acquisition
cosl, straight-line depreciation is applied
over the economic life of the fixed assets.

SHARES

Shares intended for long-term ownership
are racorded in the balance sheet under
long-term investments. These are valued
at acquisition cost unless circumstances,
which cannot be regarded as of a
temporary nature, exist which necessitate
a lower valuation.

RECEIVABLES AND LIABILITIES IN
FOREIGN CURRENCIES

Receivables and liabilities are booked at

the exchange rate at the date of the balance
sheet. Long term loans to subsidiaries in
foraign currency are considered part of the
net investment, and are booked at cost in
NOK.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on
hand, bank deposits, money market funds,
and other short-term investments with
original maturity of three months or less,

Tomra Systems ASA presents total bank
deposits in the international cash pool, while
subsidiaries present their share of the inter-
national cash pool as intra-group balances.

PENSION OBLIGATIONS

Pension obligations related to insured pen-
sions, as well as the pension premium
reserve, are included in the balance shaet
using the net principle. Ref. note 16.

Actuarial gains and losses are required to
be recognized when the cumulative
unrecognized amount thereof at the
beginning of the period exceeds a “corridor”

The corridor is 10 percent of the greater of
the present value of the cbligation and the
fair value of the assets. The corridor is
calculated separately for each plan.

TAXES

The tax charge in the profit and loss
account includes both taxes payable for the
period and the change in deferred taxes.
The change in deferred taxes reflects future
taxes payable resulting from the year's
activities. Deferred taxes are determined
based on the accurnulated result, which
talls due for payment in future periods.
Deferred taxes are calculated on net
positive timing differences between
accounting and tax batance sheet values,
after offsetting negalive timing differences
and losses carried forward under the liability
method in accordance with the rules set out
in the Norwegian Accounting Standard.

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

The cash flow statement is compiled

using the indirect method. Cash and cash
equivalents include cash, bank deposits and
other short-ferm investments with terms not
exceeding three months that immediately,
and with no material exchange rate
exposure, can be exchanged for cash.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The share option program allows Group
employees io acquire shares of the
Company. The fair value of options granted
is recognized as an employee expense with
a corresponding increase in equity. The fair
value is measured at grant date and spread
over the period during which the
amployaes become unconditicnally entitled
to the options. The tair vatue of the options
granted is measured using an option pricing
model based on the Black & Scholes-
formula, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were
granted. The amount recognized as an
expense is adjusted {o reflact the actual
number of share options that vest, except
where forfeitura is only due ta share prices
not achieving the threshold for vesting.




SEGMENT INFORMATION
TOMRA GROUP - IFRS

Collection Coallection
Technalogy industrial  Technology
Depaosit Materlals  Processing Non-Deposit Group
Amounts in NOK million Solutions Handling  Technology Solutions functions TOTAL Assets Investments
2005
Nordic 377 B3 460 886 188
Central Europe 433 203 536 303 9
Rest of Europe 30 30 0 0
US East & Canada 373 469 23 865 1,040 118
US Wast 379 379 168 g
Rest of the world _ . Ll 3 _4a3 5 Q
Operating revenues 1,183 B48 379 3 0 2,413
Gross contribution 541 196 174 0 0 911
- in % 48 % 23 % 48 % 38 %
Operating expenses 424 131 137 &8 20 778
Profit before other items 117 65 37 (66) (20) 133
-in% 10 % B % 10 % 6 %
Share of profit from associates 2 o] o 4] 4] 2
Investments 109 72 142 2 0 325
Investmenis in asscciates 0 44 0 0 0 44
Assets 1,226 594 477 5 592 2,994
Liabilitiss 465 118 70 2 97 752
Depreciations 86 41 12 Q 4} 140
Impairment losses recognized in P&L 37 o 0 v} [} 37
Other signiticant non-cash expenses 10 13 3 v} 0 26
2006
Nordic 422 65 487 1,214 195
Central Europe & UK 1,616 262 7 1,885 624 14
Rest of Europe 87 87 0 0
US East & Canada 301 500 31 922 942 148
US West 521 521 172 9
Rest of the wortd . : 58 4 _ 83 9 5
Operating rovenues 2,429 1,021 504 1" 0 3,965
Gross contribution 981 221 240 ()] 0 1,433
-in % 40 % 22 % 48 % 36 %
Cperaling expenses. 417 120 161 64 16 778
Profit before other items 564 101 79 (73} (16} 655
-in % 23 % 10 % 16 % 17 %
Share of profit from associates 2 0 0 0 ¢] 2
Investments 109 103 155 5 0 n
Investments in associates 0 41 0 0 0 41
Assets 1,545 700 698 18 349 3,310
Liakilities 564 a3 114 2 500 1.273
Depreciations 98 49 15 1 0 162
Impairment losses recognized in P&L 1 0 0 0 0 LR
Other significant non-cash expenses Q 0 0 0 0 0
2007
Nordic 611 78 689 1,345 45
Cantral Europe & UK 792 300 38 1,130 345 4
Rest of Europe 107 107 0 0
US East & Canada 326 463 34 823 809 96
US West 601 24 625 194 9
Rest of the world 2 104 10 116 15 3
Operating revenues 1,73 1,064 647 48 4] 3,490
Gross contribution 754 220 321 {13} [} 1,282
-in % 44 % 21 % 50 % 37 %
QOperating expenses 409 115 220 77 16 837
Profit before other ltems 345 105 101 {90) {18} 445
-in % 20 % 10 % 16 % 13 %
Share of profit from associates 2 0 Q [} 0 2
Investments 71 69 14 3 o] 157
Investments in associates 1 35 0 0 36
Assets 1,297 623 696 92 244 2,952
Liabilities 850 59 133 -l 509 1,272
Depraciations 94 44 15 1 0 154
Impairment losses recognized in P&L 0 0 7 o o 7
Other significant non-cash expenses 0 0 0 o o 0

TOMRA has divided s primary reporting

format into four business segments: Collection
Technology Deposit Sclutions, Materials
Handling, Industrial Processing Technology and
Caollection Technology Non-Deposit Solutions.

In addition the corporate overhead costs ate
reported in a separate column. The split is based
upon the risk and raturn profile of the Group's
different activities, also taking into consideration
TOMRA's intarnal reporting structure.

Collection Technology Deposit Solutions
consists of the sale, lease and servicing

of RVMs to stores in Europe and North America,
and data management systems, which monitor
container collection volumes and refated

cash flow,

Materials Handling consists of pick-ups,
transport and processing of ampty beverage

containers on behalf of baverage producers/
fillers in US East and Canada. In addition the
segment includes the collection activities in
California, where TOMRA owns and operates
collection centers outside stores.

Industrial Processing Technology consists of
TiTech VisionsertyCommodas, which produces
optical sorting systems, and Orwak Group, &
leading provider of compaction solutions for
recyclables such as cardbeard, paper and
plastics.

Collection Techonology Non-Deposit Solutions
consists of other non-deposit developmant
areas such as Japan and UK. The segment
includes the activities related to the
development of the Tomra Automated Recycling
Center (ARC), a fully automated low cost
recycling center for non-deposit markets.

Group tunctions consists of corporate functions
at TOMRA headquarters.

Assets and liabilities are distributed to the
different reporting segments, except tor cagh,
interest-bearing dett and fax positions, which
are allocated to Group functions.

There is no material segment revenue from
transactions with other segments.

The income from service activities was NOK
850 million of total NOK 3,490 million in 2007.
The income from service activities was in 2006
and 2005 respectively NOK 772 million and
NOK 572 million of total income of respectively
NOK 3,965 million and NOK 2,413 million.
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NOTE 2 INVENTORY/COST OF GOCDS SOLD

Tomra Systems ASA Group
NGAAP IFRS
2007 2006 2005 Amounts in NOK million 2007 2006 2005
COST OF GOODS SOLD
530.9 1,135.0 332.3 Cost of goods sold, gross 1,633.7 1,809.7 959.9
- - - Change in inventory 1.7 156.6 29.9
530.9 1,135.0 3323 Cost of goods sold, net 1,635.4 1,966.3 1,019.8
Cost of goods sold includes adjustment of inventory write-down of minus NOK 1.2 millien
(2006: minus NOX 6.3 million) for the parent company and NOK 4.4 million (2006: NOK 2.0 million} for the group.
INVENTORY
- Raw materials 1241 121.2
- - Work in progress 10.2 10.9
61.1 17.5 Finished goods 182.6 194.1
- - Spare parts 2t2.0 198.3
611 17.5 Total inventory 529.1 5245
- Inventory stated at fair value less costs to sell - 10.9
Inventories are not subjact to rentention of title clauses.
NOTE 3 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES
Tormra Systems ASA Group
NGAAP IFRS
2007 2008 2005 Amounts in NOK milllon 2007 2006 2005
96.7 90.9 949 Salary 7331 6957 629.6
2086 17.7 208 Sacial security tax 1198 nra 95.7
1141 147 14.2 Pension cost 26.2 238 216
- . 7.7 Equity-settled transactions" - (1.0 255
4.3 4.0 39 Other social expenses 27.7 26.6 22.2
132.7 127.3 140.7 Total employes benefits expenses 906.8 862.2 794.6
137 132 132 Number of man-years 2,020 2,006 1,920
1) Ret. note 19
NOTE 4 FINANCIAL ITEMS
Tomra Systems ASA Group
NGAAP IFRS
2007 2006 2005 Amounts in NOK million 2007 2006 2005
202.5 30.8 92.4 Dividend fram subsidiaries - - -
- - 28.0 Group contributions from subsidiaries - - -
2025 30.5 120.4 Dividend from subsidiaries 0.0 0.0 0.0
54.3 51.2 45.6 Interest income" 47 48 141
12.8 0.8 a7 Foreign exchange gain 12.8 048 3.6
67.1 52.0 49.3 Total financial income 17.5 5.6 17.7
18.6 az 3.9 Interest expenses" 19.6 3.0 2.0
1.9 2.3 2.2 Other financial expenses 26 3.0 3.2
20.5 10.5 6.1 Total financial expenses 22.2 6.0 5.2

1) Interest income and expenses for the parent company includes intarest income and expenses from subsidiaries of NOK 44.0 million

(2006: NOK 48.8 million) and NOK 4.2 million (2006: 5.9 million) respeactively.

Barrawing costs are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTE 5

NOTE &

NOTE 7

CONTINGENT LIABLILITIES

EU Commission

In September 2004, TOMRA received the EU Commission's Statement
of Objections (SO) relating to the EU Commission investigation in 200H1.
The Comemission was of the cpinion that TOMRA had exploited ifs
dominant market position in several European markets by entering into
certain supply agreements with customers. The alleged abuse is partly
due to having entered into exclusive purchase agreements with
customers and partly due to use of loyalty rebate schemes.

In Novamber 2004, TOMRA filed its written response to the Statament of
Objections where TOMRA rejected the Gommission's arguments.

The EU Commission concluded in March 2006 that TOMRA in their opin-
ion had foreclosed competition in the period 1998 to 2002 on the market
for reverse vending machines in Austria, Germany, the Netherlands,
Norway and Sweden by implementing an exclusionary strategy.

INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

Consequently, the Commissian decided to fine TOMRA EUR 24 million.

TOMRA has appealed the decision into the European Court of Justice.
The court case is expected to take place during 2008.

Supported by legal opinions, TOMRA believes it is more likety than not
that we will win the appeal. Consequently, no accrual has been made in
the batances as of December 31st related to the penalty.

Sale of Tomra South America SA

Tomra Systems ASA has in connection to the sale of Tomra South
America SA in 2005 given warranties in line with what is normal in such
transactions. If the warranties are breached, Tomra Systems ASA has to
indemnify the buyer, limited upwards to USD 5 million,

Please also see disclosure note 12,

Tomra Systems ASA Group
NGAAP IFRS
2007 2006 Amounts {p NOK millien 2007 2006
Non-current liabilities
375.0 325.0 Unsscured bank loans 375.8 336.9
- - Finance lease obligation - -
14.9 - Other non-current interast-bearing labilities 343 35.4
389.9 325.0 Total non-current interest-bearing liabilities 410.1 372.3
0.0 0.0 Due more than 5 years alter batance day 0.0 0.0
Currant liabilities
- - Current portion of finance lease liabdilities B -
- - Gurrent portion of unsecured bank loans . 7.8
5.8 - Other current interest-bearing liabililies 7.1 -
5.8 0.0 Total current Interest-bearlng liabilities 71 7.8

Tomra Systorns ASA established in Qctober 2008 a revolving bilateral five-year credit tacility of NOK 500 million. As of 31 December 2007, NOK 375
million was drawn on the facility. The loan has floating rate of interest, and has been submitted with a negative pledge commitment. The loan agreement
comprises an equity covenant, equal to 40% of total assets, measured at the end of each quarter.

RECEIVABLES

Tomra Systems ASA Group

NGAAP IFRS
2007 2006 Amounts in NOK million 2007 2006
1349 - Trade receivables, gross 738.3 8241
675.1 605.4 Intra group short-term receivables - .
24.7 25.7 Other short-term receivables, gross” 151.8 158.7
(50.1) (0.4} Provision for bad debt (6.5) (10.2)
662.8 630.7 Total recelvables 884.6 §72.6

1} Other shart-term receivables includes forward contracts of NOK 8.1 miflion.

Total bad debt written-off in 2007 amounted o NOK 49,7 million (2006: NOK 0.0 million) for the parent company and NOK 7.1 million
{2006: NOK 3.2 million) for the Group. Bad debt written off is reported as other operating expenses. Receivables with due dates more than one year

after the balance date, are reported as non-current assets.

Trade receivables fall due:

Amounts in NOK million 2007 2006
Not due yet 219.7 236.8
0 - 30 days 391.6 414.8
31- 60 days 65.2 90.7
61 - 90 days 23.2 247
Qlder than 90 days 39.5 571
Total trade receivables 739.3 8241




NOTE 8

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

GROUP - IFRS Land & Machinery & Leasing

Amounts in NOK million bulldings” Fixtures Vehicles equipment Total
Cost

Balanca at 1 January 2005 2274 428.3 775 421.5 1154.4
Acquisitions through business combinations 0.0 9.9 0.0 57 15.6
Other acquisitions 13.9 84.2 15.6 51.7 165.4
Disposals (14.8) (90.6) (14.8) (52.6} (172.6)
Eftect of movements in foreign exchanga" 18.5 348 6.4 54.8 114.4
Balance at 31 December 2005 244.7 456.4 84.9 481.1 12774

Balance at 1 January 2006 244.7 466.4 84,9 481.1 12771

Acquigitions through business combinations 0.0 7.2 0.1 0.0 73
Other acquisitions 5.8 114.4 19.9 47.0 187.1

Disposals 42.3) (28.4) (11.2) {52.3) {134.2)
Etfect of movements in foreign exchange? {10.9) {22.8) 4.9) {37.5) {76.1)
Balance at 31 December 2006 197.3 536.8 88.8 438.3 1261.2

Batance at 1 January 2007 197.3 536.8 88.8 438.3 1261.2

Acquisitions through business combinations 0.0 0.0 Q.0 Q.0 0.0

Other acquistions 71 825 14,2 29.2 133.0

Disposals (9.8) (3.3) (3.4) {11.3) {27.8)
Effect of movements in foraign exchange? {15.3) (44.6) (10.4) {62.2) (132.5)
Balance at 31 December 2007 179.3 571.4 89.2 394.0 1233.9

Depreciation and impairment losses

Balance at 1 January 2005 34.8 256.3 45.2 281.4 B17.7

Depreciation charge for the year® 8.9 50.3 12.0 50.8 122.0

Disposals (1.6) (52.7) (10.1) (39.9) (104.3)
Effect of movernents in foreign exchange” 37 16.6 25 348 57.6

Balance at 31 December 2005 45.8 270.5 49.6 3271 693.0

Balance at 1 January 2006 45.8 270.5 49.6 3274 693.0

Depreciation charge for the year 9.4 62.0 1.2 50.4 133.0

Disposals (4.4} (10.9) (4.6) (32.0) (51.9)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange?® (3.0} (11.0) {3.0) {25.1) (42,1}
Balance at 31 December 2006 47.8 310.6 53.2 320.4 732.0

Balance at 1 January 2007 47.8 310.6 53.2 320.4 732.0

Depreciation charge for the year 74 65.2 1.4 44.3 128.3

Disposals (8.6} (0.7} {3.4) (5.2 (17.9}
Effect of movements in foreign exchange® {4.7) {23.9) 6.7} (45.6) (80.9}
Balance at 31 December 2007 1.9 351.2 54.5 313.9 761.5

Depreciation rate® 2-4 % 10-33 % 15-33 % 10-20 %

Useful lite 50 yrs 10 yrs 7 yrs 5-10 yrs

Carrytng amounts

1 January 2006 198.9 195.9 35.3 154.0 584.1

31 December 2006 149.5 226.2 35.6 17.9 528.2

31 December 2007¢ 137.4 220.2 347 80.1 472.4

Finance leases carrying amounts {(as included in total carrying amounts})

1 January 2006 0.0 5.3 0.0 0.0 5.3

31 December 2006 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

31 December 2007 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

1) Exchange rates as of 31 December 2005 are used in calculating tangible assets of foreign subsidiarias,
2) Exchange rates as of 31 December 2006 are used in calculating tangible assats of foreign subsidiaries.
3) Exchange rates as of 31 December 2007 are used in calculating tangible assets of foreign subsidiaries.

4) tncluding land of NOK 19,6 million as of 31 December 2007
5) All depreciation plans are linear.
6) Not including depreciations from discontinued operations of NOK 4.2 million

Minimum lease payments under

operational lease of offices 2007 2006
Not tater than one year 39.6 39.1
Between one and five years 128.2 144.2
More than five years 98.4 102.1

Leasing equipment

The companies within the TOMRA group had 7,307 reverse vending machines leased 1o customers a1 the end of 2007. The table shows the minimum
lgasing income from today's lease portialio. In addition 1o this incorne, TOMRA will receive income from materials handling, service contracts etc.

Minimum lease income from leasing equipment 2007 2006
Mot later than one year 41.1 47.0
Between one and fiva years 84.1 98.2
More than five years 0.1 0.8
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NOTE 8 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
cont.

TOMRA SYSTEMS ASA - NGAAFP Machinery &
Amounts In NOK milllon Fixtures Vehicles Total
‘ Cost
Balance at 1 January 2005 85.0 1.3 86.3
, Acquisitions 8.9 0.0 8.9
| Disposals 0.0 {1.1) 1.1
| Batance at 31 December 2005 93.9 0.2 94.1
l Balance at 1 January 2006 93.9 0.2 94.1
Acquisitions 0.0 1.7 1.7
Disposals 127 0.0 12.7
l Balance at 31 December 2006 106.6 19 108.5
Batance at 1 January 2007 106.6 1.9 108.5
Acquistions 8.2 0.6 as
Disposals 0.0 0.2 0.2
‘ Balance at 31 December 2007 114.8 2.3 171
Depreciation and impalrment losses
Balance at 1 January 2005 67.0 0.5 67.5
Depreciation charge for the year 7.8 0.0 7.8
Disposals 0.0 {0.3) (0.3)
Balance at 31 December 2005 74.8 0.2 75.0
| Balance at 1 January 2006 74.8 0.2 75.0
' Depreciation charge for the year 9.7 0.1 9.8
Disposals 0.0 0.0 0.0
Balance at 31 Decembaer 2008 B84.5 0.3 84.8
Balance at 1 January 2007 84.5 0.3 84.8
Depreciation charge tor the year 12.7 0.4 13.1
Disposals 0.0 0.2 0.2
Balance at 31 December 2007 97.2 0.5 97.7
Depreciation rate® 10-32 % 15-33 %
Uselul lite 10 yrs 7 yrs
Carrying amounts
I 1 January 2006 19.1 0.0 19.1
| 31 December 2008 221 1.6 23.7
: 31 December 2007 17.6 1.8 19.4
‘ 1} All depreciation plans are lingar.
Minimum lease payments under operational lease of offices 2007 2006
Not later than one year 10.6 10.4

Between ona and five years 33.0 34.4
More than five years 54.6 64.0




NOTE 2 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

GROUP - IFRS

Amounts in NOK million Goodwill Development costs Patents Other Total

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2005 719.3 80.4 10.0 38.5 548.2

Acquisitions through business combinations 101.0 1.8 0.0 0.0 102.8

Qther acquisitions -internally davaloped 0.0 358 24 3.3 391

Disposals (180.8) 0.0 0.0 0.0 (120.8)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange® 51.2 0.0 0.0 3.4 54.3
Balance at 31 December 2005 680.7 118.0 10.0 44.9 853.6

Balance at 1 January 2006 680.7 118.0 10.0 44.9 853.6

Acquisitions through business combinations 124.6 0.0 4.8 0.0 129.4

Other acquisitions -internally developed 0.0 291 0.0 18.6 47.7

Disposals 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Eftect of movements in foreign exchange® (29.5) 0.5 0.0 (2.5) (31.5)
Balance at 31 December 2006 775.8 147.6 14.8 61.0 949.2

Balance at 1 January 2007 775.8 147.6 14.8 61.0 999.2

Acquisitions through business combinations 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 c.0

Qther acquisitions -internally developed 0.0 121 2.0 10 24.2

Dispasals (31.3) 0.0 0.0 0.0 {31.3)
Effect of mavements in foreign exchange® {26.7) 0.0 0.0 {5.1} (31.8)
Batance at 31 December 2007 717.8 159.7 16.8 66.0 960.3

Depreciation and impairment losses

Balance at 1 January 2005 184.0 213 0.5 21.8 227.6

Depreciation charge for the year 0.0 13.8 1.0 29 7.7

Impairment iosses" 0.2 16.0 0.0 1.0 37.2

Disposals (30.6) 0.0 0.0 0.0 {30.8)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange* 16.3 0.9 0.0 2.8 19.1

Balance at 31 December 2005 178.9 51.1 1.5 8.5 271.0

Balance at 1 January 2006 179.9 51.1 1.5 385 271.0

Depreciation charge for the year 0.0 241 1.5 37 29.3

Impairmant losses" a0 1.2 0.0 0q nz

Disposals 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Eftect of movements in foreign exchange® {23.5) 0.3 0.0 (1.9} (25.1)
Bealance at 31 December 2006 156.4 86.7 3.0 40.3 286.4

Balance at 1 January 2007 156.4 886.7 3.0 40.3 286.4

Depraciation charge for the year 0.0 20.0 1.7 4.0 25.7

Impairment losses? 5.0 1.9 0.0 0.0 6.9

Disposals 0.0 0.0 0.0 (0.9) {0.9)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange® (9.5) 0.2 0.0 25 {6.8)
Balance at 31 December 2007 151.9 108.8 4.7 45.9 311.3

Depreciation rate? 0 % 14-33 % 10 % 5-33 %

Useful life Indefinite 3-7 yrs 10 yrs 3-20 yrs

Carrying amounts

1 January 2006 500.8 £6.9 8.5 6.4 582.6
3 December 2006 619.4 60.9 1.8 207 712.8

31 December 2007 565.9 50.9 121 20.1 649.0

1) Impairment losses are specified as a separate line item in the Income Statemend. The impairment losses consist of RAD projects that are
no longer in production, and do not give inflow to the Group anymore. For impairment loss on Goodwill $ee below.

2) Al depreciation ptans are ¥near.

3) The disposal of goodwill is reduction of earn-out for the aquisition of Cormmodas

4) Exchange rate as of 31 December 2005 are used in calculating intangible assets of foreign subsidiaries.

5) Exchange rate as of 31 December 2006 are used in calculating intangible assets of foreign subsidiaries.

6) Exchange rate as of 31 December 2007 are usad in calculating intangible assets of foreign subsidiaries.

Specification of goodwill impairment losses 2007 2008 2005
Tomuea Switzerland (included in BU Central Europe) - - 10.2
Presona (included in Orwak Group) 5.0 - -
Total impairment losses recognized 5.0 0.0 10.2

In addition NOK 8¢ miltion was written down in 2005, related to BU South America, s¢¢ also note 23

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing goedwill
The following units have significant carrying amounts of goodwill:

Amounts in NOK million 2007 2008
US West 110.8 124.4
Nordic 16.4 17.4
Central Eurcpe 64.9 66.2
Titech Vistonsaort 281.7 3131
Orwak Group" g82.0 98.4
Total 565.8 519.4

1} Including NGK 20 million of goodwill in Presona AB {2006: NOK 25 milllion),

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating units is based on value in use calculations. Those calcufations use cash flow projections based on actual
operating results and the five-year business plan including a residual valua, A growth rate is not used on the predicted cash flows. A pre-lax discount rate of
10.1 percent has been used in discounting the projected cash flows, basod upon a 10 year risk free interest rate of 4.7 + 5.4 in risk prermium.

An impaitment loss of NOK 5 million was recognized for the goodwill of Prasona A8 in 2007, The remaining racoverable amounts exceed the camying amounts
and ne additional impairment loss needs ta be recognized, as budgets and forecasts for the coming vears support the remaining carrying amounts. Reforence
is also made to the Board of Directors report for further description.

Neither an increase of the interest rate of 2,5 percent points, nor a reduction of forecasted cashflows of 20 percent, will trigger a writedown of goodwill,
except for Presona AB.

Research and development expenditure

Research and development expenditura of NOK 156.9 million has been recognzed as an expensa {2006: NOK 131.9 million) and NOK 12.1 million is
capitalized (2006: NOK 29.1 million).
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NOTE 12

TAXES
Tomra Systems ASA Group
AAP IFRS
2007 2006 2005  Amounts in NOK milion 2007 2006 2005
TAX BASIS
296.2 278.1 {93.7) Profit before taxes
(202.5) (30.8) - Dividend from subsidiaries
(1.9} (33.2) 39.0 Permanent differences
21.8 {B7.2) 54.7 Change in temposary differencas
1136 126.9 0.0 Basis for taxes payable
TAXES
31.8 35.5 - Taxes payable 129.9 176.7 62.5
1.3 06 - QOwer accrued tax last year . . -
(6.1 24.5 {15.3) Net change in deferred taxes 20.7 39.6 {7.3)
270 €0.6 {15.3) Tax expense 150.6 216.3 55.2
Effective tax rate
Taxes based upon actual tax rales 140.5 318% 2024 309% 576 39.0%
Taxes an equity settled transactions - 00% 3.8 4.8 % (28) -1.9%
Tax effect from permanent differences 101 23% {179y -27% 04 03%
Actual tax expense 1506 34.0% 2163 33.0% 552 374 %

Deferred tax represents the net change in deferred tax assets and liabilities through changes in timing ditferences and loss carried forward. Deferred
tax assels and liabilities are presented net of their respective tax effect using tax rate of the applicable jurisdiction applied to amounts which represent
future tax daductions or taxes payable and consist of the following as of 31 December.

Torra Systems ASA Group
NGAAP IFRS
2007 2006 Amounts in NOK million 2007 2006
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
0.3 0.3 Inventory 34.9 39.5
11.9 (0.4} Other current assals 13.0 3.6
20.7 15.6 Intangible nen-current assets 6.3 {9.9)
1.1 0.1} Tangible non-current assets 3.0 (26.8)
(22.9) {10.2) Financial non-current assets (23.0} (7.8)
7 39 Provisions 82 5.4
51 5.3 Other current liabilities 8.5 14.7
0.8) 2.2 Pension reserves {0.8) 2.2
- - Loss carried forward 27 421
22,5 16.4 Tota! tax advantage 52.8 63.0
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
Inventory (2.0) -
QOther current assets 17.0 2.6
Intangible non-current assets 25.6 3.4
Tangible non-current assets 5.4 138
Provisions {9.8) -
Loss carried forward {5.9) -
Total deferred tax liabilities 30.3 19.8

Negative and positive timing ditferences, which reverse or may reverse in the same period, are cffsel. Deferred taxes are calcutated on the basis of

timing diffarencas and losses carried forward which are offset. Timing differences betwean different subsidiaries have not been offsat. During the period that
these ditferences revarse, the companies will have a taxable net income that is sufficient to realize the deferred tax allowance. The loss carried forward is
all in countries where we have taxable profit in 2007, and expect taxable profit in the future as well. All loss carried forward is due after 2010.

There has not besn any material effects in either deferred tax or tax expenses for the year, retated to changes in tax rates in the jurisdictions TOMRA
operates.

OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Tomra Systems ASA Group

NGAAP IFRS
2007 20086 Amounts in NOK millien 2007 2006
17.7 14.8 Tax fleductions, social security tax, holiday pay 142.1 130.5
48.7 6.9 Advances from customers 122.2 70.9
69.9 65.8 Dividend accruals - -
53.8 54.2 Mon interest-bearing debi” 120.7 167.8
190.1 141.7 Total other current liabilities 385.0 360.2

1) Non interast-bearing debt includes forward contracts of NOK 1.9 million.

PROVISIONS

TOMRA SYSTEMS ASA - NGAAP

Ampunts in NOK million Warranty Other  Total
Balance at 1 January 2007 9.8 41 13.9
Provisions mads during the year 25.9 - 25.9
Provisions used during the year (8.8) (0.8) (9.6)
Provisions _reversed during the year {3.9) (1.0) (4.9)
Balance at 31 December 2007 23.0 2.3 253
GROUP - IFRS

Amounts in NOK million Warranty Other  Total
Balance at 1 January 2007 111.9 67 186
Provisions made during the year 75.4 - 75.4
Provisions used during the year {92.3) {2.6) (94.9)
Provisions reversed during the ygar (6.3} {1.0) (7.3)
Batance at 31 December 2007 88.7 a1 91.8

Warranty provisions relate to accruals for service-expenses assumed to oceur during tha period sold machines are covered by warraniies given to
tha customer. Cther provisions comprise of other provisions for contractual obligations with business partners, accrued social security taxes related to
vested, not exercised share options and provisions for known claims covered by Tomra in connection to the sale of its Brazilian operations in 2005.
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Amounts In NOK, if not stated otherwise

Identification of related parties

The Group has a ralated party relationship with its subsidiaries and associates (soe disclosura note 14 and 15) and with its diractors and exacutive officars. All
transactions with related parties are based on arms langth principtes.

The tables below show all benefits that were received by board members and group management tor the stated years,

2007 Share- Board Committee Cptlons Other Other
Board members holding"” fees® fees? vested® Satary” benefits'® fees't
Jan Chr. Opsahl [Chairman) 80,000 6B0,000 30,000

Jargen Randers (Board member) 32,100 365,000 35,000

Hanne de Mora (Board member) 8,000 365,000 30,000

Rune Bjerke {Board member) 365,000 30,000

Grele Aasved (Board member) 365,000

Hege Marie Norheim (Board member) 1,000

Jo Luncer (Board member)'®

Svein Jacobsen (Audit Comittee) 35,000

Halvor Loken {Nomination Comittee) 35,000 200,000
Tom Knoff {Nomination Comittee) 30,000

Klaus Naero {Employee representative) 312 210,000 3,600 409,882 7,008

Karen Michelet (Employee representative) 2,020 210,000 960 396,762 11,967

Marit Christensen {(Employee represenative) 3,600 522,474 7.554

2007 Share- Variable Pension Other

Group Managemant holding” Loan? Salary” salary® premiums® beneflts'®

Amund Skarboll (CEQ)? 30,000 3,240,000 1,560,000 324,000 156,565

Gregory Knoll (Prasident, BU North America} USD 393,000 USD 210,000 - USD 16,308

Espen Gundarsen {CFC}) 10,000 1,860,000 500,000 427,011 228,286

Harald Henriksen {SVP Technology) 1,400,000 1,550,000 £84,000 386,612 301,046

Hakan Erngren (VP, Tomra Nordic) SEK 1,680,000 SEK 650,000 SEK 348,484 SEK 189,319

Heiner Bevers (MD, Tomra Germany) 2,000 EUR 242,000 EUR 118,000 EUR 4,447 EUR 6,528

Rune Marthinussen (MD, TiTech Visionsort) 10,000 1,550,000 732,000 331,021 161,689

Trond Johannaessen (SVP Business Development) 15,000 500,000 1,550.000 750,000 210,331 203,062

Fradrik Witlte (CFQ, BU North America) 1,100 USD 204,712 USD 84,500 194,044 62,536

Ton Klumper (VP, Tomra Western and Eastern Europe) EUR 138,000 - EUR45173 EUR 21,212

2006 Share- Board Committee Options Other Other
Board membars holding” faas® tees® vasted® Salary” Benefits'™ Fees™
Jan Chr. Opsahl (Chairman} 20,000 650,000 25,000

Jergen Randers (Board mamber) 32,100 350,000 25,000

Hanne de Mora (Board member) 6.000 350,000 25,000

Rune Bierke (Board member) 350,000 25,000

Grethe Aasved {Board member) 175,000

Svein Jacobsen (Audit Comittee)} 175,000 25,000

Halvor Loken (Nomination Comittes) 25,000 30,000
Tom Knoff (Nomination Comittes) 25,000

Klaus Naero {Employee representative) 3nz 200,000 3,600 364,808 6.676

Karen Michelet (Employee representative) 2,040 200,000 960 351,696 45,304

2006 Share- Variable Option Pension Other
Group Management holding" Loan? Salary” salary” gafn premiums® beneflts'™
Amund Skarhofl (CEGH 3,058,083 1,125,600 - 312,000 126,525
Gregory Knoll (Prasidgent, BU North America) USD 380,000 USD 200,000 4,318,150 - USD 11,400
Espen Gunderssn {CFC) 1,800,000 900,000 2.777,000 413,951 232,007
Harald Henriksen (SVP Technoiogy} 1,400,000 1,368,000 500,000 3,058,450 287,427 114,736
Hikan Erngren {VP, Tomra Nordic) SEK 1,300,000  SEK 650,000 B33,100  SEK 342,396 SEK 95,400
Heiner Bevers (MD, Tomra Germany) 2,000 EUR 234,000 EUR 116,000 1,610,300 EUR 4,480 EUR 20,801
Rune Marthinussen (MD, TiToch Visionsort) 1,464,000 560,000 833,100 411,268 147,549
Trond Johannessen (SVP Business Developmaent) 2,000 500,000 1,500,000 500,000 1,388,500 221,518 164,570
Fredrik Witta (CFQ, BU North America) 1,100 US0 190,000 UsD 70,000 1,847,982 293,771 UsD 11,112

Before 2006 TOMRA had option pregrams for employees and managers. For further details about the option progams, see disclosure note 18. Harald
Henriksen (SVP Technology) was the only member of the Group managment who was in passession of options in 2007; 30,000 options from the 2005-2007

plan, which were not exarcised in 2007.

Loan io employses as of 31 December amount to NCK 3.1 million (2006: NOK 3.3 million) for the pareni company and NOK 3.1 million {2006: NOK 3.8 million}

for the group.

1) Shareholding

The column shows number of shares owned by the Board members, officers and companies controlled by them and their families.

2) Remuneration CEQ

Amund Skarholt can in 2007 earn a variable salary up to 50% of his fixed salary, based upon the Group's performanca, He also participates in the Long Term

Incentive Plan (see below). The CEO is entitled to 12 months salary as severance pay, in the case of dismissal.

3) Loans to management

Loans in NOK as of 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2007. The loans are secured by mortgage in real estate and are interest and instaliment free.

4) Board fees

The column comprises Board member fees paid out in the year for the previous year,

5) Commitieq tees

Tha column comprises the fees related to participation in the Audit, Compensation, and Nomination Cemmities paid out in the year for the previous year.

6) Options vested

Employee representatives’ vested, but not exercised options as of year-end.

7) Salary
The cotumn ¢omprises ortinary salary received in the year.

8) Variabte salary

The column comprises bonus to Group Managemant members received in the baginning of the year, based upon the previous years performance. The

amounts do not include payments from the LTIP-program, described below.

$) Pension premlums

The Group Managemant members participata in pansion plans as other empioyees in the jurisdiction they are employed. The GEQ was not included in the
defined banefit plan, but received instead a fixed compengation. For further description of the pension plan, see disclosure note 16.
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NOTE 13 RELATED PARTIES
cont.

10} Other beneflts
The column comprises the value of other benelits received by the Group Management members during the year, including value of interest-free loans, car
allowance, health insurance etc.

11) Other fees
Other fees recoived by Board and Comittes members consist of NOK 200,000 in compansation for recruiting new board members in 2007, and NCK 30,000 for
other HR related services in 2006. :

12) Sharehelding Beard member
Board member Jo Lunder holds the position of President in Ferd ndustnial Holding, which had a holding of 2,900,000 shares in TOMRA at 31 December 2007.

Extract from principles tor remuneration of Group Management

Salary should include both a fixed and a variable part. The variable salary may amount to a maximum of 55% of the fixed salary. Fringe benefits should be
moderate and onfy account for a limited part of the ramuneration package. There should be no special pansion plans for Group Management members. In 2006
the option program in TOMRA was replaced by a long term incentive plan for Group Management members (see below). The entire principles for remuneration of
Group Management are found under the Corporate Governance section of the annual report.

Long Term Incentive Plans (LTIP)

Al the end of 2005 TOMRA established a long term cash-based incantive plan, where managers receive bonus based upon yearly growth in the Group’s and local
unit's profit and performance. The bonus for @ach year is placed in an interestbearing account in a virtual bonus bank, from which individual holdings will be paid
over a period of three years. If a manager resigns, his or her ramaining holding is lost. For 2008, the maxitmum bonus each Group manager ¢an earn is capped at

NOK 3,198,000,
Balance Earned Paid out Balance
31.12,2007 2007 2007 31.12.2006
Amund Skarholt {CEO) 3,420 574 2,104,574 658,000 1,974,000
Gregory Knoll (President, BU North America) USD 597,769 UsD 387,381 USD 105,184  USD 315,582
' Espen Gundersen (CFO) 3,420,574 2,104,574 658,000 1,974,000
Harald Henriksen (SVP Technology} 3420574 2,104,574 658,000 1,974,000
Hakan Erngren (VP, Tomra Nordic) SEK 3,928,054 SEK 2,483,805 SEK 722,125 SEK 2,168,374
Heiner Bevers (MD, Tomra Germany) EUR 423,843 EUR 264,096 EUR 79,874 EUR 239,621
Rune Marthinussen (MD, TiTech Visionsort) 2,762,574 2,104,574 329,000 987,000
Trond Johannessen (SVP Business Cevelopment) 3,420,574 2,104,574 658,000 1,974,000
Fradrik Witte (CFQ, BU North America) USD 268,885 USD 193,681 uUsD 52,597 USD 157,791

. Ton Klumper (VP, Tornra Westem and Eastorn Europe) EUR 64,123 EUR 64,123 - -

The collective compensatlon for key management perscnnel s as follows (17 managers in 2007, 18 in 2006 and 20 in 2005):

Amounts in NOK million 2007 2006 2005
| Short-term employee benefits 35.9 27.1 26.5
| Post-employment benelits 2.6 2.3 4.6
Tarmination benefits - - 12.5
Share-based payment* 5.2

*Share-based payment equals cost charged as an expense in accordance with IFRS2,
Total remuneration is included in “amployes berefit axpenses” (see disclosure note 3}.

Transactions with subsidlaries
Transactions between the Group companias, which are related parties, have been eliminated in the consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.

] - -
Total 385 295 48.8
‘ Auditors’ fees

2007 2006 2005
Amounts in NOK mlillion Parent Group Farent Group Parent . Group
Statutory audit 1.0 6.1 1.1 6.0 06 4.4
QOther attestation services - +N] - - 01 04
Tax consulting - 1.7 - 1.0 - 1.5
QOther services 0.1 0.5 0.2 0.1 0.5 0.6
Total 11 8.4 1.3 71 1.2 6.9

Statutory audit fees to KPMG for the Group are NOK 4.9 million, and fees to other auditors are NOK 1.2 mitiion.

NOTE 14 SHARES AND INVESTMENTS

TOMRA SYSTEMS ASA - NGAAP

Year of Vote and
Amounts in NOK million Country acquisition owner ghare Book value
Tomra Nerth America Inc USA 1992 100.0 % 1,166.2
Tomra Systems Inc Canada 1988 100.0 % 42.5
Tomra Europe AS Norway 1998 100.0 % 10.0
Tomra Production AS Norway 1998 100.0 % 15.0
Tormra Canada Inc Canada 2000 100.0 % 37.3
Tomra Japan Asia Pacific KK Japan 2000 100.0 % 0.0
Orwak Group AB Swedan 2005 100.0 % 110.6
TiTech Visionsort AS Norway 2004 100.0 % 208.2
Tormra Systems Ltd. United Kingdom 2008 100.0 % 23
Total shares in subsidfaries 1,592.1
A long term lcan to the subsidiary Tomra Nerth America Inc of NOK 374 0n 30 November 2006, the Group sold its subsidiary Tomra AG. Tomra AG
millienUSD 54 million, is treated as part o! net investments in 1he is included in the P/ with revenues of NOK 3.5 million and a loss before 1ax
consolidated amounts. In the pareni company it is booked at cost and of NOK 3.6 million in 2006,

reported under loans to subsidiarias.
Tomra AG was in 2006 sold at a price equal to the book value of NOK 6.7
Tomra South America SA was sold in 2005 at a loss of NOK 136.8 million million,
to the parent company. For effect on the consolidated ligures, please see
note 23.

Tomra Systems OY was kquidated in 2005. The liquidation gave a positive
effect of NOK 11.5 million to the parent company. The effact on the consoli-
dated figures was zero.




NOTE 16
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Amounts in NOK million Ulire-PET Tomra s.r.0. Tomra Baltic Total_
Book value 31 December 2006 40.3 - 0.3 406
Pratit 2007 - 1.5 0.4 1.9
Dividends and equity infusions - (1.4} - {1.4)
Currency iranslation difference (5.4) (0.1} - (5.5}
Book value 31 December 2007 349 0.0 0.7 35.6
Equity at date of acquisition 41.0 0.0 0.0
Country USA  Czech Repubiic Estonia
‘fear of acquisition 1999 19898 2005
Vote and share awnership 49% 40% 40%
Summary financial information for assoclates on 100% basis:
2007 . Total
Assels 5135 95 93 7037
Liabilities 3B 3.3 7.4 42.5
Equity 19.7 8.1 1.8 276
Revenuas 157.9 16.2 20.8 194.9
Profit/(loss) 0.0 4.6 1.6 6.2
2006 . Total
Assetls 59,5 70 39 70.4
Liabilities 367 1.8 3.2 417
Equity 22.8 5.2 0.8 28.8
Revenues 168.5 17.4 5.8 1.7
Profit/{loss) 0.0 3.8 0.3 4.1
PENSION AND PENSION OBLIGATIONS
Tomra Systoms ASA Group
NGAAP IFRS
2007 2006 2005 Amounts in NOK million 2007 2006 2005
EXPENSE RECOGNIZED IN THE INCOME STATEMENT
13.3 12.5 1.8 Current servica cost 13.3 12.5 1.8
5.3 5.9 5.5 Interest cost of pension abligations 53 59 5.6
@7 (6.3} (5.5) Expected return on plan assets {4.7) (6.3} {5.5)
(7.1) - - Effect from closed plan (7.1} -
2.4 0.8 0.5 Actuarial gains and losses 2.4 0.8 0.5
1.1 1.8 1.8 Social security tax included in pension cost 1.1 1.8 1.8
10.3 14.7 14.2 Net pension costs 10.3 14.7 14.2
FINANCIAL STATUS AS OF 31 DECEMBER
127.6 136.4 128.2 Present value of funded pension obligations 1276 136.4 128.2
{106.0) {93.3} (100.1) Fair value of plan assets (106.0) {93.3) (1001}
(24.1) (36.4} {15.8) Unrecognized actuarial gains & losses (24.1} (36.4) (15.6}
{0.4) 1.0 1.7 Social security tax obligation (0.4) 1.0 1.7
{2.9) 77 14,2 Pension liability {2.9) 7.7 14.2
BASIS FOR CALCULATION
4.70% 4.35% 4.70%  Discount rate 4.70% 4.35% 4.70%
4.50% 4.50% 3.00% Expected wage increase 4.50% 4.50% 3.00%
4.25% 4.25% 3.00%  Expectad increase of base amount 4.25% 4.25% 3.00%
5.75% 5.45% 5.70%  Expected return on plan assets 31 December 5.75% 5.45% 570%
MOVEMENTS IN THE NET LIABILITY FOR
DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS AS RECOGNIZED
IN THE BALANCE SHEET
7.7 14,2 20.5 Nat liability at 1 January 17 14.2 20.5
{20.9) {21.2} {20.5) Contributions received (20.9) {(21.2) (20.5)
10.3 14.7 14.2 Expanse recognized in the Income Statement (*) 10.3 14.7 14.2
(2.9) 7.7 14.2 Net liabllity at 31 December {2.9) 7.7 14,2
(") The expense is recognized in the following
iine item in the income statement
8.9 14.7 14.2 Employee benefits expenses 8.9 14.7 14.2
GROUP - IFRS Due to changes in the tax regulations the pension premium paid is

All employees in Norway have until the end of 2006 been covered by

a collective pension plan, where the insured pension plans covered all
employees in Norway in permanent positions with at least 50 percent of
full time employment and below an age of 57 years at the employment
date. Tha pension plan was structured as a retirerment net agreement

in that it guaranteed a supplement to the State benefits. There has not
been any agreements for compensation of reductions in State benefits.
The ptan gives right to defined uture benelits {defined bensfit ptan). The
benefit is mainly dependent upon years within the plan, salary at date of
retirement and compensation from the Stata. The obligations are covered
through Storebrand insurance company. Tha plan should ensure that the
employees would get a pansion of about 65% of salary, if they had futl
contribution time, limited upwards to 12G.

In 2007, TOMRA established a defined contribution plan, where TOMRA
contributes with 5% of salary betwean 1 and G and 8% of salary
between 8 and 12G. The old defined benelit plan for salary up to 12G
was at the same time closed for naw members, so all new employees
from january 2007 are members of the recently established defined
contribution plan instead.

Employees that were members of the defined benefit plan, could choose
if they wanted to stay in this plan or join the new defined benefit plan.
Employees that chose to change pansion plan got a paid up policy for
the benefit they had earned under the old plan. In totat 65 employees
chose {0 change pension plan.

In addition TOMRA had a separata pension plan for benefits aver 126G,
with the same coverage as the plan up to 12G. Until tha end of 2006 the
pension pramium for such plans was not taxable for the receiver, but it
would be taxabte when the pensicn was paid out. The pension premium
was not tax deductible for tha company.

60

taxable from 1 January 2007 for the employee, while only the return of
the pension is taxable when it is paid out. The pension premium is also
tax deductible for the company,

To eliminate the effect of the changes in tax regulation for employees,
ihe pension plan was adjusied to keep the benelit after tax unchanged
for the employee. This is done by adjusting the pension premium down
to a level where the employee will gel the same henefit after lax as
under the former pension plan. In addition TOMRA compensates the
employees tax on the pension premium.

The pension ptans have been treated for accounting purposes in
accordance with IAS 19. The parent company's plan, which also covers
employees in Tomra Butikksystemer AS, Tomra Production AS, Titach
Visionsort AS and Q-vision AS, includes 261 employees and 10 retirees
at year-end 2007.

Actual return on plan assets was NOK 7.5 million in 2006,

The table above shows total pension cost for the parent company and
the Group's defined benefit plans, and fotat pension obligations at 31
December for the parent company and the Group's defined benefit plans
and defined contribution plans, Net pension obligations at 31 December
2007 are split between net pension assets for the defined benefit plans
of NOK 3.1 million, and net pension obligations for the defined
contribution plans of NOK 0.2 million.

Total pension cost in note 4 of NOK 11.1 million for the parant company
includes pension cost from the defined benefit plans of NOK 7.5 million,
and pension cost from the defined contribution plans of NOK 3.6 millicn.
(2006: NOK 14,7 millian for the defined benefil plans and NOK 0.0
millien for the detined contribution plans).

Total pension cost in note 4 of NOK 26.2 million for the Group includes
pensien cost irom the defined benefit plans of NOK 7.5 million, and
pension cost {rom the defined contribution plans of NOK 18.7 million.
(2006: NOK 14.7 million for the defined benefit plans and NOK 8.1
million for the defined contribution plans}.




NOTE 17

NOTE 18

The sensitivity analysis below shows how changes in the basis for calculation will affect the numbers.

Basis for calculation

Discount rate 4.70% 4.35% 5.20% 4.20% 4.70% 4.70%
Expected wage increase 4.50% 4.50% 4.50% 4.50% 5.00% 4.00%
Expected increase of base amount 4.25% 4.25% 4.25% 4.25% 4.25% 4.25%
Expected pension regulation 2.00% 1.60% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00%
Intaresi 2.65% 2.71% 314% 2.16% 2.65% 2.65%
Expected retirn on plan assets 5.75% 5.45% 5.75% 5.75% 5.75% 5.75%
Results

Amounts in NOK mllllon

Service costs 12.4 12.9 10.9 141 141 108
Accumulated benefit abligation B1.4 83.1 73.8 90.0 81.4 814
Present benefit abligation 127.6 131.9 114.1 143.3 139.0 171
Total benstit obligation 320.6 3379 279.6 369.2 3671 278.1
Plan assets 106.0 106.0 106.0 106.0 106.0 106.0

TOMRA SYSTEMS ASA - NGAAP
From 1 January 2006 Tomra Systems ASA is obliged to have a pension plan for its employess, and our pension plan meets this requirement.

TOMRA has in accordance with NRS 6A.3 used the option to convert to IAS 18 for its pensions. The change has been implemanted with effect from
1 January 2004, and unrecognized actuarial gains and losses are reset.

The conversion has no effect on the consolidated figures. The effect on the Tomra Systems ASA amounts is explained below,

2004
No changes in the P/L between pension costs according to NRS 6 and 1AS 19.
2005
The etfect of the change in accounting principle for 2005 is shown below with the effect allocated 1o the affected accounting lines.
2005 Effect 2005
NRS 6 1AS 19
143.5 (2.8) 140.7 Employae benefits expensed
_ (18.1) 0.8 {15.3) Taxes
(80.4) 2.0 (78.4) Net Profit
256 15.3 40.9 Deferred tax assets
40.5 [40.5) - Pensions
2,811.6 (25.2) 2,786.4 Total assets
818.6 (39.4) 779.2 Retained earnings
- 14.2 14.2 Pension liabilities
2,811.6 25.2 2,786.4 Total liabilities and equity
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Temra Systems ASA GROUP
NGAAP IFRS
2007 2006 Amounts in NOK million 2007 2006
116.4 208.2 Cash and cash equivalents 190.8 286.4
116.4 209.2 Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows" 190.8 286.4

1} Inctudes restricted bank deposits totaling NOK 9.3 millian far the Parent company and NOK 10.5 million tor the Group.
TJomra Systems ASA and its fully owned subsidiaries participate in an international multi-currency cash-pool, operated by DnB. All the subsidiaries

depaosit to and withdraw trom the pool through the cash-pool agreement as an Inira-Group receivablefpayable towards Tomra Systems ASA, and the
transactions are classified as such in the financial statement,

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The responsibility for financing, cash management and financial rigk denominated in NOK and established in Octobar 2006. Maximum facility

management is centralized and handled by the Finance Department of amount is NOK 500,000,000 and interest is payable at a rate of NIBOR

Tomra Systams ASA. {Norwegian Interbank Offerede Rate) plus 27 basis points. The balance
as of Dacember 2007 is NOK 375,000,000. A change of 100 basis points

Credit risk in the interest rate, calculated on the lvan amount as pr reporting date,

Historically the Group has limited bad debt on receivables. The Group increases/dacreases the tinancial costs by NOK 3,750,000 on an annual

has established sufficient routines for credit checks on clients and credit basis. At year end the cash and cash equivalents had a duration of zero

risk is not considered to be significant on outstanding receivables as of (mainly bank holdings), and the average duration on the credit facility

31 December 2007. However, TOMRA's customers comprise both the was two months.

largest retail chains in the world, as well as large scrap material

processors, where cuistanding receivablas globally can be significant. Liquidity risk

In a situation where one of these systems collapses, TOMRA might ba TOMRBA is exposed to a limited liquidity risk, due to strong cash flows

exposed. Maximum exposed credit risk at year end equals fotal in addition to a solid balance which enables a higher gearing ratio if

receivables in the balance sheet. required.

Interest rate risk Fareign currency risk

TOMRA's cash surpius is mainly placed in NOK with short duration, TOMRA is exposed 1o changes in NOK relative to other currencies. With 97

According to the adopted financing strategy, the duration of the percent of its income in foreign currencies, a strengthening of the Norwegian

portfolio should not exceed six months. Interest-baaring liabilities are crown will lead to reduced eamings for the Group, measured in NOK. The

mainly related to a revolving, bilateral five-year credit facility cummencies giving rise to this risk are primarily EURO and U. 5. Doflars.

The split of revenues and the balance sheet as of 31 December in currencies, is distributed as:

Revenues Balance sheet
2007 2006 2007 2006
usp 37% 34% 39% %
EURO 42% 51% 26% 22%
SEK 9% 7% 6% %
NOK 3% 3% 22% 12%

OTHER 9% 5% T% 4%




NOTE 19

usD EURO NOK SEK OTHER
Total intangible non-current assets 17.2% 301 % 45.8 % 5.2 % 1.7 %
Total tangible non-current assets 62.7 % 4.9% 19.0 % 3.5% 9.9 %
Total financial non-current assets 927 % 6.4 % 0.2 % 0.0 % 0.7 %
Inventory 21.0% 27.6 % 32.8% 10.0 % B86%
Total receivables 50.0 % N1 % 55% 5.6 % 78%
Cash and cash aquivalents 13.2% 54.2% 0.0% 10.3 % 223%
Tota! assets 39.1 % 26.1 % 21.5% 5.9 % 7.4 %
Total non-current liabilities 1.8 % 0.3 % 94.2% 3.2% 05%
Total current liabilities 19.8 % 3H52% 29.0 % B.9% 71 %
Total liabilities 13.6 % 231 % 51.7 % 6.9 % 4.7 %

A weakening/strengthening of the Norwegian crown of 10 parcent will normaily lead 1o a 15-25 percent strangthening/iweakening in operating profit,
Currengy fluctuations will in addition affect tho book value of assels and liabilities in TOMRA's foreign subsidiaries. A 10 percent weakening/
strangthening in the value of the Norwegian crown would have increased/decreased equity by NOK 170 million as per balance 31 December 2007,
(This analysis assumes all other variables remain constant.} Such changes in value will however not have a P/L impact as they are booked as
transiation differences against equity.

The following exchange rates were applied during the year'

Average rate (P/L rate) Reporting date rate (Balance rate}
2 3]

2007 006 2007 200
USD/NOK 5.861 6.414 5.411 6.255
EURC/NOK 8.018 B.047 7.961 8.233
SEK/NOK 0.867 0.870 0.846 0911

1) Exchange rates distributed by the Norwegian Central Bank

The parent compary has forward exchangs contracls that aconomically hedge future cash flows. According to TOMRA's finance strategy

economical hedging may be done for up to 12 months of expected cash flows. The forward exchange contracts that aconamically hedge future ¢ash
flows are stated at fair value of NOK 7.2 million at 31 December 2007 and recognized in receivables (fair value derivatives) at NOK 9.1 million and in
other current liabilities at NOK 1.9 millien in the balance sheet (31 December 2006: NOK 1.6 million as receivable). Changes in the fair value of those
forward contracts are récognized in the income statement in 2007. The changes in fair value of the forward contracts and the foreign exchangs gains
and lossas relating to the cash flows in 2007, amount toe NOK 12,8 million (see disclosure note 4).

Qutstanding forward foreign exchange contracts, as of 31 Dacember:

2007 2006

Currency Currency
Amount forward {sold) / bought (million} _ Exch.rate Due date (million}  Exch.rate Due date
EUROINOK {13.0) 7.961 2008 {40.0) 8.238 2007
USD/NOK 16.0 5.411 2008 5.0 6.225 2007 f
GBP/NOK (68.7) 10.810 2008 (6.0) 12,268 2007 |
JPY/NOK {1,140.0) 0.048 2008 (760.0) 0.053 2007
CADINOK (7.8) 5.530 2008 (7.5 539 2007 ‘
SEK/NOK (72.0) 0.846 2008 }
TOMRA has not entered into any commodity contracts as of 31 Decernbar 2007,
Hedge accounting under 1AS39
Tomra Systems ASA has not applied hedge accounting in 2007 for the cash flow in accardance with 1AS39. (In year 2006 Tomra Systems ASA applied
hetige accounting in accordance with IAS39 for the ¢ash flow fram deliverias of machines and parts te its subsidiary Tomra Systems GmbH.}
Fair values

2007 2006

Carrying Fair Carrying Failr
Amounts in NOK million amount value amount value
Cong tarm receivables 1344 1265 1802 179.3
Receivables 7328 7328 813.9 813.9
Cash and cash equivalents 190.8 190.8 286.4 286.4
Forward exchange contracts 7.2 7.2 1.8 1.6
Finance lease liabilities 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Unsecurad bank facilities {375.9) (376.0) (344.7) (343.6)
Other interest-bearing liabilities (41.4) (41.4} (35.4) (36.5)
Payables {241.5) (241.5) (257.0} (256.9)
Total 406.4 398.4 6545.0 644.2

Estimation of fair values
The lollowing summarizes the major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair vatues of financial instruments:

Derlvatives
Forward exchange confracts are either market to market using listed market prices or by discounting the difference between the contractual forward
price and the current torward price for the residual maturity of the contract using a risk-free interest rate,

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Fair valus is calculated based on discounted expected future principal and interest cash flows.

Recelvables/payables
For receivables/payables with a remaining life of less than one year, the notional amount is deemed to reflect the fair vatue. Al other receivables/
payables are discounted to determine the fair value.

Interest rates used for determining fair value 2007 2006
Loans and borrowings 6.0% 5.5%
Reaceivables/payables 5.0% 4.5%

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

GROUP - IFRS

Share option plans for employees

TOMRA has previously had a share bonus program for all employees Exchange the foftowing three days after tha opfions had been granted.

in fully owned TOMRA companies. Under the plan, all employees were The share bonus program inciuded about 110 managers and key

granted up to 1,200 oplions each year with a strike price equal to the personnel in the Group, with an average of about 20,000 share options

market price at the beginning of the respective year. Share options were per manager each year. No options have been granied under this plan

granted under a service condition and a non-market performance since 2005.

condition in the form of entities achieving the agreed budget. The vesting

period was one year. Vested options could be kept up to 5 years after Exercise March 2007

vasting. No options hava been granted under this plan since 2005. In March 2007, 71,786 employee options and 131,500 management
options were exercised. All options were settled with the use of treasury

Share option plans for management shares held by the company.

TOMRA has also had a share bonus program for management where

vasting conditions were tied to specific non-market performance targets Exercise Novemher 2007

(variable plans} in addition io service conditions. Vesting period was one fn November 2007, 11,799 employee options and 8,000 management

year. Vested options could be exercised up to 2 years aftar vesting. The options were exercised. All options were settled with the use of treasury

strike price was based upon the average closing price on the Oslo Stock shares held by the company.
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Plan atrike number ol cptions vesiea rerminatton

2002-2007 Employeas" 86,00 760,241 Fabruary 2003 February 2008
2003-2008 Employses® 4510 340,766  February 2004 February 2009
2004-2009 Employees® 4010 87,239  February 2006 February 2010
2005-2010 Employees” 33.30 239,536 February 2006 February 2011
2005-2007 Management? 27.73 103,000__ February 2006 February 2008
Total 1,530,782

1) Vesting conditions: One year of service and entity achigving the agreed budgel. Contractual life of options: 5 Years.
2) Vesting conditions; One year of service and specific performance targets. Contractual life of options: 2 Years.

The number and weighted average exercisa prices of share options for employees are as follows:

2007 2006
Weighted average Number Weighted average Number
strike price of options strike_price of optlons.
Qutstanding at the baginning of the period 71.10 1,719,226 60.02 4,208,689
Forfeited during the period 129.75 (207.859) 77.64 {936,339)
Exercisad during the period 45.59 (83,585) 54.87 {1,553,134)
Granted during the period nfa - nfa -
Qutstanding and exercisable at the end of the period 64.59 1,427,782 71.10 1,719,226

The options outstanding at 31 December 2007 have a strike price in the range of 33.30 lo 86,00 and a weighted average remaining contractual lite of 1
year,

The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options for management are as follows:

2007 2006
Weighted average Number Weighted average Number
strike price of options strike price of aptions
Outstanding at the baginning of the peried 28.60 242,500 29.42 2,954,800
Forfeited during the period n/a - 3013 (28,000}
Exercised during the period 465.43 (139,500) 56,32 (2,684,400}
Granted during the period nfa - n/a -
Qutstanding and exercisable at the end of the period 27.73 103,000 28.60 242,500

The options outstanding at 37 Decermnber 2007 have a strike price of 27.73 and a remaining contractual life of 0.2 years.

The fair value of services received in return for share options granted are measured by relerence to the fair value of share options granted. The
estimata of the fair valua of the services received is measured based on a Black & Schofes modsl. Expectations of early exercise are taken into
account in the Black & Scholes model by reducing the contractual life of the option which is used as an input to this model. The expected volatility is
based on the historic volatility (calculated based on the weighted average remaining life of tha share options), adjusted for any expected changes to
future volatility due to publicly available information. Share options are granted under a service condition and a non-market periormance condition. Such
conditions are not taken into account in the grant date fair value measurement of the services received. There are no market conditions associated with
the share option grants.

Fair value of share options and assumptions:

Share oplions for employees 2007 2006 2005
Fair value at measurement date nia n/a 10.15
Share price in NOK 33.30
Exercise price in NOK 33.30
Expected volatility (weighted average volatility used) in % 40%
Average option life {reduced for expectations of early exercise} in years" 2.25yrs
Expected dividends in NOK 0.40
Risk-free interest rate (based on national government bonds) in %? 3.05%

1) Average option life for employees is based upon an assumption that 50% of all employees exercise at first opportunity, 25% al next and 25 % at last
apportunity,
2) Interest is calculated based upon the average interest rate for the applicable period.

Share options for management 2007 2006 2005
Fair value at measurement date nla n/a 6.47
Share price in NOK 2773
Exercise price in NOK 27.73
Expected volatility {weighted average volatility used) in % 40%
Qption life {reduced for expectations of early exercise) in years" 1.6yrs
Expected dividends in NOK 0.40
Rigk-free interest rate (based on national government bonds) in %% 2.37%

1) Average option lifa for managers is based upon an assumption that 40% of ail managers exercise at first opportunity, and 60% at last opportunity.
2) Interest is calculated based upon the averaga interest rate for the applicable period.

Employes_expenses In million NOK 2007 2006 2005
Share options granted in 2004 - {1.0) -
Share options granted in 2005 - - 25.5
Total expensel{income) recognized as employee costs 0.0 {1.0} 25.5

TOMRA SYSTEMS - NGAAP

The share option program for employees in Tomra Systems ASA is identical to thosa for the rest of the Group, and has been calculated using tha same
principles under IFRS described above.

The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options for empioyees are as follows:

2007 2006
Weighted average Number Weighted average Number
B strike price of options strike_price of options
Outstanding at the beginning of the peried 59.60 283,815 57.87 466,198
Forfeited during the period 72.37 (11,880} 68.54 (97,964)
Exercisad during the period 45,57 (12,600) 39.68 (84,417)
Granted during the period n/a . n/a -
Outstanding and exercisable ai the end of the period 60.13 259,335 59.60 283,815

The options outstanding at 31 December 2007 have a strike price in the range of 33.30 to 86.00 and a weighted average remaining contractual kife of
1.2 years. Tolal expanse recognized as employee cost in 2007 is NOK zer.

The number 2nd weighted average exercise prices of share options for management are as follows:

2007 2008
Weighted average Number Weighted average Number

strike price of options strike_price of options

QCutstanding at the beginning of the period 28.68 223,500 29.47 1,498,100
Forfeited during the period n/a - n/a -
Exercised during the period 46.41 (135,500) 29.67 (1,274,600)
Granted during the pariod o _ nfa - _nla -
Qutstanding and exercisable at the end of the period 27.73 88,000 28.68 223,500

The options outstanding at 31 December 2007 have a strike price of 27.73 and a weighted contractual lite of 0.2 years.
Total expense recognized as employee costs in 2007 is NOK zero. 63




NOTE 20

EQUITY
TOMRA SYSTEMS ASA - NGAAP

Share Treasury Share Paid-In  Retained Total Number of
Amouynts_in NOK million capital shares premium capital _ earnings equity shares
Balance per 31 December 2005 178.5 (4.5) 1.418.3 1,582.3 779.2 2,371.5 178,486,558
Naet profit 217.5 2175
Deleted shares (4.8} 4.8 0.0 (4,844 ,695)
Share options exercised, ref. note 19 (33.5) {33.6)
Purchase of own shares {9.8) (9.8) (412.0) (421.8)
Own shares sold to employees 0.2 0.2 6.2 6.4
Received dividand on own shares 0.2 0.2
Dividend to shareholders (65.8) (65.8
Balance per 31 Decernber 2006 173.6 (9.2} 1,418.3 1,582.7 481.7 2,074.4 173,641,864
Net profit 269.2 269.2
Daleted shares (9.0) 9.0 0.0 (8,951.647)
Purchase of own shares (9.2} 9.2) {399.1} (408.3)
Own shares sold to employees 0.2 0.2 6.9 71
Raceived dividend on own shares 1.1 1.1
Dividend to shareholders (69.9) (69.9
Balance per 31 Decembar 2007 164.7 {9.3) 1,418,3 1,573.7 299.9 1.873.6 164,690,217
Shares par valus is 1 NOK. Free equity at the end of 2007 equaled NOK 277.4 millicn.
Tomra Systems ASA has in 2007 purchased 9,233.000 own shares at an average price of NOK 44.22 per share.
Al an extraordinary shareholders meeting on 19 December 2006, it was decided to amortize 8,951,647 treasury shares.
The amortization took place after the two months notification period expired in February 2007.
Total shareholding of treasury shares is 9,279,815 as of year end 2007.
GROUP - IFRS

Total
Paid-in  Translation Retained  majority Minority Total

Amounts in NOK million capltal reserve earnings equity interest equity_
Balance per 31 December 2005 1,582.3 (32.8) 606.4 2,165.9 75.2 22411
Net profit 4271 4271 12.7 439.8
Changes in translation difference (82.3) {82.3) (5.4) {87.7)
Disposal of subsidiaries/dividend minoritias (18.7) (18.7)
Share options exercised by employeas? (62.0) {62.0) (62.0)
Equity-settled transactions, net of tax 1.0) (1.0) {(1.0)
Purchase of own shares (9.8) (411.9} 421.7) 4217
Cwn shares sotd 1o employeas 0.2 8.2 6.4 6.4
Dividend to sharehglders {60.8) (60.8) {60.8)
Balance per 31 December 2006 1,582.7 {115.1) §504.0 1,971.6 65.8 2,037.4
Net profit 279.6 279.6 121 291.7
Changes in translation difference (161.5} {161.5} (8.8) (170.3)
Disposal of subsidiaries/dividend minarities (12.8) {12.8)
Purchase of own shares (9.2} (399.1) {408.3) {408.3)
Own shares sold to employees 0.2 6.9 7.1 71
Dividend to shareholders® (64.7) {64.7} {64.7)
Balance per 31 December 2007 1,573.7 (276.6) 326.7 1,623.8 56.3 1,680.1

1) Dividend payment was NOK 0.40 per share in 2007, equal to the proposal in the 2006 financial statement.
2) The amount is presented net of taxes,

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign cperations that are

not integral to the operations of the company.

Dividends

Aftor the balanca sheet date the following dividends were propesed by the directors;

Amounts in NOK milllon 2007
NOX ©.45 per qualifying share (2006: NOK 0.40) 69.9

The dividend has not yet been provided for and there are no income taxas consequences.

Earnings per share 2007
Average number of shares 166,182,158
Avarage number of shares, adjusted for own shares 159,773,955
Average number of shares, adjusted for own shares, fully diluted 159,868,886
Majarity equity 31 December (MNOK) 1,623.8
Equily per shara {NOK) 10.16
Net profit after minotity interest (MNQK) 279.6
Earnings per share 1.76

2006
65.8

2006
176,602,511
171,822,994
172,240,795

1,971.6
11.47

4271
2.48

At 31 December 2007 there were 1,188,246 options that are not *in the money” and therefore have no effect on earnings per share.
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NOTE 21

NOTE 22

SHAREHOLDERS

The amounts shown are based upon information from Verdipapirsentralen.
On nominae accounts, informaticn regarding beneficial ownership has been collected and
presented where possible,

Registered at 31 December 2007 Number of shares  Ownership
1. Orkla ASA 23,953,000 14.54%
2.  Folketrygdiondet 13,037,900 TH1%
3. Taube, Hodson, Stonex Partners Lid. 10,440,700 6.34%
4, Tomra Systems ASA 9,279,815 5.63%
5. Mew Jersey Division of Investment (Int'l) 3,500,000 2.12%
6. Jupiter Asset Management Ltd. 3,491,800 2.12%
7. Ferd 2,900,000 1.76%
B.  lmpax Asset Management Lid. 2,887,567 1.75%
9. DnB NOR Kapitalforvaltning ASA 2,663,168 1.62%
10. KLP Forsikring 2,300,000 1.40%
11. Stavanger Fondsforvalining A/S 2,300,000 1.40%
12. Nordea Investment Management ASA 1,936,277 1.18%
13. Swedbank Robyr AB 1,890,551 1.15%
14.  Russel investment Group (UK) 1,888,000 1.15%
15. Nordea Investment Management AB (Sweden) 1,804,380 1.10%
16. French Res Treaty CL 1,786,090 1.08%
17. Odey Assat Managment LLP 1,523,950 0.93%
18. Taj Holding AS 1,367,800 0.83%
19. Bank Austria Creditanstalt AG 1,366,694 0.83%
20. It P&C Insurance Company 1,352,000 0.82%
Total 91,669,682 55.66%
Other shareholders 73,020,525 44.34%
Total {3,930 shareholders) 164,690,217 100.00%
Shares cwned by Norwegian sharehofders 91,320,092 55.45%
Shares owned by foreign shareholders 73,370,125 44.55%
Total 164,690,217 100.00%
ACQUISITIONS

There have not been any acquisitions in 2007, only an adjustment to the earn-out for Commodas shown below,

Commodas Mining GmbH

On 1 July 2006, TOMRA's subsidiary Titech Visionsort AS acquired 100 percent of the shares of Commodas Mining GmbH. The purchase price was
estimated at NOK 133.8 million satisfied in cash of NOK 98.5 million and possible additional payment of up to NOK 35.3 million, depending on the
company’s earnings in 2007, The purchase price included goodwill of NOK 129.1 million,

Commodas is a leading provider of tachnology solutions for identification and sorting of high-valus material fractions, such as packaging and paper.

The nel assets aquired in the transaction, and the goodwill arising as recorded in 2006, are as follows:

Acquiree’s
carrying amount Fair value

Amounts in NOK million befare combination  adjustments Fair value
Net assets acquired:
Patents 0.0 4.8 4.8
Property, plant and equipment 8.0 {0.7) 7.3
Inventories 5.5 (1.1) 4.4
Trade receivables 19.8 0.0 19.8
Other short-term receivables 1.6 0.0 1.6
Trade payables {4.4) 0.0 (4.4)
Tax payables (0.2) 0.0 (0.2}
Other short-term liabilities. (28.6) 0.0 {28.6)

17 3.0 47
Goodwill 1291
Totat consideratien satisfied by cash 98.5
Earn out, booked under interest bearing liabilities 35.3
Company's goodwill 0.0
Group goodwill 12941
Total goodwill related to the transaction 129.1
Net cash outflow arising on aquisition:
Cash censideration paid (98.5)
Cash and cash equivalants acquired 0.0
Net cash outflow {98.5)

The goodwill arising on the aquisition of Commodas is attributable to predicted future cash flows.

The aquired company contributed NOK 57.5 million in revenue and NOK 10.2 million to the Group's profit bafore tax for the period between the date
of aquisition and 31 Decamber 2006. If the acquisition had been completed on 1 Janwary 2006, total group revenue for 2006 would have increased by
NOK 31.0 million, but the prefit for the year would not have changed.

Earn out calculation in 2007
The company's earnings in 2007 showed that no earn out wilt be paid. The earn out booked as interest bearing liabilities of NOK 35,3 million is removed
and the goodwill is decreased by NOK 31.3 million, see note 8. The difference betwaen the twe amounts is accumulated interest and agio
that is also decreased,

Titech Vislonsort AS
In 2008 we hava paid NOK 18.4 millien related to the final payment to the former owners of Real Vision Systems GmbH,

Orwak Group AB

In February 2005 TOMBA bought 100 percent of the shares in Orwak Group AB in Sweden. The purchase price was NOK 111,3 million satisfied in
cash. The acquisition has been accounted for as being completed as of 1 January 2005,

Orwak is a leading provider of a wide range of compaction solutions for recyclables such as cardboard, paper and plastic,




NOTE 22 ACQUISITIONS

cont.
The net assets aquired in the transaction, and the goodwill arising, are as follows:
Acquiree’s
carrying amount Fair value ,

Amounts in NOK million before combination adjustments Fair value
Nt assets acquired:
Deferred tax assets 1.1 i1
Development cost 1.8 1.8
Goodwill 20.0 20.0
Property, plant and equipment 17.9 (2.3) 15.6
Inventories 48.9 5.9 43.0
Trade receivables 357 55,7
Other short-term debt 4.8 4.8
Bank and cash balances 1.4 14
Deferred tax (5.1) 1.4 (3.7)
Trade payables (25.4) (25.4)
Tax payables (1.8} (1.8)
Other short-term liabilities {59.0) 59.0)
Advanced payments {21.6) (21.6)

387 {6.8) g
Goodwill 81.0
Total consideration satisfied by cash 112.9
Company's goodwill 20.0
Group goodwill 81.0
Total goodwill related to aguisition 101.0
Net cash outflow arising on aquisition:
Cash consideration paid (112.7)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired 1.4
Net cash outflow {111.3)

The goodwill arising on the aquisition of Orwak is attributable to predicted future cash flows,

NOTE 23 DISCONTINUED QPERATIONS
GROUP - IFRS
Tomra South America SA
On 31 August 2005, the Group sold its subsidiary Tomra South America SA. The Group had previously committed 10 a plan to sell the entity due to a
strategic decision to change the direction of the Group. The related assets and liabiliies were classified as held for sale at 30 June 2005 in the quarterly
reporting in accordance with IFRS 5 Nan-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. At 30 June 2005, a loss of NOK 80 million arose
on tha measurement o fair value loss cost to sell.
In August 2005, the division was scid for USD 19 million in cash, equal to the book value of the unit after NOK 80 million write-otf in 2 quarter.

Analysis of the loss on sale of discontinued operation

Amounts in NOK million 2005
Operating revenues 249.2
Operating expenses

Cast of goods sold 206.9
Employae benefits expenses 11.9
Ordinary depreciation 4.2
Other operating expanses 12.6
Total operating expenses 235.6
Net operating profit 13.6

Financial items

Financial income 2.8
Finangial expenses. 2.9_
Net financial itemsg {0.1)
Profit of discontinued operations before tax 13.5
Income 1ax expense 3.9
Profit of discontinued operations after tax 9.6
Impairment loss regarding measurament to fair value less selling cost 80.0
Incoma tax related to impairment loss 0.0
Total loss on sale ot discontinued operations (70.4)
Eftect of the disposal on individual assets and liabilities of the Group

Amounts in NOK milllon 20085
Goodwill 84.6
Property, plant and equipment 431
Inventories 131
Trade receivables 13.8
Other receivables 237
Cash and cash aquivalents 10.3
Other currant liabilities (19.3)
Trade payables {8.7)
Net identifiable assets and liabilities 158.6
Previous exchange rate differences bocked against equity (37.1)
Consideration received, satisfied in cash 122.5
Cash disposed of {10.3)
Net cash (inflow) 122
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To the Annual Shareholders' Meeting of Tomra Systems ASA

AUDITOR’'S REPORT FCR 2007

Respective Responsibilities of Directors and Auditors

We have audited the annual financial statements of Tomra Systems ASA as of 31 December 2007, showing a profit of NOK 269,2 million
for the parent company and a profit of NOK 291,7 million for the group, We have also audited the information in the Board of Directars’
repori conceming the financial statements, the going concern assumption, and the proposal for the allocation of the profit. The annual
tinancial statements comprise the parent company's financial statements and the group accounts. The parent company’s financial
statements comprise the balance sheet, the statements of income and cash flows and the accompanying notes. The group accounts
comprise the balance shest, the statements of income and cash flows, the statement of changes in equity and the accompanying notes.
The rules of the Norwegian accounting act and good accounting practice in Norway have been applied to prepare the parent company’s
financial statement. The rules of the Norwegian accounting act and International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU
have been applied 1o prepare the group accounts. These financial statements and the Board of Directors’ report are the responsibility of
the Company's Board of Directors and Managing Director. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and
on the other information according to tha requirements of the Norwegian Act on Auditing and Auditors.

Basis of Opinion

Wa conducted our audit in accordance with the Norwagian Act on Auditing and Auditors and good auditing practice in Norway, including
standards on auditing adopted by The Norwegian Institute of Public Accourtants. These auditing standards require that we plan and

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit alse includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial siatement
presentation. To the axtent required by law and good auditing practice an audit also comprises a review of the management of the
Company's financial affairs and its accounting and internal control systems. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis

for our opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion,

» the parent company’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with the law and regulations and give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the parent Company as of 31 December 2007, the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended,
in accordance with the rutes of the Norwegian accounting act and good accounting practice in Norway

s> the group accounts are prepared in accordance with the law and regulations and giver a true and fair view of the financial pasition of the
Group as of 31 December 2007, the results of its operatians, its cash flaws and the changes in equity for the year then ended, in
accordance with the rules of the Norwegian accounting act and International Financial Reporting Standards as adapted by the EU

> the company’s management has fuffilled its duty to produce a proper and clearly set out registration and documentation of accounting
information

> the information in the Board of Directors’ report concerning the financial statements, the going concern assumption, and the proposal for
the allocation of the profit is consistent with the financiat statements and comply with the law and regulations.

Oslo, 20 February 2008
KPMG AS

Henning Aass
State Authorised Public Accountant
Note: This transiation from Norwegian has been prepared for information purposes only
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(Office translation)

NOTICE OF
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING IN
TOMRA SYSTEMS ASA

Notice is hereby given by the board of directors for the annual general meeting in Tomra Systems ASA on
23 April 2008 at 18.30 at the offices of the company at Drengsrudhagen 2, Asker, Norway. Registration of
attendees will takes place from 18.00

The following matters shall be dealt with:

11

12.

Opening of the general meeting by the chairman of the board of directors. Registration of attending
shareholders, including shareholders represented by proxy.

Election of the chairman of the meeting.

Election of one person to sign the minutes together with the chairperson of the meeting.
Approval of the notice of the meeting and the agenda.

Report by the management on the status of the company and the group.

Approval of the annual accounts and annual report for 2007 for the company and the group,
including proposal for dividend distribution (please see enclosure).

Advisory vote regarding declaration from the board of dircctors regarding establishment of salary
and other remuneration to executive employees and binding vote regarding salary in the fotm of
shares etc. (please see enclosure).

Determination of remuneration for the board of directors, board committees and auclitor (please see
enclosure).

Election of the shareholders’ members of the board of directors, chairperson of the board and
nomination cemmittee (please see enclosure).

. Reduction of share premium fond by transferral to distributable equity (please see enclosure).

Reduction of the share capital by amortisation of treasury shares - amendment to company by-laws
(please see enclosure).

Authorisation regarding sale and acquisition of treasury shares (please see enclosure).

. Authorisation regarding private placements of newly issued shares to effect acquisitions or mergers

(please see enclosure).

The board of directors and the management welcome all shareholders to attend the general meeting.

3. april 2008

TOMRA SYSTEMS ASA
The board of directors

Enclosures
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ENCLOSURES TO NOTICE OF ORDINARY GENERAL MEETING IN
TOMRA SYSTEMS ASA 23 APRIL 2008

Matter 6. Approval of the annual accounts and annual report for 2007 for the company and the
group, including proposal for dividend distribution

The annual accounts, the director’s report and the auditor’s report are enclosed to this notice for annual

general meeting, cf. the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act § 5-6 fourth paragraph.

The board of directors proposes that the general meeting pass the following resolution:
“The annual report and accounts for 2007 are approved. An ordinary dividend of NOK 0.45
per share shall be distributed. The dividend for each share shall be paid out to the registered
owner of that share in Verdipapirsentralen by the expiration of 23 April 2008. The shares will
be traded on the Oslo Stock Exchange excluding dividend as of 24 April 2008

Dividend will be distributed around May 7™ 2008.

Matter 7. Advisory vote regarding declaration from the board of directors regarding establishment
of salary and other remuneration to executive employees and binding vote regarding salary
in the form of shares etc.

The board of directors has given a declaration regarding determinations of salary and other remuneration 1o
executive personnel, cf. the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act § 6-16a. The declaration is enclosed,
pursuant to the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act § 5-6 third paragraph, please see page 27-28 in the
attached annual report,

Pursuant to the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act § 6-16a second paragraph fourth sentence the
general meeting shall with binding effect for the board of directors approve remuneration in the form of
“allotment of shares, subscription rights and other forms of remuneration linked to shares or the development
of the share price in the company or other companies within the same group”.

The board of directors wishes to establish a share saving program after which the group’s employees can
purchase shares at 16,67% discount of market value. The discount shall be made subject to, inter alia, that
the employee remains ownership to the shares for at least one year. The program will be limited to 500,000
shares per year (which equals 0.3% of the share capital). The shares sold to the employees will be transferred
from the company’s treasury shares. The establishment of the program is consequently subject to approval
from the general meeting to acquire treasury shares as proposed under matter 12.

The board of directors suggests that the general meeting adopts the following resolution:
“The board of directors’ declaration with respect to remuneration in the form of shares etc. is
approved and binding for the board of directors, cf. the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act 6-
16a second paragraph fourth sentence.”
The remaining guidelines in the board of directors’ declaration are presented to the general meeting and is
advisory for the board of directors. The board of directors suggests that the general meeting adopts the
following resolution:
“The board of directors’ declaration regarding salary and other remuneration to executive
employees is duly noted by the general meeting.”

Matter 8. Determination of remuneration for the board of directors, board committees and auditor
The nomination committee proposes that the general meeting pass the following resolution:

“For 2007 the board of directors is remunerated as follows (2006 figures in brackets):
Chairman of the board: NOK 720,000 (NOK 680,000)
External board members: NOK 385,000 (NOK 365,000)
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Internal board members; NOK 225,000 (NOK 210,000)

In addition, a remuneration of NOK 45,000 per annum to leaders, and NOK 30,000 to
members, of the compensation committee, audit committee and nomination committee will be
paid. {f a board member is engaged in extraordinary work beyond ordinary board and
committee work, such board member will be remunerated with NOK 10,000 per day limited to a
total of NOK 150,000 per annum.

The auditor’s fees for audit of Tomra Systems ASA for 2007 in accordance with bill of NOK
1,000,000 are approved.”

The board member fee for internal board members is assumed to cover board responsibilities and time for
preparation. Time spent in board meetings is assumed to be covered by employees’ normal wages.

Matter 3.  Election of the shareholders’ members of the board of directors, chairperson of the
board and nomination committee

The nomination committee has the last year consisted of Rolf Kire Nilsen {chairman), Tom Knoff and Ole
Dahl. The committee has nominated the following persons to be elected as board members:

Jo Lunder {chairman)

Jorgen Randers

Hege Marie Norheim

Bjern Wiggen (co-chairman) New

Aniela Gjes New

The new nomination committee members for election are: Tom Knoff (chairman), Ole Dahl and Hild Kinder.

Bjern M. Wiggen (b. 1959)
2008 Director Orkla ASA
2006-07 CEO Mecom Europe AS
2005-06 Managing Director Media AS
2001-04 Senior Vice President (Central/Eastern Europe) Carlsberg Breweries AS
1998-2001  Managing Director Ringnes AS
1996-98 Managing Director AB Pripps Bryggerier (Stockholm)
1993-95 Director Staber Ringnes AS
1991-93 Director (Ukepresse/Kringkasting) Orkla Media AS
1990-91 CFO Orkla Media AS
1987-90 CFO Ernst G. Mortensens Forlag AS
1985-87 Controller Orkla Industrier AS / Orkla Borregaard AS
1983-85 MBA business development Orkla Industrier AS

Aniela Gjes (b. 1959)
2002 - SVP Logistics Norway Post
1996 -2002 VP Logistics Ringnes, Carlsberg
1995 -1996  Manager Logistics Ringnes, Orkla
1993 -1995  Manager business development Ringnes
1988 -1993  Controller Ringnes/Frydenlund
1986 -1988  Trainee Nora Mineralvann
1983 -1986  Projectmanager startup in Polen
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Matter 10. Reduction of share premium fond by transferral to distributable share capital

The board of directors suggests a reduction of the company’s share premium fond by transferral of NOK
500,000,000 to distributable equity.

The purpose of the transferral is to increase the company’s scope of freedom to adjust the capital structure,
including continued acquisition of treasury shares. The company has solid equity and as a conscquence it is
possible to reduce the non-distributable share capital.

The reduction of the share premium fond will be completed in accordance with the rules conceming
reduction of non-distributable share capital, cf. the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act § 3-2 second
paragraph number 4, cf. chapter 12. The reduction is subject to notice to creditors.

The board of directors suggests that the general meeting adopts the following resolution regarding reduction
of share premium fond by transferral to distributable share capital:

"The company's share premium fond is reduced with NOK 500,000,000, from NOK
1,418,300,000 1o NOK 218,300,000. The amount is transferred to distributable share capital
pursuant to the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act § 3-2 second paragraph number 4,
cf chapter 12,

The abovementioned changes will be in force at the time the reduction of the share premium
Jond is registered as completed in the Norwegian Register of Business.”

The auditor’s confirmation of there being complete coverage for the company’s non-distributable share
capital after the reduction, is enclosed 1o this notice of general meeting, cf. the Norwegian Public Limited
Companies Act § 12-2 second paragraph i.f.

Matter 11. Reduction of the share capital by amortisation of treasury shares - amendment to
company by-laws

At the extra-ordinary general meeting in the company on the 19 December 2006, the board of directors were
given authonsation to acquire up to 10,000,000 treasury shares. The company has in accordance with this
authorisation acquired 10,000,000 shares and sold 329,861 shares. The board of directors suggest that the
share capital is reduced by amortisation of 9,670,139 rcmaining treasury shares in order to make room for
further acquisition of treasury shares. The company has solid equity and as a consequence it is possible to
reduce the share capital by amortisation of treasury shares.

The board of directors also suggests under matter 12, that a new authorisation to acquire and sell treasury
shares is given.

The reduction of the share capital will be completed in accordance with the rules concerning reduction of
non-distributable share capital, cf. the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act § 12-1 first paragraph
number 2, cf. chapter 9. The reduction is subject to notice 1o creditors.

The board of directors suggests that the general meeting adopts the following resolution regarding reduction
of the share capital:

"The company’s share capital is reduded with NOK 9,670,139 by amortisation of 9,670,139
treasury shares.

The abovementioned changes will be in force at the time the reduction of the share capital is
registered as completed in the Norwegian Register of Business.”

The auditor’s confirmation of there being complete coverage for the company’s non-distributable share

capital after the reduction, is enclosed to this notice of general meeting, cf. the Norwegian Public Limited
Companies Act § 12-2 second paragraph i.f.
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In accordance with the abovementioned, the board of dircctors suggests that the general meeting adopts the
following resolution regarding amendment of the company’s by-laws § 4:
"The company's by-laws is amended to the following:
§4
The share capital is NOK 155,020,078 divided into 155,020,078 shares, each with a face value
of NOK 1.00.”

Matter 12. Authorisation regarding sale and acquisition of treasury shares

As of the end of 2007 Tomra has an equity ratio of 55 % and net interest-bearing debt of NOK 226,000,000
with total assets NOK 2,952,000,000. Consequently the group has significant strength and the boadrd of
directors considers the group’s capital structure to be adequate in order to meet the said investment
requirements. In order to have necessary freedom to further adjust the capital structure of the group, the
board of directors requests authority to acquire 15,000,000 shares.

Tomra has previously had share option programs for its employees. Options are no longer eamed pursuant to
this program, but some employees still holds already acquired, but not executed options. Hence, the board of
directors wishes to employ acquired treasury shares in this cennection.

In addition, the board of directors requests an authority to establish a share saving program, as described
under matter 7 in this notice.

The board of directors suggests that the general meeting adopts the following resolution regarding
acquisition of treasury shares:
“Pursuant to the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act section 9-4 the board of directors is
hereby granted authority to acquire and sell treasury shares. The authority remains in force
until the next annual general meeting.

The highest face value of the shares the company in total can acquire is NOK 15,000,000.
Acquisition of treasury shares shall be made via the stock exchange and within normal spread
against compensation of minimum NOK 20 and maximum NOK 200 per share. Sale of treasury
shares shail only occur in order to fulfil the company's share saving program or share option
program for the group’s employees, and also in connection with mergers or acquisition of
companies or businesses.

The abovementioned authority will be in force as of the date the authority is registered in the in
the Norwegian Register of Business."

Matter 13. Authorisation regarding private placements of newly issued shares to effect acquisitions or
mergers

The board of directors has in the past years had an authority to execute directed share issues. The current
authority will be annulled at this year’s annual general meeting. Hence, the board of directors suggests that it
is replaced by a new authority, in order to allow the board of directors to make such arrangcments.

The board of directors suggests that the general meeting adopts the following resolution regarding

authorisation to make directed share issues to effect acquisitions or mergers:
"The board of directors is given authorisation to increase the share capital by new issuance of
shares by up to NOK 15,000,000 (9.7 % of the share capital) by issuance of new shares. The
authority can only be employed in connection with mergers or acquisition of companies or
businesses. The shareholders' pre-emption right pursuant to the Public Limited Companies Act
section 10-4 can be deviated from. The authorisation encompasses non-cash contributions and
the right to assume special obligations as well as a decision on a merger. The authorisation
shall be valid until the next annual general meeting in the company. If the authorisation is
utilised, the board of directors may change § 4 of the by-laws accordingly.”
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KPMG AS Telephone +47 04063

P.0. Box 7000 Majorstuen Fax +47 226096 0
Serkedalsveien 6 Internget  www.kpmg.no
N-0306 Oslo Enterprise 935 174 827MVA

Til generalforsamlingen i Tomra Systems ASA

Bekreftelse ved nedsetting av aksjekapital og nedsetting av overkursfond i Tomra Systems ASA

Vi bekrefter at det i Tomra Systems ASA, etter vedtagelse av arsregnskapet for 2007 som er fastsatt av
styret den 20. februar 2008, og nedsetting av overkursfond med kr 500.000.000 fra kr 1.418.300.000 il
kr 918.300.000 med overfering til annen egenkapital, samt nedsetting av aksjekapitalen med kr 9.670.139

fra kr 164.690.217 til kr 155.020.078 ved sletting av egne aksjer, cr dekning for den gjenverende
aksjekapital og bunden egenkapital forevrig.

Oslo, 27. mars 2008
KPMG AS
Henni ass

Statsautorisert revisor

Otiices wx

Qua Haugesund Sandeina

Boda 5 X

Atw Larvik Stevangel

Aroncel Lidehemme Siord
KPM3 AS is 3 marber Tem o the KPMO network of indepencent membel Baigen WG 1 e Tiorus
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The Tomra Systems ASA Board has in accordance with
proxies given at the Extraordinary General Meeting

19 December 2006, redeemed 106,776 vested options under
the Group’s option programs for management and employees.

The redemption is executed with the use of the company's
own treasury shares, which has been sold at O0slo Stock
Exchange on the employees behalf at a price of NOK36.47
per share. After the transaction, Tomra Systems ASA holds
6,439,339 treasury shares.

Management program 2005-2007
out of 103,000 vested, not exercised options at a strike
price of NOK27.73, 103,000 are today redeemed.

Employee pregram 2{05-2010
Out of 239,536 vested, not exercised options at a strike
price of NCK33.30, 3,776 are today redeemed.

Included in the above figures for the Management program
is the follewing primary insider (the number shows number
of options redeemed, shareholding, and number of gptions
kept after the redempticn)

Harald Henriksen ({30,000 at a strike of 27.73, 0, 0}

The redemption will not have any P/L-impact, as the Group
accounts for the opticon programs in accordance with 1FRS 2,
where the calculated market value for the options is expensed
over the vesting period.

For further informaticn, please contact:
CFO Espen Gundersen +47 97 68 73 01
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PURCHASE OF TREASURY SHARES

Tomra Systems ASA has today purchased 140,000

own shares at an average price of NOK 37.34 per
share at Oslo Stock Exchange. After this transaction
Tomra helds 9,546,115 treasury shares.

For further information please centact CFO Espen
Gundersen, telephone +47 %7 &8 73 01
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Tomra Systems ASA
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PURCHASE OF TREASURY SHARES

Tomra Systems$ ASA has today purchased 126,300

cwn shares at an average price of NOK 37.15 per
share at 0slo Stock Exchange. After this transaction
Tomra holds 9,406,115 treasury shares.

For further information please contact CFO Espen
Gundersen, telephone +47 97 68 73 01
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Asker, 23 April 2008
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- e

Les om ansvar og rettigheter

=
C:,“”' ===
¢ = o
20 = M
=T = D
boke A T o
L .
rere

- T
I
e o O
- (XY

http://www.newsweb.no/newsweb/index.jsp?messageld=208212 24.04.2008




Ottice translation

MINUTES OF
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING IN
TOMRA SYSTEMS ASA
The annual general meeting in Tomra Systcms ASA was held on 23 April 2008 at 18.30 at the
offices of the company at Drengsrudhagen 2 in Asker, Norway.

The following matters were dealt with:

1. Opening of the general meeting by the chairman of the board of directors.
Registration of attending shareholders, including shareholders represented by
proxy.

The chairman of the board of directors, Jan Chr. Opsahl opened the annual general meeting in
accordance with the Norwegian Public Limited Companics Act section 5-12 (1). The
chairman of the board gave an account for the attendance.

A list of the attending shareholders and proxies is set out in appendix 1.

2, Election of the chairperson of the meeting

Einar J. Greve was elected as chairperson of the meeting. The decision was unanimous.

3. Election of one person to sign the minutes together with the chairperson of the
meeting,

Sigurd Humerfelt was elected to sign the minutes together with the chairperson of the
meeting. The decision was unanimous.

4. Approval of the notice of the meeting and the agenda
There were no objections to the notice of the meeting or the agenda.

The notice and the agenda were approved. The decision was unanimous, save for 92 blank
votes.

5. Report by the:'management on the status of the company and the group

The group’s Chicf Executive Officer, Amund Skarholt, gave a presentation of the group’s
business in 2007. The annual report and accounts 2007 were reviewed in the presentation.

6. Approval of the annual accounts and annual report for 2007 for the company
and the group, including proposal for dividend distribution

The financial result for Tomra Systems ASA in 2007 was NOK 269,200,000. The annual
report and accounts for 2007 were presented for approval, including the proposal on dividend
distribution from the board of directors. The company’s auditor KPMG, represented by

Protokoll engelsk 2008.DOC Side lav §
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Oflice translation

Henning Aass, presented the auditor’s report.

In accordance with the proposal of the board of directors the general meeting passed the
following resolution:

“The annual report and accounts for 2007 are approved. An ordinary dividend of
NOK 0.45 per share shall be distributed. The dividend for each share shall be paid out
to the owner of that share by the expiration of 23 April 2008. The shares will be
traded on the Oslo Stock Exchange excluding dividend as of 24 April 2008.”

The decision was unanimous, save for 851,142 blank votes.
Dividend will be distributed around 7 May 2008.

7. Advisory vote regarding declaration from the board of directors regarding
establishment of salary and other remuneration to executive employees and
binding vote regarding salary in the form of shares etc.

In accordance with the proposal of the board of directors the general meeting passed the
following resolution:

“The board of directors’ declaration regarding salary and other remuneration to
executive employees is duly noted by the general meeting,

The board of directors’ declaration with respect to remuneration in the form of shares
elc. is approved and binding for the board of directors, cf. the Norwegian Public
Limited Companies Act 6-16a second paragraph fourth sentence.”

The decision was made against 22,000 shares, and save for 92 blank votcs.

8. Determination of remuneration for the board of directors, board committees and
auditor

In accordance with the proposal of the board of directors the general meeting passed the
following resolution:

“For 2007 the board of directors is remunerated as follows (2006 figures in
brackeis):

Chairman of the board: NOK 720,000 (NOK 680,000)

External board members: NOK 385,000 (NOK 365,000)

Internal board members: NOK 225,000 (NOK 210,000)

In addition, a remuneration of NOK 45,000 per annum to leaders, and NOK
30,000 per annum to members, of the compensation committee, audit committee
and nomination committee will be paid If a board member is engaged in
extraordinary work beyond ordinary board and committee work, such board
member will be remunerated with NOK 10,000 per day limited to a total of NOK
150,000 per annum.

The auditor's fees for audit of Tomra Systems ASA for 2007 in accordance with
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bill of NOK 1,000,000 are approved.”
The decision was made against 2,200 shares, and save for 92 blank votcs.

9, Election of the shareholders’ members of the board of directors, board leader
and nomination committee

The general meeting elected the following persons as members of the board of directors for
2008/2009:

Chairman: Jo Lunder (re-elected)

Deputy chairman: Bjerm M. Wiggen (new)
Member: Jargen Randers (re-elected)
Member: Hege M. Norheim (re-elected)
Member: Aniela Gyos (new)

The general meeting elected the following nomination committee for 2008/2009:

Chairman: Tom Knoff
Member: Ole Dahi
Member: Hild Kinder

The decision was made against 9,603 shares, and save for 686 blank votes.
10.  Reduction of share premium fond by transferral to distributable share capital

In accordance with the proposal of the board of directors and on basis of the presented
confirmation from the auditor, the general meeting passed the following resolution:

“The company's share premium fond is reduced with NOK 500,000,000, from NOK
1,418,300,000 to NOK 918,300,000. The amount is transferred to distributable share
capital pursuant to the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act § 3-2 second
paragraph number 4, cf. chapter 12,

The abovementioned changes will be in force at the time the reduction of the share
premium fond is registered as completed in the Norwegian Register of Business
Enterprises.”

The decision was unanimous, save for 92 blank votes.

11.  Reduction of the share capital by amortisation of treasury shares - amendment to

company by-laws

In accordance with the proposal of the board of directors and on basis of the presented
confirmation from the auditor, the general meeting passed the following resolution:

“The company’s share capital is reduced with NOK 9,670,139 by amortisation of
9,670,139 treasury shares,

Protokoll engelsk 2008.DOC Side3av5
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The abovementioned changes will be in force at the time the reduction of the share
capital is registered as completed in the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises.”

As of the changes being effective the company s by-laws is amended to the following:

$4
The share capital is NOK 155,020,078 divided into 155,020,078 shares, each with a
Jace value of NOK 1.00.”

The decision was unanimous, save for 92 blank votes.
12.  Authorisation regarding sale and acquisition of treasury shares

In accordance with the proposal of the board of directors the general meeting passed the
following resolution:

“Pursuant to the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act section 9-4 the board of
directors is hereby granted authority to acquire and sell treasury shares. The
authority remains in force until the next annual general meeting.

The highest face value of the shares the company in total can acquire is NOK
15,000,000. Acquisition of treasury shares shall be made via the stock exchange and
within normal spread against compensation of minimum NOK 20 and maximum NOK
200 per share. Sale of treasury shares shall only occur in order to fulfil the company’s
share saving program or share option program for the group’s employees, and also in
connection with mergers or acquisition of companies or businesses.

The abovementioned authority will be in force as of the date the authority is registered
in the in the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises.”

The decision was unanimous.

13.  Authorisation regarding private placements of newly issued shares to effect
acquisitions or mergers

In accordance with the proposal of the board of directors the general meeting passed the
following resolution;

"The board of directors is given authorisation to increase the share capital by
new issuance of shares by up to NOK 15,000,000 (9.7 % of the share capital) by
issuance of new shares. The authority can only be employed in connection with
mergers or acquisition of companies or businesses. The shareholders’ pre-
emption right pursuant to the Public Limited Companies Act section 10-4 can be
deviated from. The authorisation encompasses non-cash contributions and the
right to assume special obligations as well as a decision on a merger. The
authorisation shall be valid until the next annual general meeting in the company.
If the authorisation is utilised, the board of directors may change § 4 of the by-
laws accordingly.”
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The decision was unanimous.

¥ %k *

There were no further matters to be dealt with, and the meeting was adjourned.

Asker, 23 April 2008

(sign.) (stgn.)
Einar J. Greve Sigurd Humerfelt
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TRADING EX. DIVIDEND
The shares in Tomra Systems ASA will as of Thursday 24 April 2008 be

traded on the 0slo Stock Exchange ex. dividend of NOK 0.45 per share.

Asker, 23 April 2008
Tomra Systems ASA
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Issuer Tomra Systems ASA

Instrument

Market Oslo Bers

Category FINANSIELL RAPPORTERING

Corrected Not corrected

Disclosure required 1 ‘Mandatory notifications .,>OAM announcement

Vedlegg vedlegg: N &)

Title TOMRA - First Quarter 2008 Results

Text
Revenues cof 791 MNOK {794 MNOK in first quarter 2007).
Organic revenue growth of B% in first quarter 2008 compared to first
quarter 2007 (disregarding currency effects).
Gross margin increased to 39% (36% in first quarter 2007).
Operating prafit of B3 MNOK (73 MNOK in first quarter 2007).
Operating profit growth of 20% in first quarter 200B compared to
first guarter 2007 (disregarding currency effects).
Cash flow from operations of 22 MNOK (30 MNOK in first quarter 2007).
Strong performance in Nordic RVM markets continued.
Weak start in Materials Handling in January & February 2008.
Strong growth and perfermance in Industrial Processing Technology
continued.

Cellection Technology - Deposit Solutions

Revenue in the segment equaled 372 MNOK in the first quarter, flat
from first quarter last year. Gross margin improvement continued and
was 47%, up from 43% in first quarter last year.

Materials Handling

Revenues in the first quarter were down by 18% versus first quarter
last year, of which 14 percentage peints were due to currency change.
Gross margin decreased freom 17% last year to 15% this year.

Industrial Processing Technolegy

First gquarter 2008 showed a year on year revenue crowth of 20%.
Revenue growth was driven by solid performance in all companies. A '
gross margin of above 50% and a revenue growth of 20% reflect a |
strong market position. Operating profit increased from 31 MNOK last
year to 37 MNOK this year. !

Collection Techneclogy - Won-deposit Solutions '
Revenues in the first quarter amounted to 25 MNOK, mainly coming from
the installatioen of 15 ARCS at Tesco. Through ¢ontinued efforts to
optimize techneleogy and cost, the business area now shows a gross
margin of 20% compared with negative margins for the last twc years.

Asker, 23 April 2008
Tomra Systems ASA

Attached please find the report and presentation for 1lst gquarter
2008. A live broadcast of the presentation is available on
WwW.tomea.com (investor relation page} and on
www.0slobors.no/webcast. A record of the broadcast will be available
as socn a5 the live broadcast has ended.
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TOMRA FIRST QUARTER 2008

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIALS

Revenues in the first quarter 2008 amounted
to 791 MNOK compared to 794 MNOK in first
guarter last year. Adjusted for currency change
organic revenue growth was 8%.

Gross margin equaled 39% in thé quarter, up
from 36% in the corresponding period last
year. The increase was malnly driven by
improvements in Collection Technology -
Deposit, and Non-Deposit.

Operating profit for the quarter was 83 MNQK
versus 73 MNOK in the first quarter 2007,

Adjusted for currency change operating profit
grew by 20% compared to first quarter 2007.

Cashflow from operations in first quarter 2008
equaled 22 MNOK, compared to 30 MNOK in
first quarter 2007. ’

During first quarter 2008 a net of 390,324 own ~
-shares were purchased. Net interestbearing
debt was 259 MNOK at the end of first quarter
2008, up from 226 MNOK at the end of fourth
quaiter 2007.

SEGMENT REPORTING

Collection Technology
- DgpositA Solutions

Revenue in the segment equaled 372 MNOK in
the first quarter, flat from first quarter last
year. Gross margin improvement continued
and was 47%, up from 43% in first quarter
last year. The increase in operating expenses
of 10% is driven by the effort of bringing new
products to the market faster. Operating profit
increased from 57 MNOK in first quarter 2007
to 60 MNOK in first quarter 2008,

Figures in NOK million 108 1907
Revenues 372 - © 372
- Nordic 158 i1
- Central Europe 150 i82
- US East & Canada &4 79
Gross contribution 173 160
-in % ’ : . 47% 43%
Operating expenses - 113 103
Operating profit 60 57
-in% 16% 15%

Europe

The strong performance in the Nordic countries
continued, with a revenue growth of 42%
compared to first quarter 2007. The growth
rate in the Nordic region is expected to
decrease going in the future when compared to
the strong performances‘in second, third and
fourth quarters of 2007. This is due to sales in
Finland gradually returning to business as
usual because the implementation of deposit
on ocne-way containers is in its final stages.
Test installations with Panto (lottery) in
Norway commenced in several stores during
April. -

In Germany, TOMRA maintained its market
share of more than 70% of new machine
installations. Service revenue continued to
grow as more machines are coming out of the
two year warranty period. Machine reliability
and perfarmance appear to be good and
contribute to improved financial performance
in the service operation. TOMRA is well
positioned to continue to grow its German

. business, which already consists of more than

17.000 installations.

Last year's strong growth in the other West
European markets siowed down, mainly due to
uncertainty around a possible expansion of
Dutch deposit {egislation to include small
bottles. On the other hand, there are signs of
increased activity in the East European
countries.

US East & Canada

Revenue in the quarter was down 19% from
79 MNOK last year to 64 MNOK this year.
Measured in local currency revenues were
down 4%; mainly due to lower volumes. In
recent months we have seen an increased
activity leve! on the legislative arena, which in
due course could result in opportunities for
increased machine sales in new markets.

. However, history has shown that such

processes take time..

Materials Handling

Revenues in the first quarter were down by
18% versus first quarter last year, of which
14 percentage points were due to currency
change. Gross margin decreased from 17%
last year to 15% this year. Operating profit
decreased from 13 MNOK last year to 6 MNOK
this year, mainly due to operational reasons in
California. '

Page 2




Figures in NOK miltion 108 1407 |-

Revenues 199 243
- US East & Canada 91 108
- US West ) - 108 135

Gross contribution 31 42
-in % 15% " 1%

Operating expenses 25 29

Operating profit 6 13
-in % 3% 5%

US East & Canada

Revenues were down 1% from 17.3 MUSD in
first guarter 2007 to 17.1 MUSD in first quarter
2008. Volumes were down 2 percent, but this
was offset by higher prices. Increased costs
associated with higher fuel prices were offset
by efficiencies in other areas.

US West

" The California operation was impacted
negatively by several factors during the
quarter. Some factors are of an one-time
nature, while others may be more sustained.

The commodity market was, compared to last
year, weak in January and February when
TOMRA sold aluminum on the spot market.
This gave a loss of more than 2 MNOK
compared to last year's resuit, By March the
commaodity market sharply improved and 2008
aluminum volumes are now secured at the
same price level as In 2007.
The first quarter of 2008 also saw a slight .
change in material mix, with more low margin
"materials such as PET and glass impacting
revenue negatively.

- The unfavorable price and mix impact in the
guarter was partially offset by 20% higher PET
prices versus last year.

Increased fuel prices had an unfavorable
impact as diesel prices increased by 30%
relative to first quarter 2007. Cost efficiency
programs, such as instaliment of Orwak
compactors at collection sites, were initiated to
reduce costs. '

As the first quarter is the low season in this
business area, it is difficult to predict the full
year effect of the above mentioned operational
factors. Actions tc address the operational
challenges have been taken.

TOMRA maintains its growth ambitions in this
market and plans to increase its site counts
and thereby volumes substantially.

=L~ Usuos

Industrial Processing Technology

First guarter 2008 showed a year on year
revenue growth of 20%. Revenue growth was
driven by solid performance in all companies. A
gross margin of above 50% and a revenue
growth of 20% reflect a strong market
position. Operating profit increased from 31
MNOK last year to 37 MNOK this year. A salid
order-book indicates continued strong growth
going forward.

)

Figures in NOK miltion 1q08 1q07
Revenues ’ 195 163
- Nordic 19 21
- Central Europe & UK 28 68
- Rest of Europe 27 42
- US East & Canada 9 10
- U5 West
- Rest of World 37 22
Gross contribution a8 . B4
-in% 50% 52%
Operating expenses 61 53
Qperating profit 37 31
-in % ' 199% 19%

Recoqnition & sorting platform

The strong demand for TiTech scanners
continued. Investment in R&D and marketing
resources also continued and was more than
compensated financially by the increase in -
sales at a stable gross margin. Mining and food
industry will get more focus.

Volume reduction platform

Orwak had an organic revenue growth of 21%
in the quarter compared to 2007. The gross

" margin was stable and since there was only a

modest increase in operating expenses, the
operating profit is now above 10%. The
improvements reflect the effort of the current
management team, .

Presona also experienced a strong quarter with
organic revenue growth of 52%, improved
gross margin and a decrease in operating
expenses. The company delivered a positive
net operating result.

Collection Technology
- Non-Deposit Solutions

Revenues in the first quarter amounted to 25
MNOCK, mainly coming from the installation of
15 ARCs at Tesco. Through continued efforts to
optimize technology and cost, the business
area now shows a gross margin of 20%
compared with negative margins for the last
two years. Operating expenses were 21 MNOK,

Page 3




hence continued significant investments in percent of the shares were held by Norwegian

non-deposit opportunities. In addition to ARC residents at the end-of first quarter 2008,

technology, thgse included smaller machines )

and solutions for different markets. TOMRA's share price remained unchanged at

NOK 38.50 during first quarter 2008. The

Figures in NOK million 1qo8 107 + . number of shares traded at the Oslo Stock

Revenues 25 16 Exchange in the period was 71 million shares
- Central Europe & UK 24 15 compared to 116 million in the same period in
- Rest of World 1 1 2007,

Gross contribution 5 (3)
-in% . 20% ‘ -

Cperating expenses 21 21 Asker, 23 April 2008

Operating profit (16) (24)

In the UK TOMRA has now instatled 45 ARCs The Board of Directors

and a modification and upgrade of all centers is TOMRA SYSTEMS ASA
taking place. The aim is to increase storage ) '

capacity and reduce logistical cost. After

reviewing the effect of the modifications, Tesco Jan Chr. Opsahl

will define the timeplan of the rollout, Chairman of the Board

In Japan, the target of 100 RVM installations
by the end of the fiscal year, ending this
quarter, was achieved. The cooperation with
Sumitomo is working very well and Is likely to
be further formalized shortly.

TOMRA and representatives of Waste
Management Inc. continued discussions with
several US retailers, beverage companies and
consumer goods companies. The goal is to find
operational and financial models where all
participants benefit from building -new
collection infrastructure based on TOMRA
technology. In addition to the previously
ordered 16 ARCs, commercial orders have
been received for traditional RVMs modified for
usage in non-deposit environments.
Commercial test installations have already
started.

Previously announced orders for kiosk
solutions in Bulgaria and Italy will start to be
installed during second quarter.

SHARES AND SHAREHOLDERS

The total number of issued shares at the end

of first quarter 2008 was 164,650,217 shares,
including 9,670,139 treasury shares. The

Board will ask for a cancellation of the treasury -
shares at the Annual General Meeting today,
and at the same time ask for a new
authorisation to acquire up to a further
15,000,000 treasury shares. .

The total number of shareholders decreased
from 9,990 at the end of fourth quarter 2007
to 9,394 at the end of first quarter 2008. 51

Amund Skarholt
President & CEQ

Page 4
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(Figures in NOK million) 2008 2007 2007
Operating revenues 790.7 793.9 3489.5
Cost of goods sold 467.1 492.7 2135.9
Depreciations/write-down 16.2 18.2 71.9
Gross contribution 307.4 283.0 1281.7
Operating expenses 203.9 189.1 747.5
Depreciations/write-down 20.3 21.3 89.1
Operating profit 83.2 72.6 4451
Net financial income (3.9) (2.5} (2.8)
Profit before taxes 79.3 70.1 442.3
Taxes 26.6 23.8 150.6
Net profit for the period 52.7 46.3 291.7
Minority interest (1.2) (17.5) (12.1)
Earnings per share (NOK) 0.33 0.27 1.76
BALANCE SHEET 31 March 31 Dec
(Figures in NOK mitlion) 2008 2007 2007
ASSETS .
Intangible assets 696.3 764.0 701.8
Leasirg equipment 75.6 105.9 80.1
Other fixed assets 530.5 621.4 565.8
Inventory 519.1 510.8 529.1
Short-term receivables 845.4 903.5 884.6
Cash and cash equivalents 101.2 47.6 150.8
TOTAL ASSETS 2768.1 2953.2 29522
LIABILITIES & EQUITY .
Paid-in capital 1573.3 1580.0 1573.7
Retained earnings 22.2 269.4 50.1
Minority interests 52.9 64.1 56.3
Deferred taxes 243 20.6 30.3
Long-term interest-bearing liabilities 342.0 237.1 410.1
Short-term interest-bearing liabilities 18.6 43.0 7.1
Other liabilities 734.8 739.0 824.6
TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 2768.1 2953.2 2952.2
CASH FLOW STATEMENT . 1% Quarter Full year
(Figures in NOK million) 2008 . 2007 2007
Profit before taxes . 79.3 70.1 442.3
Changes in working capital {(27.4) (5?.5) 8.8
Other operating changes (30.1) 17.5 75.0
Total cash flow from operations 21.8 30.1 526.1
Totat cash flow from investments {36.6) (32.3) {142.9)
Net cashflow from repurchase of shares (15.6) {125.9) {401.2)
Dividend paid out - - (64.7)
Other cashflow from financing (54.9) {105.4) 4.4
Total cash flow from financing _ (70.5) {231.3) {461.5)
Total cash flow for period (85.3) (233.5) (78.3)
Exchange rate effect on cash (4.3) (5.3) (17.3)
Opening cash balance 190.8 2B86.4 286.4
Closing cash balance 101.2 47.6 190.8

Page 5




EQUITY " 1% Quarter Full year
(Figures in NOK mitfion) 2008 2007 2007
Opening balance 1623.8 1971.6 1971.6
Net profit 51.5 44.8 279.6
Translation difference (64.2) (41.1) {161.5)
Dividend paid - - (64.7)
Net purchase of own shares (15.6) (125.9) {401.2)
Closing balance 1595.5 1849.4 1623.8
INTERIM RESULTS 1* Quarter | 4" Quarter | 3" Quarter | 2" Quarter | 1* Quarter
(Figures in NOK milfion) 2008 2007 2007, 2007 2007
Operating revenues (MNOK) 790.7 947.2 861.3 887.1 793.9
EBITDA (MNOK) 119.7 1725 170.9 150.6 112.1
Operating profit (MNOK) 83.2 - 131.1 130.3 111.1 726
Sales growth (year-on-year) (%) (0.4) {10.1) (19.4) (13.1) (3.5)
Gross margin (%) : 38.9 37.1 37.8 36.2 356
Operating margin t%) ) 10.5 13.8 15.1 12.5 9.1
EPS (NOK) _ 0.33 0.58 0.49 042 0.27
EPS {NOK) fully diiuted 0.33 0.58 0.49 0.42 0.27

NOTES:

The 2008 and 2007 financial figures have been prepared and presented based upon International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS). This quarterly report has been prepared in accordance with IAS34, and in accordance with the principles used in the
annual accounts for 2007. The quarterly figures do not however include all information required for a full annual financial
statement of the Group and should be read in conjunction with the annual financial statement for 2007, The quarterly figures have
not been audited. The quarterly reports require management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may
differ form these estimates. The significant judgments made by management in preparing these condensed consolidated interim
financial statements in applying the Group’s accounting policies and the key sources of estimation uncertainty were the same as
thase that applied to the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ending 31 December 2007.

Revenue recognition: Revenues from sales and sales-type leases of the company’s products are generally recognized at the time of
instaliation. Revenues from service contracts and operating leases of the company's products are recognized over the duration of
the related agreements. Qther service revenues are recognized when services are provided.

Use of financial instruments: The Group does not apply hedge accounting in accordance with 1A539 on any contracts as of 31
March 2008. .

Seasonality: The Material Handling operations, and to some extent the US Collection Technology operations, are influenced by
seasonality. The seasonality mirrors the beverage consumption pattern in the US, which normally is higher during the summer (20
and 3Q) than during the winter (1Q and 4Q).

fFinancial exposures: TOMRA is exposed to currency risk, as only ~3% of its income is nominated in NOK. A strengthening/
weakening of NOK toward other currencies of 10% would normally decrease/increase operating profit with 15-25%.

Commodity exposures: TOMRA are exposed to the change in commaodity prices, Most important are aluminum, where a USD100
change in the LME will have an USD 800,000 to 1,000,000 effect on operating profit per year,

Segment reporting: TOMRA has divided its primary reporting format inte four business segments: Collection Technology - Deposit

Solutions, Material Handling, Industrial Processing Technology and Collection Technology - Non-Deposit Solutions. In addition, the

corporate overhead costs are reported in a separate column. The split is based upon the risk- and return profile of the Group's

different activities; also taking into consideration TOMRA's internai reporting structure.

» Collection Technology - Deposit Sclutions consists of the sale, lease and servicing of RVMs to retail stores in Europe and North
America plus related data management systems, which monitor container collection volumes and related cash flows.

» Material Handiing consists of pick-up, transportation and processing of empty beverage containers on behalf of beverage
producers/fillers on the US East Coast and in Canada. In addition, this segment includes the collection activities in California,

. where TOMRA owns and operates a number of collection centers outside retail stores.

+ _ Industrial Processing Technology censists of TiTech Visionsort and CommoDa$S, which provide advariced optical sorting
systems, and Orwak Group, a leading provider of compaction solutions for recyclables such as cardboard, paper and plastic.

+ Collection Technology - Non-Deposit Solutions consist of general business development activities and projects in e.g. Japan
-and UK. The segment includes activities related to the Automated Recycling Center {(ARC), a fully automated low cost recycling
center for non-deposit markets.

» Group Functions consist of costs related to corporate functions at TOMRA's headquarters.

Assets and liabilities are distributed on the different business segments, except for ¢ash, interest-bearing debt and tax-paositions,

which are allocated to Group Functions. There are no material segment revenues from transactions with other segments.

Page 6
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Helping the world recycle

First Quarter 2008

23 April 2008

TOMIRA

Helplng the world recycle

Finaricial Highlights - Profii: and loss statement-

Figures in NOK millian N ?:t i1Q 2008 1Q 2007

Revenues - i ‘*‘329.1:‘,“:'.'!;&‘,? . 794

* Collection Technology, Deposit Solutions ; e 372

+ Material Handling ' ' 243

* Industrial Processing Technology 163

* Collection Technology, Non-Deposit Solutions 16

Gross contribution 283

Gross margin 36%

Operating expenses 210

Operating profit ' 73

Operating margin I j"__-I.'9°/ol‘_0
ST
Rz o
e et o

vy n—

-
'
o
-y 243 e 2
=M T E,_‘:i
W0 ‘
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rinancial nighlignts - balance sneeg, casi 1 R BT Bowy vch
and capital structure UNRA S'YSTEMSW ASA

082 - 03334
Figures in NOK million “31'March-| 31 March - - ;
S 1
-~ 2008 - 2007 " .
AL T i * Cash flow from operations {
ASSETS 2,953 « 22 MNOK in,1Q 2008 E
30 MNOK in 1Q 2007 |
¢ Intangible assets 764 N ;
+ Cash flow from finance X T
* Leasing equipment 106 v 15 MNOK'spent on share buy- ;
s Other fixed assets 621 backs in 1Q 2008 {
' » 10.0 million shares boughtand |
* Inventory 511 0.3 million shares sold under
. A current program obtained in
* Short-term receivables 903 December 2006. To be cancelled |
s Cash and cash equivalents 48 ggggnu?l general meeting in
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY" 2,953 +« The Board- propose a d|v|dend of
. | NOK 0.45/share + a new 15 !
* Equity 1,849 million share buy back program
s Interestbearing liabilities 280 l — - — = !
« Non-interestbearing liabilities 824 ' 3

Collection Technolog;)} -,
Deposit Solutions ~




r Collection Technology - Deposit Solutions TOMRA sykﬁﬁ@@ﬁ

Financials 082 - 03334
Figures in NOK million - 1Q 2007
Revenues 372
* Nordic 111
s Central Europe & UK 182
« US East/Canada 79
.Gross contribution 160
in % 43%
Operating expenses 103
Operating profit 57
in % 15%

TOMIRA

Highlights Collection Technology - Deposit g o et

Overall

* Gross margin improvement from 43% 1Q 2007 to 47% 1Q 2008

* Increase in operating expenses reflects ambition to bring new products faster to the
market

S |

Europe

* Strong revenue growth in Nordic, will decrease 2nd half due to strong Finnish
performance 2" half 2007 S

* Test installation of Panto'(lottery) in Norway during Apr'it

| * Awarded more than 70% of new machine installatioris in Germany with solid product
] performance

* Growth in Western European countries slowing down, while activities and contracts.in |
Eastern Europe increase

us

* Revenue measured in NOK irhpacted negatively by 15% currency effect
* Increased activities within the legislative arena on state level with “recycling” as theme
- . " \ . R . t




Materials Handling

Y kA A
(1A s SHapigine st recycls
ik} Haletig NE ] recyc

gy

Materials Handling - Financials TOMESA

Figures in NOK million '1Q 2008 1Q 2007

Revenues ) lf19§" 243

* US East/Canada "--Igi . 108

* US West (California) ' 10? ‘ 135

Gross contribution §1 ‘. 42

in % 15%. 17%

Operating expenses 25 - - 29

Operating profit ] 6 13

in % 3% . 5%

¢ Currency impact

g « Minus 15% in first quarter 2008
compared to first quarter 2007

i - - -

o s e dpmn e s m— -y



r Materials Handling - Financials B2 - D358 the wori recrte

Figures in million US$ | T 1Q ‘2003, T 1Q 2007
Revenues | g 39.0
» US East/Canada 1‘7.3
* US West (California} 21.7
Gross contribution 6.7
In % 17%
Operating expenses 4.6
Operating profit 2.1
in % 5%

Highlights Materials Handling . | TOMRA

US East/ Canada

* Revenues down 1% from 17.3 MUSD to 17. 1 MUSD
* Activities ongoing to transfer fue! increased cost to our customers

s

us West (California) ) [

. Revenues down 6%, main reasons being aluminum prices and material mix in . ‘
| Jan/Feb (2-3 MNOK effect) ' :

* Ambition to increase number of collection sites with 15% in 2008. : '

* Taken advantage of strong commodity prices in March and secured 2008 i
aluminum volumes at 2007 price levels

* Several operational actions taken to compensate fuel cost increase and improve.
efficiency .




Helping the world recycte

Industrial Processmg
Technology

(©) TiTecH

TiTech Group

Q1 presentation '
Rune Marthinussen
| : April 2008

-r'—'—-—r-—-———-----——-—-—-—---—-r-,;r————
Innavatmn in Material, Sorting -



" TiTech started . (1996)
- as project in A
. _Elopak (1990) S

TUMINA SYSTEMS ASA

Companies in TiTech Group | | 082 - 03334

Vision: The leading provider of sensor based material sorting systéms '

(o) TiTecH | J commodas|| @QVision
| Industry >/ RECYCLING ° MINING FOOD
Shar,e of ™ ~90% | ~ Q0 : ~1°/ol

revenue .

T Plastics, paper, A Minerals, gems, Fish, meat - dairy
Material : metals etc. coal, metal slag and poultry potentiall
- - etc.

TN Material recovery _
' facilities, scrap - Mining companies Food manufacturers
dealers, metal ‘
shredder operators

Customers

Note: Commaodas is

mining only 150 employees in 9 countries : ‘13

() TiTeCH
TiTech Group history
| " commodas
Revenue Mining separate

company {2008} '

L 385
' CommoDa$s '
. GmbH acquired
(2006)

eal Vician QVIS!OI’I AS .
.. Real Vislon  founded (2005)
" AS established 3 Systems GmbH - VTS

esiablishe i acqmred (2002) ‘_ R

' Titech Visionsort

N ' 4 i 5" TiTech Visionsort AS
~ I & T ' acquired by Tomra
' ASA (2004)

,\gc_& ,\9‘5‘ \99% \gqu quQ "LQG\ qu'l ’].de 193& ‘LQQ‘D (LQQQ) ‘_LQQ'\ ’i,QQ%




PRTHRNA O I EIY AoR
082 - 03334
The sorting principle

From waste to money: A wide range of high-tech sensors are utilised
to identify material on a conveyor belt and sort it out by air jets

Metal Sensor B~ TITECH FINDER '; Sortmg of metal vs,.non- metal
SRR . e x : h and stainiess stee1 vs. other Nfe-
|| metals '

E X-Ray (a'tomic den-sity)' TITECH X-TRACT Sortlng of alummum from heavy
‘ metals

fC_'(_)IQ_AUf.\CCD'Camer‘a oL ) TITECH COMBISENSE Sortlng of metals or cqrcmt boards
o - ‘ N o ot ' by colour g

{ -
)
i

Near ]nfrared (NIR)

TITECH POLYSORT Sortlng of polymers and Fber
| (paper/wood)

fe TITECH COLOURSORT | il Sorting of polymets by colour,
_ - paper by grzfdes

4

t

TITECH POLYSORT Sortlng of spec:al objects, e g.
+ silicon cartridges

.' Image
i




PRAaviinm O T 1 CaMiy A

Substantial R&D efforts to sustain the competitive

edge

2008 - C 2009 2010 2011

1 [l ] !
1 g L T L

*  Higher resolution
*  New metal sensor
¢ (Cost savings

*  Spectral imaging

an b
ek
3
T
=%, s
g
o
o
o

I

i T R T e X-Ray

| 1Pevelop gur. current technology "= Thermal Imaging
i.and.sorting capabilities -
HO!‘IQQ»% . o - ‘ . Elemental‘spectroscopy
“Long term projects” < (S, XR)
i Develop Breakthrough, applications” - *."- Long-term segments
R TS R T AR R S T N A T ST U .

/ C (Rl

() TiTecH

Installed base

More than 1700%* units in 35 countries

Only Recycting
systems in
operation

* I o'y Mining
systems in
cperation

Both
Recycling and
Mining
systems in
operation

*Recycling: ~1650 machines
Mining: ~90 machines ¥
Food: ~ 7 machines

2 G TN ) SN
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Global sales and service network

TITech Group
presence

Agents and
distributors -
presence

Service: HQ in Germany, 35 people in total, ~ _ﬂi
_1-2 per subsidiary, increasingly global ¢

‘ | © TiTecH
| Significant untapped potential in Recycling

Waste generation Western Europe QOTiTech GroLup today
Miliion tons (INustrative}

Household waste | TR T |

Commercial waste R 1 ® |ow potential for

Shredded scrap optical sorting in
' some waste streams
Paper (from households)
Paper (other) ] .
* Not all tonnage is
(8D waste I relevant for optical
Butky waste sorting
Glass .
E-scrap * Incineration is the

main alternative for

Biological waste (other} material recycling

Biological waste (from households)

[ 1]

Packaging waste 1]
[ ]
n

Paper milll rejects
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| 082 - 03334
Mining - Applications and technology
Fuel/ ' Industrial Precious ' Base G Metal slag
ems
Energy minerals metals metals and dumps
o . E—— A o e
[ - Coal 1 1+ Limestone * + Gold » Iron ore - Diamonds . Stalnless-l
e meed | Quarts i Platinum - Copper * Other steef
Commodity‘ . Fe]dspar + Zink coloured _:_C-OEE—E-F«-'-I
+ Calzlte « Nickel . [_gg‘rES_toEJ
. « Magnesite’ » Wolfram j
- Talcuin -
________________ X-Ray X-Ray
Technology X-Ray Colour . Colour Colour Colour Colour

q commodas (©) TiTecH
Mining - Key regions

* ~30.000 operating mines world-\)ﬁide

* Currently niche applications Europe (HQ in Hamburg)

. .Signifi¢ant Iohg-t_grm potential - Sales agreement with Mogensen
' - 46 installations .

Russia
- Served from HQ
- 2 installations

Canada/US
- Subsidiary in Toronto

- 3 installations
1

"South America
- Served from HQ
- 2 installations

South Africa ‘j
- Subsidiary in Johannesburg
- 14 in;tallatlons
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QVision - Using core technology in the food industry

e Seven scanners in five

- Salted fish

Salmon fillets

Minced meat

Sliced pork meat

Crabs

* Measurements made
- Water

Fat content

Colour

Pigment content

Meat index

different

applications in operation

" e Unique technology, proven value
propositions, large quantities

dmm‘k ‘%’;r Hpfa' “-: ik ¥ ‘51 o1

-) PROMISING- MARKET WITH
w i .‘:'ilZGNZEFICAI"«I'I'»POTENTIALI )
@'39&”&’ [ T ke e e

Growth drivers

(v) TiTECH

(v TiTecH

q commodas .CJV|510n

Positive
macro
trends

New
appllcations

@ Stricter legislation
® Higher landfill costs

® High recyclables
prices

@ Penetrate new

¢ High mineral prices

® |ower grade mines
established ®

& Capitalize on strong ®
value propositions

Food quality
Traceability

Capitalize on
strong value

_____________________ segments o eeeee-._.._.Dropesitions
New ¢ FEastern Europe, China, ® Get presence in all @ Focuson
markets India - timing major mining areas home market
New ® New product portfolio, ® Increase capacity ® Point
technology new sensors measurement
More & Sell more service ® Seil more service e Sell service
service contracts contracts contracts from
the beginning
Orgamc growth Slgmflcant ‘growth-expected- - -
Acqu:s;trons. Attractlve opportumtles WI|| be pursued 24




Industrial Processing Technology T o the et e
- Financials '

Figures in NOK miltion 1Q 2007
Revenues 163
* Nordic 21
* Central Europe & UK 68 .
* Rest of Eu'_rope 42

¢ JS/Canada 10
s LS West -

¢ Rest of World 22
Gross contribution 84
in % 529
Operating expenses 53
Operating profit ‘ ) 31
in % ; o 19%

25

- Industrial Processing Technology TQMM
- Order book | '

NOX million

180
160 : _

140 —]"
120

100

T .

s e LT R T
T

!t
&
M.

4

1

1Q04 2Q04 3Q04 4Q04 1Q05 2Q05 3Q05 4Q05 1Q06 2Q06 3Q06 4Q06 1Q07 2Q07 3Q07 4Q07 1Q08

26
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r Highlights Industrial Processing Technology 082 - 0358 mwieax:

L § o o e ke Ar e s mnnins e mmp— e ——— e B R ———————e

Recognition & sorting (Titech Group) ,

* Strong demand in recycling applications continues

* Continue to build organisation for sustainable future growth

* Increased focus on mining & food applications .
* Solid order book by end of 1Q

Volume reduction (Orwak & Presona)

¢ Orwak with 21% orgamc revenue growth compared to 1Q last year and passed
10% operating margin

i
f
|
i
|
i
~* Qrganic revenue growth of 52%, improved gross margin and reduced operatmg |
. expenses give positive net operating profit in the quarter I
{
i
;
I




. JUNINA O T Al dson
Collection Technology Non-deposit Solutions 282-03334
- Financials

Figures In NOK million 1Q 2007
Revenues - 16

» Central Europe & UK 15

* Rest of World 1
Gross contribution (3)

in % -
Operating expenses 21
Operating pfofit' (24)
in % -

29

Highlights Collection Technology - Non-deposit TOMIRA

Helptng Lhw world recyche

Solutions ‘

Overall i

* First quarter ever with positive gross contribution
* Continued high operating cost to invest in potential future growth

UK
* 45 ARC installed at the end of first quarter : : '

* Modification and upgrade of centers.currently taking place to increase capacity and
reduce logistical costs ;

us T
bt In addition to Waste Management Inc's previously ordered 16 ARCs, traditional
RVMs to be placed in non-deposit environments

Rest of Europe
* Installation of previous announced orders in Bulgaria and Italy to start in 2Q

30
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r‘f’f*‘;"gm GREEN'

81"

I 39_75" J

Waste Management and TOMRA ambition TOMRA
in US selected market

Centers :

* Deployed at high-traffic retail locations
(top 1-2 retailers in. each markets)

¢ Form infrastructure backbone, generate
significant recycling volumes and provide
platform for green brand '

e

Kiosks i S

* Deployed at supermarkets, malls, public
parks, sports arenas etc.

» Complement infrastructure (away from
home consumption) and provide bljanding
epportunities at high-visibility locations

Single units 1

|
» Deployed at vending locations, convenience'

stores, gas stations, theatres, office l
buildings etc. i

* Complement the infrastructure, build
awareness around brand'’s green image and
stimulates consumer behavior

1 Acceptance from stakeholders and
- consumers will decide growth rate L 32
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r 1Q Summary | g2 - mﬁﬁwﬂ

s Continued strong momentum in Collectlon Technology Deposit wuth
improved margins

e Weak Jan/Feb start in Materials Handling on the year. 2Q will indicate
potential slower growth pace and impact from actions taken

* Strong revenue and EBIT growth in IPT with solid order backlog into 2Q

* Technology and solutions proven', still a matter of what it takes to develop
the markets in non-deposit :

2

Adjusted for currency fluctuations organic revenue growth of 8% and
EBIT growth of 20%

Supports long term growth ambitions of >10% organic revenue growth
and 15 - 25% EBIT growth, adjusted for currency effects in 2008

33

MIRA

g H|ping the world recycle

Addendum slides
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r Addendum slide - Major shareholders

—— A e

1 orkla ASA 23953000 14,5%
2 Folketrygdfondet - ' - 13 037 900 7.9% :
3 Tomra s;ystem's ASA , ' 9 670 139 5.9%
, 4 ) Thé No&hern Trust C Treaty Account 8 7-58 831 5;3°/o !

5 State Street Bank AN A/C Client Omnibus D o 8 733 669 ' ‘5.3%
6 Clearstream Banking CID Dept, Frankfurt l 5413 130 3.3%
''7 © FERD AS P610AK ‘ 2 900 000 1.8% |
| 8 JP Morgan Chase Bank Clients Treaty Account | 2677822 16%)
l 9 Verdipapirfondet KLP : 2 400 000 1.5% .
! 10 Skagen Vekst . - | 2 057 500 1.2% |
: SUB-TOTAL ' 79 601 991 48.3% -
é Other shareholders 85 088 226 51.7% E
E _TOTAL (9,394 shareholders} . 164 690 217 100% ;’
"Total foreign ownership 75 197 311 45.7% $

| M

e - ey G

| | TOMRA
Addendum slide - Shareholders by nationality
1 Noway 54.3% 8 64%}
| 2 Great Britain ' 14.8% 81
i_ 3 Ush ' 9.5% 164 i
L4 Luxembourg: _ - '  51% 34
5 Sweden 3.0% ' 93"
: 6 Denmarl-;. . -2.4% 485
7 Italy ' 2.2% ‘ 18i
8 France ‘ E o o _Z‘i% ' ZZI
9 Finland ' 1.1% 21
'10  Ireland 0.